# University of Northern Colorado Scholarship & Creative Works @ Digital UNC

Dissertations

Student Research

5-2023

# An Exploration of the Pathway From Childhood Neglect to School Bullying Victimization

Natalie D. Johnson

Follow this and additional works at: https://digscholarship.unco.edu/dissertations

© 2022

# NATALIE D. JOHNSON

## ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

#### UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN COLORADO

Greeley, Colorado

The Graduate School

## AN EXPLORATION OF THE PATHWAY FROM CHILDHOOD NEGLECT TO SCHOOL BULLYING VICTIMIZATION

A Dissertation Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Natalie D. Johnson

College of Education and Behavioral Sciences Department of School Psychology

May 2023

This Dissertation by: Natalie D. Johnson

Entitled: An Exploration of the Pathway from Childhood Neglect to School Bullying Victimization

has been approved as meeting the requirement for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Education and Behavioral Sciences in the Department of School Psychology, Program of School Psychology.

Accepted by the Doctoral Committee

David Hulac, Ph.D., Research Advisor

Michelle Athanasiou, Ph.D., Committee Member

Eric Peterson, Ph.D., Committee Member

Marilyn Welsh, Ph.D., Faculty Representative

Date of Dissertation Defense: <u>10/28/2022</u>

Accepted by the Graduate School

Jeri-Anne Lyons, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School Associate Vice President for Research

#### ABSTRACT

# Johnson, Natalie D. *An exploration of the pathway from childhood neglect to school bullying victimization*. Published Doctor of Philosophy dissertation, University of Northern Colorado, 2023.

The objective of the current study was to explore the association between two widely prevalent sources of trauma occurring early in life, child neglect and bullying victimization (BV), via adult recollections of maltreatment experiences. One hundred and twenty participants, recruited from a mid-sized university in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States, were ultimately included in the sample. Of the total sample, 30 participants (25%) endorsed a history of moderate to severe neglect in childhood and 62 participants (52%) endorsed experiencing at least one form of BV in school.

Childhood maltreatment, including various forms of neglect and abuse, was measured by the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire and BV, including the frequency and severity of various forms of BV, was measured by a revised version of the Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire. A cross-sectional, correlational research design was implemented as participants were asked to complete a survey at one point in time.

*T*-test analyses reported those with a history of neglect to be significantly more likely to report general peer BV experiences than those who reported childhood non-maltreatment. Regression analyses identified physical neglect to be consistently significant in predicting the frequency and severity of physical BV only, while emotional neglect was significant in

iii

predicting the frequency and severity of verbal and indirect BV only. The presence of significant physical and emotional neglect predicted stable BV rates across primary and secondary school.

Implications for mental health professionals working in the schools largely cued the roles of preventative and remedial service delivery, consultation, and community resource outreach. Trauma-informed practices are at the center of service delivery for students who report current or prior childhood neglect. School psychologists are in a unique position to assist students with suspected or unknown histories of childhood neglect in building healthy relationships with others, regulating their emotions, bolstering their sense of self-worth, and ideally reducing the chances of maltreated students becoming revictimized by their peers.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation has been more difficult to surmount than any 14er I have summitted over the course of the past 7 years. 'Imposter Syndrome' set in early and often, however, I was able to overcome and bring about my greatest educational achievement through the support of many people whom I could never thank enough. Firstly, I would like to thank my advisor, committee chair, and mentor David Hulac, and my fellow committee members, Dr. Michelle Athanasiou, Dr. Eric Peterson, and Dr. Marilyn Welsh for their expertise and guidance through this grueling process. To Dr. Hulac, I thank you for your constant belief in me and for the endless knowledge you've instilled in me through multiple facets. To Drs. Welsh and Peterson, thank you for instilling the passion I held for studying childhood maltreatment through my work in your laboratory studies. To Dr. Athanasiou, thank you for being one of the first psychologists who really piqued my interest in school psychology and the program at UNC.

Secondly, there is absolutely no way I could have gotten to this point without the endless support of my family. To my dad and fellow UNC professor, Dr. Brian Johnson, you have been my greatest source of motivation over the course of my education. Your humor and 'gentle' pushes to the finish line have been paramount to my educational story. I couldn't be more proud to become the Dr. Johnson Jr. to your Dr. Johnson Sr. Equally as important, I would like to thank my mom, Dr. Laurie Berdahl. Although I wish I had inherited more of your relentless work ethic, I know that your constant words of encouragement, love, and comfort elicited every ounce of effort I had left to get through my defense. To my brother, Luke Johnson, thank you for never failing to help to provide the "reset" I needed over our holidays together. To Oliver Johnson, our

family dog, thank you for the not-so-cuddly cuddles and for bringing a smile to my face every time I stepped through my parents' door.

Finally, my journey wouldn't have been at all possible without the endless laughter and reassurance provided by my closest friends and fiancé (and soon-to-be husband), Brandon Busby. To my childhood best friends, you all have been my rock for over 15 years now, and each of you have helped me to push past my largest doubts in myself. To the friends I have made over the course of graduate school, thank you for making my time in the program more memorable and enjoyable than I could have ever imagined it to be. Lastly, a huge thank you to my wonderful fiancé, Brandon. We met halfway through my program, and without realizing it right away, you were the source of motivation I needed to see this through. You never stopped reminding me how intelligent and capable I was, and because of you, I was able to truly look forward to all of the life experiences that existed outside of my education. I can't wait to see what the future holds for Dr. Natalie Busby.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
Evidence Rese for Concurrent Childhood Maltractment and Pullying	
Victimization Desearch	2
Theoretical and Dehavioral Foundations	с С
Statement of Dumose	9 2
Descende Orestians	2
Research Questions	כ ₄
Limitations	4
Delimitations	6
CHAPTER II. LITERATURE REVIEW1	8
Introduction	8
Definitions of Childhood Maltreatment	9
General Consequences of Childhood Maltreatment	0
General Research Base on Childhood Neglect	1
Definitions of Bullying	7
General Correlates of Bullying Victimization	8
Physical Characteristics of Bullying Victims	0
What Is Known, and Not Known. About the Neglect to Bullying	Ŭ
Victimization Association 3	1
Evidence and Rationale for Frequency, Severity, and Stability Estimates in	•
Child Maltreatment and Bullying Victimization Research 3	5
Predicted Composition of Recruited Sample 4	1
Summary	3
Summary	5
CHAPTER III. METHODOLOGY	5
Purpose4	5
Participants4	5
Power Analyses	7
Instrumentation	7
Procedures	3
Research Design	5
Data Analyses	6

CHAPTER IV. RESULTS	70
Review of Purpose	70
Participants	71
Demographics	73
Reliability of Measures	75
Demographic and Dependent Variable Correlations	76
Results	77
Post-Hoc Analyses	86
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION	97
Contribution to the Literature and Key Findings	97
Implications	99
Discussion of Post-Hoc Analyses	103
Limitations of Study	104
Implications for Future Research	105
Implications for School Psychology Practice	105
Conclusion	109
REFERENCES	112
APPENDIX A. CHILDHOOD TRAUMA QUESTIONNAIRE (CTQ)	149
APPENDIX B. RETROSPECTIVE BULLYING QUESTIONNAIRE- REVISED	155
APPENDIX C. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	162
APPENDIX D. CONSENT FORM	165
APPENDIX E. DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		
1.	Maltreatment and Victimization History of the Total Sample	72
2.	Demographic Characteristics for the Total Sample	74
3.	Pearson Correlation Values of Demographic Variables and Dependent Variables Entered Into Research Questions 2-4	76
4.	Correlation Coefficients for Study Variables in Research Question 2	79
5.	Correlation Coefficients for Study Variables in Research Question 3	82

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		
1.	Interaction Between Related Theories	10
2.	Conceptualization of Research Questions	14
3.	Visual Representation of Research Question 1	59
4.	Visual Representation of Research Question 2	63
5.	Visual Representation of Research Question 3	66
6.	Visual Reproduction of Research Question 4	68
7.	Visual Reproduction of Updated Research Question 4 Analyses	85

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Physical safety and psychological security are foundations—the essential preconditions—for a child's health, education, and overall development. (Zinsmeister, 1990, p. 49)

Karl Zinsmeister (1990) succinctly captured the essence of human services work and emphasized the role of safety when working with children. Functioning in direct opposition to child safety are two widely prevalent sources of trauma occurring in primary and secondary student populations across the world: Childhood maltreatment and bullying victimization. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2008) defined child maltreatment as "any act or series of acts of commission or omission by a parent or other caregiver that results in harm, potential for harm, or threat of harm to a child" (p. 11). By commission, the authors referred to the physical, sexual, and psychological forms of abuse. Acts of omission included emotional, physical, medical, and educational neglect (CDC, 2008). Definitions of bullying, however, were more difficult for researchers to agree upon. A frequently used definition of bullying, conceptualized by Espelage and Swearer (2003), is described as verbal, physical, or social forms of aggression inflicted by an individual or group of individuals and directed against a child or adolescent who is not able to defend themselves. The definition of bullying also typically includes systematic, ongoing behaviors by peers who are aiming to gain some form of reinforcement such as power (Espelage & Swearer, 2003). Given that both experiences of child maltreatment and bullying victimization have a general onset in childhood, it is imperative that

professionals housed within the school setting are aware of their unique and overlapping presence.

In the United States, school psychologists are expected to strictly adhere to ethical guidelines delineated in the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP, 2010) *Principles for Professional Ethics*. Principle IV.1 stated the expectation that "school psychologists use their expertise in psychology and education to promote school, family, and community environments that are safe and healthy for children" (NASP, 2010, p. 12). Globally, school psychologists function to endorse the welfare of children (Jimerson et al., 2007) as they generally work closely with other professionals and help people understand the effects that children's experiences can have on their development (Woods et al., 2011). Given that student and client safety are of utmost importance to the profession, it is imperative that the field acknowledge and collaboratively address all possible sources of harm toward children and adolescents.

Hussey et al. (2006) estimated that as many as 30% of people within the United States have experienced some form of childhood maltreatment. Moreover, recent literature suggested the base rate of childhood maltreatment history among college students ranged from mid-20% to more than 40% (Bachrach & Read, 2012; Duncan, 2000; Elliott et al., 2009; Freyd et al., 2001; Gibb et al., 2009; Hussey et al., 2006; Jordan et al., 2014; Welsh et al., 2017). These percentages are likely to be underestimates, however, because many instances of maltreatment are likely to go unreported or unsubstantiated (Maples et al., 2014). This is especially true of child neglect, as the most severe cases tend to be reported while milder cases are more likely to go undetected. Even so, neglect has been the most frequent form of child maltreatment documented by childprotection agencies (Gilbert et al., 2009) with a rate of 60.8% of all child maltreatment investigations in 2018. This was in comparison with 10.7% who were physically abused and 7.0% who were sexually abused (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services [HHS], Administration for Children and Families [ACF], Administration on Children, Youth and Families [ACYF], Children's Bureau [CB], 2020).

Research data indicated an even larger proportion of students have been victimized by bullying while in grade school (Blitz & Lee, 2015; Holt et al., 2014; Sesar et al., 2012; Young-Jones et al., 2015) and prevalence further increased to peak levels during the middle school years (Bradshaw et al., 2007). With the alarming prevalence of these scourges and broad research correlating them with adverse mental and physical health outcomes, it is no surprise that maltreatment is closely associated with poor outcomes for youth (Maples et al., 2014). Thus, evidence supported that abuse, neglect, and bullying victimization are widespread, detrimental issues afflicting U.S. schools at all levels that need to be rectified to improve youth well-being.

#### Evidence Base for Concurrent Childhood Maltreatment and Bullying Victimization Research

Literature concerning childhood maltreatment and bullying predominantly developed independently and rarely crossed over with each another (Hong et al., 2012). Bullying victimization can be considered a form of child maltreatment with the only distinction being it mainly manifests within the school or peer-interaction circumstances. This is crucial as school is an influential environment where children spend a large amount of time outside of the home. Some authors even referred to bullying victimization events as "abuse" in the physical, verbal, relational, and/or sexual sense (e.g., Sesar et al., 2012). Given the large prevalence of home abuse and neglect, practitioners and school professionals must consider the educational setting as another context in which previously maltreated (i.e., abused and/or neglected) children and adolescents could be at great risk for re-victimization (Duncan, 1999; Dussich & Maekoya, 2007; Hong et al., 2012). The literature indicated that youth who endured experiences of victimization in multiple settings, such as at home and in school, were more likely to experience behavioral and mental health burdens compared to those who only reported victimization in one setting (Finkelhor et al., 2007; Mrug et al., 2008). Therefore, there was an inherent need to study the interaction between bullying at school and maltreatment at home (Hong et al., 2012) in order to inform preventive and remedial interventions and/or services in schools from the primary to collegiate level.

# The Cycle of Violence as Related to the Current Study

The cycle of violence, in its broadest sense, has been a leading theory in explaining why those who abused others often had a prior history of being abused themselves (Widom, 1989). However, there are many branches to examine within this expansive cycle as associations between different forms of child maltreatment and perpetration of future violence aid in understanding the specific mechanisms involved within the cycle of violence. As such, a substantial amount of research supported the pathway from childhood maltreatment to aggressive behavior and bullying perpetration (Bolger & Patterson, 2001a; Knutson et al., 2004; Ohene et al., 2006; Widom, 1989). In a large, cross-sectional study examining the relationship between physical abuse and bullying behaviors in 852 Japanese, South African, and American college students, a significant relationship between child physical abuse and physical peer bullying perpetration (i.e., beating and kicking) was reported (Dussich & Maekoya, 2007). Perry et al. (2001) determined that parental abuse was associated with higher frequencies of bullying perpetration and victimization for these children at school. It was not only a history child abuse that could be associated with peer bullying perpetration but neglect as well. Research determined

that a history of child neglect was a major precursor to problematic externalizing behaviors characterized by aggressive, destructive, assaultive, and antisocial actions (Maguire et al., 2015).

#### The Cycle of Victimization

The pathway from child maltreatment to bullying victimization, otherwise referred to as the cycle of victimization, was far less established in the literature. Widom et al. (2008) recognized that neglected children merited more scholarly attention and discussed findings that risk for re-victimization was substantial in this group of maltreated children. More specifically, very little was known about the direct correlation between neglect and peer victimization. Generally, some studies found victims of child abuse and neglect to be easier to target as they were more likely to display submissive, isolated, and/or socially withdrawn behaviors (Juvonen & Graham, 2014; Lereya et al., 2013; Widom, 2014). Furthermore, the literature suggested that different forms of maltreatment might be associated with different forms of bullying victimization in school and minimal existing research on this prospect made it a prime area of focus (Benedini et al., 2016). The current study added to the "cycle of victimization" knowledge base by examining the association of physical and emotional neglect with bullying victimization in primary and secondary schools.

An examination of the broad child maltreatment literature revealed that maltreated children (with far more evidence related to abuse than that of neglect) were at increased risk of becoming re-victimized by their peers in and/or outside of the school setting (Herrenkohl & Herrenkohl, 2009). Strikingly, a meta-analysis of bullying experiences conducted by Lereya et al. (2013) reported that of all parenting variables examined (authoritative parenting, parent-child communication, parental involvement/support, supervision, warmth/affection, child abuse/neglect, maladaptive parenting, and overprotection), a history of child maltreatment was

one of the two most significant predictors of peer victimization with an effect size of 0.31 across all studies. Furthermore, Day et al. (2013) cross-sectionally studied a sample of 112 incarcerated youth and found those with a history of physical abuse were significantly more likely than nonmaltreated (i.e., those with no history of abuse and/or neglect) youth to report a variety of bullying experiences (including peer victimization) prior to incarceration. In another crosssectional study examining 992 middle school students in the Midwest region of the United States (Espelage et al., 2012), those who fell victim to multiple forms of bullying in school were more likely to indicate a history of physical and sexual abuse than those who reported minimal peer victimization. Similarly, Shields et al. (2001) found that out of 169 maltreated and low-income children, physically and sexually abused youth were at heightened risk of bullying victimization. In one of the only studies to use prospective instead of retrospective data to examine the link between child maltreatment and bullying victimization in adolescence (together with Kim et al., 2009; Tyler & Johnson, 2006), Benedini et al. (2016) reported a significant relationship between child physical maltreatment and peer intimidation as well as a significant relationship between child physical and sexual abuse with later physical assault by peers.

#### Addressing Gaps in the Childhood Maltreatment and Bullying Victimization Literature

As just previewed, a link between broad childhood maltreatment and bullying victimization has been established. However, upon examination of the extensive child maltreatment literature, there was evidence that the area of child neglect has received less empirical (Dubowitz, 1999) and public attention than that of physical and sexual abuse (Polonko, 2006; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013) despite evidence of its equal—or even greater—long-term harm (Gilbert et al., 2009). A recent meta-analysis on the prevalence of neglect in research published between 1980 and 2008 (Stoltenborgh et al., 2013) found only 16 studies that reported data on physical neglect and 13 studies that reported data on emotional neglect. This was in stark contrast to the study of the prevalence of child sexual abuse as recent meta-analytic findings identified a total of 217 articles published within the same 28-year time frame (Stoltenborgh et al., 2011). This perceived lack of prioritizing neglect research within the overall maltreatment domain could be due to the highly comorbid nature of neglect with other forms of childhood abuse (Stoltenborgh et al., 2013) but it still represented an important gap in the literature.

Examination of the pathway from childhood abuse to bullying perpetration, victimization, or a combination of both has been well-documented (Bowes et al., 2009; Duke et al., 2010; Duncan, 1999; Lereya et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019). However, research on the relationship between school bullying experiences and childhood neglect specifically was far more limited (Wang et al., 2019). When investigating the broader association between child maltreatment and bullying experiences, studies have shown that children who were victims of more than one type of child maltreatment (e.g., physical abuse and emotional neglect) were at higher risk of school bullying in general (as a bully, victim, or bully-victim). Most of this research examined the sole role of childhood abuse on subsequent bullying (Duke et al., 2010; Vaughn et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2019) but shed little light on the role of neglect. Furthermore, the vast majority of studies examining effects of the co-occurrence of multiple forms of child maltreatment on bullying had not additionally examined links with different types of bullying experiences (Wang et al., 2019). In an attempt to understand how different forms of child abuse and neglect are associated with different forms of peer bullying, Wang et al.'s (2019) cross-sectional research utilizing over 5,760 school-age children in China reported childhood physical and emotional neglect were the

most significant predictors of displaying bullying behaviors, being victimized, or being a bullyvictim.

The limited number of child neglect-specific studies relative to the large body of child maltreatment literature was problematic, given the high prevalence of neglect and its significantly detrimental consequences on child development and future outcomes. Given that neglect has been reported to be the most frequent form of documented childhood maltreatment (Gilbert et al., 2009), this dearth of child neglect research was even more notable and concerning. Additionally, neglect has been shown to be the form of maltreatment most highly linked to early onset in the student's lives and continuing over time (Bolger & Patterson, 2001b). Studies on the global incidence of child physical and emotional neglect, based on self-reports, estimated they affected 16.3% and 18.4% of the world's population, respectively (Stoltenborgh et al., 2013). Child neglect was commonly examined comprehensively with other forms of child maltreatment including abuse and, therefore, was rarely the center of attention (Stoltenborgh et al., 2013). A plethora of recent research discussed in their limitations and future research sections (e.g., Augsburger et al., 2019; Gilbert et al., 2009; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013) the significant need for child maltreatment research to pivot its primarily focus onto effects of child neglect on outcomes.

At the current time, only two known studies (Shields et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2019) examined the separated role of childhood neglect (in concurrence with the role of abuse) on bullying victimization outcomes. Shields et al. (2001) found nonsignificant differences in neglected children compared to sexually abused, physically abused, and non-maltreated children when examining risk of being bullied by peers. Wang et al. (2019) reported significant relationships between physical and emotional neglect and increased risk of participation in each form of bullying (physical, verbal, relational, and cyber) as perpetrators, victims, and bullyvictims. While bullying perpetration and the dual experience of being a victim and perpetrator are common for youth across the globe, the present research focused on the victimization experience only. The current study is one of only three known studies to examine the neglectbullying victimization relationship specifically and uniquely aimed to explore which forms of bullying victimization were specifically associated with emotional and physical neglect.

#### **Theoretical and Behavioral Foundations**

Researchers have identified several theories to explain the link between child maltreatment and subsequent bullying perpetration/victimization. An abundance of research (e.g., Shields et al., 2001) supported the cycle of violence or the trajectory from child maltreatment to peer bullying perpetration. In relation to this association, attachment theory provided rationale for the interaction between violence at home and future violence toward peers at school. Developmental research deemed the parent-child relationship to be a key influence on a child's ability to develop positive peer relationships (Bolger & Patterson, 2001a; Parke & Ladd, 1992). Although studied far less frequently than abuse, there appeared to be an association between parental neglect and peer rejection as well (Bolger & Patterson, 2001a; Bolger et al., 1998; Chapple et al., 2005; De Paúl & Arruabarrena, 1995).

The cycle of victimization, which like the cycle of violence, could be supported by a variety of different theoretical orientations but was far less studied, especially in relation to childhood neglect. An interaction between a selection of related theories appeared to provide a solid foundation for expected outcomes of the current research (see Figure 1). Finkelhor et al. (2009) discussed poly-victimization, how children who are maltreated in various contexts and/or with different abusers, might experience an atypical developmental process. As such, an insecure

attachment style could result from neglectful family and parental circumstances, making these children more likely to be revictimized in the future (Perry et al., 2001). For instance, when children are raised in an environment characterized by child maltreatment and/or violence, they are more likely to become emotionally dysregulated within the school context (Shields et al., 2001). Emotional dysregulation could be conceptualized as the inability to recognize and modify emotional responses in a way that is appropriate to the current situation or context (Gratz & Roemer, 2004).

#### Figure 1

#### Interaction Between Related Theories



Evidence supported that neglected children's ability to detect and respond to others' emotional expressions was weakened (Pollak, 2008), and that neglected children generally displayed poor emotional regulation skills (Egeland et al., 1983; Kim & Cicchetti, 2010; Shipman et al., 2005). This difficulty could be attributed to fewer opportunities within the home environment to practice and observe healthy emotional regulation skills due to the absence of positive, supportive parent-child relationships (Cassady & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003; Zimmerman et al., 2001). Congruent with Cicchetti's (1993) organizational-transactional model of development, abuse and neglect that occurred during infancy and/or toddlerhood were associated with insecure parental attachment, which then increased the risk for problematic peer interactions and relationships along with other behavioral obstacles (Kim & Cicchetti, 2010).

Existing research upheld the connection between childhood maltreatment and an insecure parental attachment style (Egeland & Sroufe, 1981; Toth et al., 2000; Wilson et al., 2008) and that a link between insecure parental attachment styles and emotional dysregulation in abused and/or neglected children existed (Finzi-Dottan & Harel, 2014). While attachment style was an important component in the foundational structure for expected results in the current research, it was not a variable that was explored in the context of the current study. The factors of insecure attachment style and emotion regulation difficulties have been examined as mediators in the association between childhood abuse and neglect and subsequent risk behaviors (e.g., substance use; risky sexual behaviors, antisocial behaviors; Oshri et al., 2015), further bolstering their presence as foundational components in the cycle of victimization. Both attachment style and emotion regulation are theoretical links in the chain from childhood neglect to peer victimization, and they provide the model for what was expected to be found in the present research, although both were not explicitly examined in the current study.

Prior research recognized child neglect to be associated with stress (Glaser, 2000) and decreased emotional regulation skills in childhood (Egeland et al., 1983; Kim & Cicchetti, 2010; Shipman et al., 2005). This emotional dysregulation might manifest as specific behaviors within the school setting that lead abused and/or neglected students to experience higher rates of exclusion, targeting by bullies, difficulties making social connections, and lower quality peer relationships (Contreras & Kerns, 2000; Contreras et al., 2000; Finkelhor et al., 2009; Kerns et al., 2007; Kim & Cicchetti, 2010; Shields & Cicchetti, 2001; Shields et al., 2001; Trickett et al., 2011). Shields and Cicchetti (2001) specifically described how "emotional residues" persisting

from maltreatment at home contributed to emotional dysregulation, which could negatively influence social information processing and interactions with peers.

#### **Statement of Purpose**

The purpose of the present study was to add to the knowledge base for the cycle of victimization by retrospectively investigating the association of physical and emotional neglect with various forms and dimensions of bullying victimization in primary and secondary school. The current research was characterized as an exploratory study that aimed to understand the unique relationships existing between each form of neglect in the home and each type of bullying victimization in the school. Due to the high prevalence of child neglect globally and the toll both neglect and bullying could have on student populations, it was important to report findings on the association between the two to better help school psychologists, counselors, administrative personnel, and other school practitioners address unique concerns with these multi-victimized student populations in their schools before they graduate. Educational professionals are in a unique and ideal position to be able to observe students, identify those who might be most vulnerable in the school setting, and then make an effort to develop a rapport with these students so they might feel they have a trusted adult in the school in whom they could confide (Gilbert et al., 2009; King & Scott, 2014; McGarry & Buckley, 2013). Benedini et al. (2016) discussed the current interventions and curricula available to help identify and intervene with students with a history of maltreatment. Many interventions for neglected children involved outside support from social workers and private therapists and emphasize parent trainings to support positive parent-child interactions (Farmer & Lutman, 2012, p. 20-21). However, due to the paucity of research on how neglect specifically affected peer victimization in the school setting (Wang et al., 2019), it was difficult to inform specific efficacious methods of providing services within the

school setting to children known to experience neglect at home. It is imperative that services and support be provided at school for these students as only a portion of neglectful parents are likely to seek outside services or participate in parent-child therapy.

This exploratory study attempted to delineate the specific influence of neglect upon dimensions of various bullying experiences (see Figure 2 for an overall conceptualization of this research study). One overarching question asked was whether neglected children were more likely to be victims of bullying and if the perceived frequency and severity of physical, verbal, and/or indirect peer victimization was heightened in youth who experienced one form of neglect (e.g., physical or emotional) over the other. Efforts to locate studies that examined the perceived severity of each form of bullying victimization in persons who were neglected in childhood came up short at the time of this writing. With such data, the present research aimed to inform specific school-based or therapeutic interventions that function to prevent and disrupt the child maltreatment to bullying victimization pathway. Understanding the relationship between neglect and bullying victimization might help school-based and clinical psychologists feel better prepared to help neglected youth navigate the unique social challenges they might face during these formative years and to prevent re-victimization in the school setting.

#### **Research Questions**

Figure 2 provides a visualization of the overreaching child neglect and bullying victimization association that was explored in the present research. Research question 1 aimed to examine the broad relationship between child neglect and bullying victimization while research questions 2-4 specifically analyzed a unique dimension (i.e., frequency, severity, and chronicity) of each form of bullying victimization in relation to both physical and emotional neglect.

Specific research questions are listed below, and further detailed visualizations for each research question is referenced in the Data Analysis section of Chapter III (Methodology).

## Figure 2

Conceptualization of Research Questions



- Q1 Is there a significant difference in childhood bullying victimization rates between people with a history of childhood neglect and people with a history of childhood non-maltreatment?
- Q2 To what extent does neglect type (physical and emotional) predict the *frequency* of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect)?
- Q3 To what extent does neglect type (physical and emotional) predict the *severity* of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect)?
- Q4 To what extent does physical and emotional neglect predict the *stability* (e.g., consistency over time) of bullying victimization across primary and secondary levels of school?

#### Limitations

Several limitations need to be recognized in this study. The first limitation involved the data collected as it was self-reported data recounted in a retrospective fashion. Since retrospective methodologies rely on the self-report of former maltreatment and victimization experiences, a causal relationship cannot be identified and the reliability and validity of these autobiographical reports have been questioned over time (Schäfer et al., 2004). However, research supported that adult memories of maltreatment in childhood are highly salient for these individuals and there is no outstanding evidence that these memories are prone to being forgotten (Brewin et al., 1993; Eslea & Rees, 2001; Rivers, 2001). Brewin et al. (1993) reported overestimates in the lack of reliability of self-report data and that recollection of childhood events (particularly those that are emotionally charged) were especially reliable and stable. Rivers (2001) found retrospective data to exhibit reasonable test-retest reliability when recollecting bullying experiences in terms of chronicity and the specific types of bullying they experienced in specific locations.

Secondly, the survey was administered in an online format and participants (i.e., college undergraduate students) were able to take the survey at any time and in any location. This extinguished any experimental control over the survey-taking environment. Although participants were explicitly asked to take the survey in a private and quiet location, it remained impossible to know of any environmental factors that might have been present to influence responses within the survey. With this being said, Miller et al. (2002) provided support for the reliability and validity of self-reported data obtained via online self-administration methods and that the psychometric properties of electronic psychological measures were acceptable (Skinner & Pakula, 1986). As an additional note, it was determined that research participants reported

more comfortability in answering sensitive questions related to prior traumatic events in the online realm than they would have within a one-on-one interview format (Shapiro et al., 2013).

Another limitation involved the bullying victimization measure employed in the present study (the Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire; RBQ). Although widely utilized in the bullying literature base (Kritsotakis et al., 2017; Sesar et al., 2012), the RBQ does not report any explicit validity evidence nor that of internal consistency. For this reason, internal consistency data were provided from my sample. As the RBQ is the only retrospective measure available at this time to assess the bullying victimization variable in respondents over the age of 18 years, the lack of adequate psychometric evidence for this measure was a notable limitation.

Finally, in measuring the construct of childhood neglect, the many other stressful life experiences that commonly accompany experiences of neglect should also be considered. For instance, concurrent parental abuse, prenatal exposure to substances, domestic violence exposure in the home, poor nutrition, poverty, and compromised access to quality education are familiar confounders (De Bellis, 2005) when examining the link between neglect and bullying victimization experiences. Although efforts to control for poverty were undertaken via a demographic item related to each respondent's childhood socioeconomic status (SES), all of these other factors were inadequately controlled for in the present study. Future research should aim to make this a priority as it would strengthen the practical and scientific impact of the associations found in this research.

#### **Delimitations**

There was also a handful of delimitations to this research. Firstly, this study employed a cross-sectional methodology, making results susceptible to different biases. By collecting data at one point in time, significant relationships might hold less empirical and clinical value than if

they had been yielded by longitudinal research. As such, causal associations could not be established. Furthermore, the participants in this study were self-selected—they decided whether or not they wanted to participate in the study. This left the present study open to selection bias where participants might characteristically differ from those who chose not to participate in the study, leading to possible bias in the results (Pandis, 2014). This could increase the chance for non-generalizable results as respondents who participated might have found the description of the study to be more appealing than those who did not participate.

#### CHAPTER II

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Introduction

The ever-persisting phenomena of childhood maltreatment and bullying victimization present many deleterious outcomes that could linger well past school-age years. Neglect has been identified in the extant literature as being the most common (Gilbert et al., 2009) and the deadliest form of child maltreatment. Of the estimated 1,770 children to die of child maltreatment-related causes in the United States in 2018, 72.8% were neglected and 46.1% were physically abused (either solely or alongside another form of maltreatment; U.S. Department of HHS, ACF, ACYF, CB, 2020). Despite this frightening mortality rate, neglect confusingly remained far less studied (Dubowitz, 1999) and publicly attuned to (Polonko, 2006) than other types of maltreatment. Similar, damaging short and long-term consequences related to mental health, social functioning, and academic outcomes could be associated with peer victimization. A vast amount of research has been dedicated to the two pervasive literature bases of both maltreatment and bullying victimization in childhood; however, specific associations between emotional and physical neglect and each form of peer victimization (physical, verbal, and indirect/relational) have seen little to no empirical exploration. The present, exploratory study examined the relationships that exist between neglect and bullying victimization in a sample of undergraduate, adult college students in the Midwest region of the United States.

#### **Definitions of Childhood Maltreatment**

Four major classes of maltreatment are most commonly encountered by children. These classes encompass physical, sexual, and emotional abuse along with neglect (Finkelhor et al., 2013). The CDC (2008) defined child maltreatment as "any act or series of acts of commission or omission by a parent or other caregiver that results in harm, potential for harm, or threat of harm to a child" (p. 11). By commission, the authors referred to the physical, sexual, and psychological forms of abuse. Acts of omission represented those of child neglect (CDC, 2008).

While not directly analyzed in the present study, it was important to discuss how abuse was conceptualized in the literature compared to that of neglect. According to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (Fifth Edition; American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013), physical abuse can be defined as "nonaccidental physical injury to a child by a parent, caregiver, or other individual who has responsibility for the child, regardless of whether the caregiver intended to hurt the child" (p. 717). Emotional and psychological abuse are generally used interchangeably (Tonmyr et al., 2011). This form of abuse is delineated in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* as "nonaccidental verbal or symbolic acts by a child's parent or caregiver that result in significant psychological harm to the child" (APA, 2013, p. 719). Conversely, sexual abuse is elucidated as "any sexual act involving a child that is intended to provide sexual gratification" to either "a parent, caregiver, or other individual who has responsibility for the child" (APA, 2013, p. 718).

Although emotional neglect is considered to be the most common form of childhood maltreatment, it curiously stands to be the least well-defined, diagnosed, and understood form of maltreatment (Giardino et al., 2009, p. 279). Emotional neglect is said to occur when parents/guardians do not attend to their child's "needs for affection, emotional support, attention,

19

and competence (Giardino et al., 2009, p. 262)." Examples of emotional neglect comprise "(a) markedly overprotective restrictions that foster immaturity or emotional overdependence; (b) chronically applying clearly inappropriate expectations in relation to the child's age or level of development; (c) domestic violence in the child's presence; and (d) encouragement of or permitting other maladaptive behavior (e.g., severe assaultiveness, chronic delinquency)" (Giardino et al., 2009, p. 262). Emotional neglect could also occur when parents delay or fail to provide mental health care when recommended by a competent professional (Giardino et al., 2009, p. 262). In comparison, physical neglect could be conceptualized as "the failure to meet a child's basic physical needs such as food, clothing, shelter, personal hygiene, and medical care" (Cohen et al., 2017; Giardino et al., 2009, p. 262).

#### **General Consequences of Childhood Maltreatment**

The existence of childhood maltreatment has been widely deemed a major public health concern (Benedini et al., 2016; Espelage et al., 2016; Norman et al., 2012), and an entire body of literature has evolved over the decades to best understand the specific short-term and life-long consequences of childhood abuse and neglect. As the literature in this arena has consistently revealed, major detrimental emotional, social, cognitive, and academic implications are associated with childhood maltreatment. People with a history of physical abuse have been found to have significantly increased risks of depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, eating disorders, alcohol dependence/abuse, risky sexual behaviors, sexually transmitted infections, and suicidal behavior. Similar mental and physical health outcomes have been found in those who experienced sexual and emotional abuse (Norman et al., 2012).

Rouse and Fantuzzo (2009) examined a variety of risk factors in a large sample of second graders (e.g., maltreatment, homelessness, biological birth risk, etc.) and consistently found child

maltreatment to yield the strongest associations with poor academic functioning. In early childhood, experiences of abuse and neglect can largely disrupt cognitive, language, and emotional maturation processes at a crucial time in neurological development. These effects cross over with academic functioning as cognitive, language, and emotional abilities are critical for sufficient academic performance (Rouse & Fantuzzo, 2009). More specifically, problem-solving and self-regulation abilities might become interrupted as a result of childhood abuse and/or neglect (Cicchetti & Valentino, 2006), negatively influencing a youth's cognitive and intellectual growth and increasing the concurrent risk of experiencing mental health and behavioral problems early in life (Romano et al., 2015). These negative outcomes might then persist across higher levels of schooling.

#### **General Research Base on Childhood Neglect**

Neglect is deemed to be at least as harmful as physical or sexual abuse across time; yet, it is an area of maltreatment often understudied and receives the least amount of public attention (Gilbert et al., 2009). Of the 3.5 million child maltreatment cases investigated by child protective services in 2018 (U.S. Department of HHS, ACF, ACYF, CB, 2020), a vast majority of cases were coded as neglectful (60.8%). It was very difficult to locate research that examined outcomes of physical and emotional neglect individually. Instead, evidence was scattered within the broad childhood maltreatment literature base as certain studies were able to collect a large enough sample size to allow researchers to run analyses related to each form of neglect. Specific consequences linked with childhood neglect are discussed below.

#### Social Concerns in Neglected Youth

The relationship with a parental figure is often an underlying feature in cases of neglect. Most healthy and non-abusive parent-child relationships are characterized predominately by secure attachment styles. Neglect, however, is reportedly associated more so with an anxiousambivalent attachment style over any other types of attachment (Finzi et al., 2001, 2002). Parental bonds are not the only relationships to be affected by childhood neglect as it was found that associations with peers were also at-risk. This is largely a result of poor social skills, which makes it difficult for these kids to approach peers and develop friendships with them (Maguire et al., 2015). Low self-esteem and behavioral problems that often accompany childhood neglect tend to further perpetuate a divide between the neglected students and other classmates as those who are neglected sometimes take on the "class clown" or "strong guy" roles (Finzi et al., 2003).

Physical neglect, specifically, demonstrates worsened outcomes in terms of social competence (Manly et al., 1994, 2001) and difficulties in establishing and maintaining peer relationships in comparison with non-neglected controls (De Paúl & Arruabarrena, 1995). Research suggested that neglected children hold fewer reciprocated, close friendships compared with non-maltreated classmates (Bolger et al., 1998) and physically neglected children are more likely to be rejected by peer groups (Chapple et al., 2005). Parents who neglect their children could be socially isolated and have a limited amount of friends of their own (Crittenden, 1985), making opportunities for their children to observe healthy and reciprocal friendships harder to come by and weakening the ability of these parents to facilitate friendships their children are making (Bolger et al., 1998; Lewis & Schaeffer, 1981; Mueller & Silverman, 1989). Furthermore, neglected children might be less likely to invite peers over to their houses due to potentially dirty or disorganized home environments that might have inadequate food and entertainment availability (Bolger et al., 1998). Children who reside in such homes are subsequently placed at a further disadvantage when attempting to develop and maintain interpersonal relationships compared to their peers who are adequately provided for at home.

Childhood neglect could also lead to unhealthy sexual encounters later on in life. Upon young adulthood, individuals with experiences of earlier childhood neglect were found to be at heightened risk of partaking in risky sexual behaviors and receiving sexually transmitted infections when compared to those who had not been neglected (Norman et al., 2012). Similar outcomes were also reported in adults who endured physical and emotional abuse during their school years.

#### **Behavioral and Emotional Concerns** in Neglected Youth

Not only could cognitive and executive functioning consequences arise from child neglect (De Bellis, 2005) but emotional and behavioral dysregulation could also be implicated. It is likely that neglect was sensed and perceived by a child as intense anxiety (De Bellis, 2005), which concurrently activated stress response systems at the biological level and aided in adverse brain development during critical times of maturation. It has been hypothesized that the stress and anxiety neglected children endure are the result of a failure to feel trust for a parent in a dysfunctional family relationship and the lack of socially appropriate interactions expected to accompany that trust (De Bellis, 2005). Valentino et al. (2008) examined the role of maternal schema in maltreatment outcomes and found negative maternal schemas were significantly associated with internalizing symptoms (i.e., depression) in neglected children (but not in abused or non-maltreated youth) and that having a positive maternal schema could protect neglected children from developing internalizing symptomatology. Individuals with a history of both physical and emotional neglect were found to be at a significantly increased risk of experiencing depression and anxiety, whereas non-abused individuals were not (Norman et al., 2012). The severity of physical neglect during preschool in particular has been associated with greater

internalizing concerns and withdrawn behavior (Manly et al., 2001). Psychotic symptoms or paranoia have also been reported in neglected children (De Bellis, 2005).

Additional emotional domains that are compromised by childhood neglect are those of self-esteem and depression. In a combined sample of 322 neglected and non-neglected 7 to 12year-old children (66 of which were in the neglected group), the severity of neglect was negatively associated with children's self-esteem (Lynch & Cicchetti, 1998). Similarly, Kim and Cicchetti (2006) reported increased depression over time in a sample of 142 abused and/or neglected children (74% of which were physically neglected) in comparison to children who reported no history of abuse or neglect. It has been hypothesized that withdrawn, neglected youth might feel their life is driven more by external control (i.e., happenings in life are the result of others, and not themselves), which is encompassed within the neglect and internalizing symptomatology association (Bolger & Patterson, 2001b). Children who experienced emotional neglect in particular (and after controlling for confounding variables such as poverty, family structure, and spanking) had significant difficulty with self-control (Chapple et al., 2005). Moreover, those who experienced neglect were three times more likely to develop eating disorders than those who did not experience neglect. Neglect was also associated with a significantly increased risk of suicidal behavior (i.e., attempts, ideation) relative to those without this form of maltreatment (Norman et al., 2012).

A lack of trust and an inherently negative view of one's parental figures could also lead to externalizing behaviors in neglected youth. In a methodical review of studies examining the short and long-term consequences of childhood neglect from ages 5-14 years old, Maguire et al. (2015) reported externalizing symptoms (i.e., aggressive, destructive, assaultive, antisocial behavior) to be the most common behavioral problem among neglected youth. Similarly,

24
physically neglected youth were found to be significantly more likely to engage in violence (e.g., threatening and/or engaging in physical fights at school or work) later in life (Chapple et al., 2005). Kendall-Tackett and Eckenrode (1996) studied school records and reported a significant association between neglect and suspensions from school and other disciplinary actions. To the contrary, a handful of studies in the meta-analysis by Maguire et al. (2015) were unable to corroborate these results as they reported non-significant associations between neglect and externalizing behaviors. Other behavioral features related to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder were also frequently associated with youth who were neglected. In children aged 6-12 years, neglected children exhibited more impulse control difficulties than non-neglected children (Finzi et al., 2003; Fishbein et al., 2009).

Notably, all neglected children who participated in a cognitive functioning study by De Bellis et al. (2003) were also exposed to one or more domestic violence disputes up until that point in their childhood. Neglected youth were more likely than non-neglected children to witness domestic violence and to experience post-traumatic stress disorder from being exposed to these traumatic experiences (De Bellis, 2005). In preschool children who witnessed domestic violence between their caretakers at this young age, significant externalizing concerns for boys and internalizing problems for girls carried into adolescence (Yates et al., 2003). Not only was domestic violence exposure heightened in neglected youth but parental substance-use disorders were also commonly associated with child neglect (Chaffin et al., 1996; Kelleher et al., 1994; Murphy et al., 1991) which further interfered with the parent's ability to foster a nurturing and supportive relationship with their child.

# **Cognitive and Academic Concerns in Neglected Youth**

De Bellis (2005) conducted a large review of the developmental, cognitive, and biological deficits characteristic of severely neglected children. Early research on animals, institutionalized infants, and children in orphanages—all of which were characterized by a lack of emotional stimulation from a parental figure—gave warning signs of what child neglect was capable of. In these profound neglectful circumstances, large deficits in social development and emotional and behavioral regulation were recorded (Spitz, 1945) as well as physical growth delays (e.g., smaller head circumference and body size), cognitive and language development delays, and inferior social skills by the age of three years (Macovei, 1986). In less severe cases of childhood neglect, such as when institutionalized children were later returned to their parents or adopted out, the children continued to display significant problems with emotional regulation and interpersonal relationship difficulties as they aged (Hodges & Tizard, 1989).

Despite the historically mixed evidence in relation to the link between parental involvement and educational achievement (Englund et al., 2004), it has been previously theorized that neglect is more strongly associated with academic difficulties compared to other forms of maltreatment. This could be explained by the overlapping effects neglect could have on a child's development. If a child does not get fed a healthy amount of food while growing up, for example, his or her neurological development could be compromised over time (McGuire & Jackson, 2018). Neglect tended to be more chronic in nature (Bolger & Patterson, 2001a) than physical and sexual abuse; therefore, it is viewed to be more directly linked with academic delays (Hildyard & Wolfe, 2002) and the inability to meet other developmental milestones essential for academic success on time (Petrenko et al., 2012). Educational neglect, such as when a parent continually allows their child to miss school or does not care to promote their academic success, tends to have the most direct effect on a child's academic functioning than abuse or nonmaltreatment do (McGuire & Jackson, 2018).

For many children in neglectful circumstances, the stress they feel is chronic and could lead to impairments in brain structures and neurological processes responsible for maintaining attention and motivation, learning new material, and could result in poor academic achievement (De Bellis, 2005). It is not surprising, therefore, that a significant link between childhood neglect and delays in cognitive development, functioning, and head growth was reported in young children (Strathearn et al., 2001) as well as lower IQ and academic performance into adulthood (Perez & Widom, 1994). In fact, De Bellis et al. (2003) reported that neglected children with no concurrent history of abuse, prenatal substance exposure or insults, and who were otherwise healthy performed poorer on all cognitive domains of a common neuropsychological test compared to a group of non-maltreated children (i.e., no history of abuse and/or neglect).

#### **Definitions of Bullying**

Although conceptualizations of childhood abuse and neglect are reasonably welldeveloped, definitions pertaining to bullying tended to be more difficult for researchers to agree upon. The concept of bullying has been around for centuries and conceivably since the beginning of human life as survival often required aggression toward those they were competing with over resources (Donegan, 2012). The first known introduction and conceptualization of the term was attributed to *The Times* in 1862 where it was reported that an army soldier died on account of bullying victimization (Koo, 2007). Further understanding and definitions of bullying have surfaced over the following decades. Olweus (1993 became a renowned innovator within the field of bullying and developed a popular definition that emphasized a perceived power imbalance, repetition of behavior, and malicious intent. Another frequently used definition of bullying, conceptualized by Espelage and Swearer (2003), was described as any "verbal, physical, or social forms of aggression inflicted by an individual or group of individuals and directed against a child or adolescent who is not able to defend himself or herself" (p. 168). In addition, definitions of bullying usually included systematic, ongoing behaviors by peers who are aiming to gain some form of reinforcement (e.g., power; Espelage & Swearer, 2003). Four major types of bullying commonly were recognized in the literature: physical, verbal, relational (also referred to as social or indirect), and cyber (Wang et al., 2009).

While cyber-bullying is a large aspect of modern-day bullying, it was omitted as it was not incorporated with the present study's purpose and design. The remaining forms of traditional bullying, however, are included. Physical and verbal bullying are considered forms of 'direct' victimization as they involve harmful acts that are overt in nature. As such, physical bullying is commonly understood as comprising any physical act of aggression from one peer unto another such as hitting, pushing, kicking, or punching (Brank et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2009). Verbal bullying, on the other hand, is characterized by spoken aggressions (i.e., name calling and teasing) that are inflicted in a harmful manner (Brank et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2009). A more indirect and covert form of bullying is termed as 'relational' (also known as social or indirect victimization) and centers around the transaction of social harm (i.e., spreading rumors, withholding friendships, and social exclusion; Brank et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2009). Relational and verbal bullying are found to occur more frequently in adolescence than physical bullying does (Wang et al., 2009).

#### **General Correlates of Bullying Victimization**

As discussed previously, childhood maltreatment is associated with worsened developmental outcomes as discussed in the literature. Similar findings were found in the bullying literature with comparable, detrimental impacts on mental and physical health outcomes. Children who are bullied are more likely to exhibit physical health issues (e.g., Gini & Pozzoli, 2009; Wolke et al., 2001), anxiety and depression (e.g., Arseneault et al., 2010; Woods & White, 2005; Zwierzynska et al., 2013), borderline personality indicators (e.g., Wolke et al., 2012), and increased self-harm and suicidal behaviors (Fisher et al., 2012; Klomek et al., 2009; Winsper et al., 2012) than children who are not victimized by their peers at school. This was significant given that the World Health Organization (2012) recently reported an average childhood bullying rate of 32% across 38 different countries and regions.

Rueger and Jenkins (2014) brought to light the scarcity of research on academic achievement outcomes related to specific types of peer victimization. However, some general academic evidence can be located if one searches meticulously enough. A meta-analysis conducted in 2010 by Nakamoto and Schwartz identified only four studies to analyze the association between different types of bullying victimization on subsequent academic achievement and, therefore, gathered inconclusive results in terms of the correlation between these two variables. An indirect association was discovered between sixth and seventh graders' feelings of self-worth, depression, loneliness, and decreased grade point average and school attendance a year after being bullied (Juvonen et al., 2000). A subsequent, longitudinal study by Nishina et al. (2005) found similar mediational results in that bullying experienced by sixth grade students within the fall semester was associated with psychosocial maladjustment and physical symptoms that were antecedents to poorer school functioning in the spring semester.

Like those of childhood maltreatment, the effects of childhood bullying victimization do not seem quick to disappear and could have long-lasting effects far beyond secondary school. In studies that examined the costs of prior bullying victimization in college students, common consequences included poorer mental health functioning, increased emotional loneliness, difficulties with friendships, lower sense of self-esteem, decreased health-related quality of life, increased risk of bullying victimization in higher educational settings, shyness, and a decreased sense of trust in others (Chapell et al., 2006; Chen & Huang, 2015; Holt et al., 2014; Jantzer et al., 2006; Schäfer et al., 2004). Even in cross-sectional and longitudinal studies that controlled for early psychiatric issues and other adverse childhood experiences (such as family instability and poverty), a history of bullying victimization in childhood continued to predict poor psychological, educational, and occupational functioning into young adulthood (e.g., Copeland et al., 2013; Holt et al., 2014). Increases in depression persisted up to an average of six years following peer victimization (Ttofi et al., 2011) as well as violent behavior up to an average of 6.9 years after being bullied (Ttofi et al., 2012) according to meta-analytic findings.

At the present time, meta-analyses that analyze the specific types of bullying (i.e., physical, verbal, relational/indirect) separately to determine the specific social, emotional, behavioral, cognitive, and academic effects that accompany each form of bullying were unable to be identified. However, singular research studies were located to give some evidence. For instance, relational victimization in adolescence (e.g., threating to end friendship) was associated with externalizing symptomatology only in those who endorsed little perceived social support by their classmates in a cross-sectional study by Prinstein et al. (2001).

### **Physical Characteristics of Bullying Victims**

Bullying often enters the lives of children and adolescents who appear to be outwardly "different" than typical peers (Magin, 2013). Puhl et al. (2011) found obesity and overweightness to be of the most common determinants for being bullied in a sample of 1,555 American high school students. Odds ratio (OR) results from a nationally representative American sample of

approximately 7,500 6th through 10th grade students indicated that overweight males (OR = 1.27) and overweight females (OR = 1.36) were more likely to be verbally bullied, underweight males were more likely to be physically bullied (OR = 1.87), and underweight females were more likely to be relationally bullied (OR – 1.71) than average-weight peers (Wang, Iannotti, & Luk, 2010).

Research indicated that bullying victimization could be accompanied by the phenotypic outcomes of a variety of health-related impairments, clinical disorders, or medical processes such as during and/or post cancer treatment (Lähteenmäki et al., 2002; Williamson et al., 2010), skin disorders (e.g., severe acne, etc.; Magin, 2013), diabetes (Storch et al., 2004, 2006a), endocrine disorders (Sandberg, 1999), congenital heart disease (Horner et al., 2000), obsessive-compulsive disorder (Storch et al., 2006b), autism spectrum disorders (Montes & Halterman, 2007; Twyman et al., 2010), and Turner syndrome (Rickert et al., 1996) to name a few. In a sample of over 7,000 adolescents with chronic health conditions (52% males) in Switzerland, the overall frequency of bullying victimization was significantly higher among chronically affected adolescents than among healthy controls with a threefold increase in social exclusion in particular (Pittet et al., 2010). Children and adolescents identified with autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, a specific language impairment, and learning disabilities were also more likely to be bullied than those who did not hold these common special education identifications (Magin, 2013).

## What Is Known, and Not Known, About the Neglect to Bullying Victimization Association

The majority of research conducted on the relationship between bullying victimization and neglect also concurrently incorporated the role of abuse (Chapple et al., 2005; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013) or was analyzed as a collective variable of childhood maltreatment (Hong et al., 2012). In a recent meta-analysis of 67 different studies examining the association between parenting behaviors and bullying victimization, Lereya et al. (2013) concluded that childhood abuse and neglect were the most significant predictors of peer victimization. While very informative, the researchers did not differentiate between abuse and neglect, making it problematic in attempting to draw specific conclusions in relation to bullying outcomes. It is time for research to look separately at the role of parental neglect when analyzing peer victimization experiences as it could very well be associated with unique consequences that differ from those of abuse or non-maltreatment.

Most of the extant literature on this association focused on child abuse (Duke et al., 2010; Dussich & Maekoya, 2007; Vaughn et al., 2011), where emphasis on school bullying and child neglect was far scarcer (Wang et al., 2019). Researchers who were able to parse out the unique consequences of neglect mainly focused on aggressive social interactions perpetrated by victims but very rarely specifically looked into bullying victimization (Maguire et al., 2015). For example, Chapple et al. (2005) reported in a longitudinal study that emotionally and physically neglected children were more likely to be rejected by normal peer groups (with no mention of peer victimization) in early adolescence and developed violent tendencies during late adolescence. While peer rejection might exist concurrently with bullying victimization, or be a precursor for it, both peer rejection and peer victimization were considered by this writer to be two separate constructs. The present research looked to complement Chapple et al. by determining how emotionally and physically neglected children specially experienced bullying at school.

Widom et al. (2008) identified a need to examine how childhood neglect influenced future risk for re-victimization as this association has been largely understudied in the re-

victimization literature. They examined outcomes such as subsequent physical assault and abuse, sexual assault and abuse, family and/or friend murder or suicide, crime victimization, and experiences with stalking or kidnapping in 892 individuals who were abused and/or neglected up to 41 years earlier. All childhood maltreatment types yielded significant increases in lifetime revictimization rates in the areas of physical and sexual assault/abuse, stalking/kidnapping, and experiencing the loss of a friend via murder or suicide when compared to matched controls. Although child maltreatment and bullying victimization were both faced within the same general timeframe of childhood and/or adolescence, victimization by peers in the school setting was not included as one of Widom et al.'s re-victimization outcomes. Along with this, they did not assess for differences between the different forms of neglect.

Furthermore, Benedini et al. (2016) explored the consequences of physical and sexual abuse on subsequent bullying victimization but did not include analysis of neglect. In examining bullying victimization, the researchers specifically looked into peer intimidation and physical assault, and therefore studied physical bullying victimization outcomes only. The present study built upon these findings by exploring the associations between the specific forms of peer victimization (including verbal and indirect/social forms) in relation to both types of childhood neglect.

To date, very little is known about the specific associations between physical and emotional neglect and the frequency, severity, and stability over time of each form of bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect). Wang et al. (2009) studied a large sample of middle and high school students and reported that parental support/warmth was negatively associated with bullying involvement across all three bullying types. This was in support of previous research, indicating positive parental behaviors, relations, and support could be a protective factor against peer victimization (e.g., Haynie et al., 2001; Lereya et al., 2013). Given this, it was hypothesized that those who were neglected at home would be more likely to be mistreated by their peers (compared to those who were not neglected at home), and that significant results would be found across the physical, verbal, and relational bullying victimization subtypes. Hong et al. (2012) recognized the complexities of the relationship between child maltreatment and bullying. Researchers called for further empirical research to dedicate their time to clearing up the specific pathways that connect the two unfortunate, yet common childhood phenomena (Hong et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2019).

In an extensive literature search, only one study that closely resembled the present study was located. This research was conducted by Wang et al. (2019) as they cross-sectionally studied a sample of 5,726 adolescent students in China. They desired to explore the association of different forms of childhood maltreatment (using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire Short Form) with traditional forms of bullying and cyberbullying as bullies, victims, and bully-victims. They found the most significant associations were between both physical and emotional neglect and increased risk of bullying involvement as bullies, victims, or a combination of both, indicating the potential for similarly significant results in my analyses.

There were a few distinctions to note between Wang et al. (2019) and the present study. Firstly, this study was conducted within the United States and only included respondents who were born in the United States and spoke English as a first language in the analyses (see Methods section). Undergraduate college students aged 18-30 years old were recruited voluntarily from a mid-sized university's Introduction to Psychology courses in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States. At the time of this writing, there were no known studies to retrospectively examine the interaction between emotional and physical neglect and all types of traditional bullying victimization events in American college student respondents.

Secondly, adult retrospective accounts of bullying victimization and neglectful experiences during childhood were utilized within the current research, which differed from the much more proximal retrospective accounts of the students studied by Wang et al. (2019). The study of students who were still in primary or secondary school was quite ambitious and difficult to achieve when examining vulnerable populations and those who might have experienced childhood abuse and/or neglect as obtaining consent to conduct research with these non-adult students could be difficult to obtain (Hameed, 2018; Jackson et al., 2012). Therefore, the study of adult college students was deemed to be more feasible.

Third, bullying victimization recollections were collected using a revised version of the RBQ where frequency, severity, and stability (i.e., chronicity from primary to secondary levels of school) of victimization estimates were attained. The present study, at the current time, became the first known study to explore the frequency, severity, and stability estimates of each form of traditional peer victimization (i.e., physical, verbal, and indirect) in neglected and non-neglected college students living in the United States. The unique results produced from this research will aid in further understanding the cycle of victimization for neglected youths in particular and will provide valuable information for school professionals in supporting these vulnerable student populations and preventing further victimization in the school context.

# Evidence and Rationale for Frequency, Severity, and Stability Estimates in Child Maltreatment and Bullying Victimization Research

Manly et al. (1994) highlighted the interacting roles of frequency, severity, and chronicity/stability of childhood maltreatment when examining maladaptive outcomes. In a

sample of 235 preteen children attending a week-long summer camp in upstate New York, it was indicated that frequent exposure to low severity child maltreatment yielded prosocial behavior problems while chronicity was associated with peer perceptions of abused and/or neglected youth behaving aggressively. After being clustered by child maltreatment subtype, Manly et al. found physically abused children to display greater behavioral difficulties but additional unique predictive power was reported when physical neglect was added into the regression analysis. Additionally, children who endured more chronic abuse and/or neglect were deemed to be less popular and held fewer friendships over time than their non-maltreated counterparts (Bolger et al., 1998).

The Maltreatment Classification System has been used by some researchers to integrate developmental considerations when considering the severity, onset, and other features of various types of child maltreatment. Smith and Thornberry (1995) used the Maltreatment Classification System to study delinquency outcomes in a group of 1,000 teenagers. Significant increases in delinquent behavior were associated with higher frequencies of exposure, severity, duration, as well as experiencing more than one type of abuse and/or neglect. Lynch and Cicchetti (1998) analyzed the severity of different forms of childhood maltreatment in 188 records of abused and/or neglected children that were coded by the Department of Social Services. They concluded that the more severe the parental neglect, the risk of internalizing behavioral symptomatology, depression, and traumatic stress significantly increased. Severity of each of the other forms of maltreatment (e.g., physical abuse, sexual abuse, and emotional maltreatment), however, did not significantly predict children's functioning across time.

Research examining the severity of neglectful experiences on outcomes was of imperative importance. Evidence supported that even with the milder cases of parental neglect,

marked adverse outcomes on adolescent development remained. In 2018, childhood neglect encompassed 72.8% of all child deaths due to child maltreatment at home (U.S. Department of HHS, ACF, ACYF, CB, 2020), and yet there were likely an immeasurable quantity of children who were suffering the deleterious effects of parental neglect at home who might never be identified by school personnel or other mandated reporters due to neglectful circumstances appearing to be nonthreatening (Chapple et al., 2005). Neglect is hard enough to detect as it is but recognizing that even the mildest forms warrant attention and intervention was noteworthy for the present study as well as the overall childhood maltreatment literature base.

The present study did not have access to prior records of maltreatment but instead collected self-report, retrospective data from adult, college-age respondents who endorsed having experienced childhood neglect before the age of 18 years. Childhood maltreatment scores were recorded via the commonly used and highly regarded Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ; Bernstein & Fink, 1998). Originally, those who endorsed significant histories of childhood neglect without experiencing any form of significant abuse were considered to be 'purely' neglected in the present research. Furthermore, those who reported a significant history of abuse along with significant neglect were originally considered to be 'abused and neglected' and those who reported nonsignificant histories of abuse and neglect were characterized as 'non-maltreated.' Due to limitations of the data collected in the current study, respondents were recategorized into different groupings as is described further on in the current manuscript. Most of the literature on neglect, as discussed above, did not differentiate between physical and emotional neglect when analyzing outcomes, which was a goal of the present research.

Like parental neglect (Bolger & Patterson, 2001b; Klein et al., 2013), school bullying victimization is often considered to be a rather stable occurrence (Barker et al., 2008; Jose et al.,

2012) but estimates of this stability could fluctuate based upon time and age. Stability could also be conceptualized as chronicity in the present context (e.g., the length of time or duration that victims endured bullying victimization). Prior research showed that bullying victimization among younger students was relatively ephemeral (Buhs et al., 2006; Ladd & Kochenderfer-Ladd, 2002), becoming more stable for late elementary school students and across middle school. These stability estimates persisted over shorter intervals of approximately five months (Goodman et al., 2001; Ostrov, 2008) as well as longer intervals of up to two years (Bellmore & Cillessen, 2006; Ladd & Kochenderfer-Ladd, 2002; Salmivalli et al., 1998; Yeung & Leadbeater, 2010) with approximately 45% of students endorsing chronic peer victimization from childhood to adolescence (Beran, 2008; Scholte et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2004). From grades 2 to 8, up to 20% of students experienced stable peer victimization (Kumpulainen et al., 1999; Schäfer et al., 2005). Bullying behavior is said to peak during middle school and is therefore a stage when students are the most likely to be victimized by their peers (Goldbaum et al., 2003). The current research intended to examine if this pattern of bullying victimization was present and consistent in neglected youths specifically compared to those who were non-neglected.

One study carried out by Scholte et al. (2007) investigated social adjustment outcomes in three levels of bullied youths: childhood only victims, adolescent only victims, and stable victims. Scholte et al. conducted a longitudinal study and reported that of the 517 ten to thirteenyear-olds studied, 43% of childhood only victims were still victims in adolescence. This reflected the concern that a large proportion of students who were bullied in primary school might continue to be victimized in secondary school. Youth who were bullied in both childhood and adolescence exhibited the worst outcomes compared to those who were bullied in one level or not bullied at all. The stable victims were rated by their classmates as being less popular, less cooperative, and as conveying a shyer demeanor (Scholte et al., 2007) in contrast to their intermittently and non-victimized counterparts.

The interaction between severity and frequency of bullying victimization estimates was also examined. Thomas et al. (2016) collected cross-sectional data and reported that adolescents who were physically bullied, regardless of the frequency of physical peer victimization, were more likely to indicate higher levels of psychological distress and decreased emotional wellbeing than non-victimized controls. This association was stronger in students who were more emotionally affected and upset by the experience(s). These findings were in line with longitudinal research conducted by Smokowski et al. (2014) where they reported those who were physically/verbally bullied infrequently (during one time of schooling) displayed similar deficiencies in mental health outcomes, school satisfaction ratings, and perceived levels of social support as those who experienced chronic physical/verbal bullying (frequent victimization across more than one period of schooling). This being said, chronic peer victimization led to more damaging outcomes than past victimization or current victimization (Scholte et al., 2007). Therefore, victims of bullying, regardless of reported frequency over time, should be targeted within the school setting for additional supports. Interventions should aim to empower these victimized students to report bullying events to a trusted teacher or parent where they could be assisted in ending these detrimental interactions at school and shortening the potential timeline of peer victimization (Smokowski et al., 2014).

To date, the present study is the only known study to assess for stability and severity of the various forms of bullying victimization experiences of neglected youth. It was the aim of the current research to ascertain if patterns amongst physical and/or emotional child neglect and the various dimensions of bullying victimization existed. The CTQ offered an all-encompassing

39

measure of the severity of retrospectively reported child maltreatment. The RBQ (Schäfer et al., 2004) was adapted (see methods section below; Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire-Revised; RBQ-R) and utilized to gather frequency, severity, and stability estimates of each type of bullying experience in neglected children.

By examining the influence of the severity of emotional and/or physical neglect experiences in childhood (as measured by the CTQ) with the various dimensions of each form of bullying victimization (as measured by the RBQ-R), practitioners could better understand patterns that might exist amongst these two significant areas of trauma. Specific questions that could be investigated by this research included the following: Does a severe history of emotional and/or physical neglect influence the frequency and perceived severity of bullying victimization experiences in school? Are those who are more likely to report severe emotional and/or physical neglect more likely to experience stable (e.g., chronic) peer victimization across time as opposed to those who report less severe or an absence of childhood neglect? Data on the frequency and chronicity of bullying victimization in this research also offered the opportunity to understand which form(s) of bullying victimization were most likely to be experienced as well as when bullying victimization was most likely to occur in neglected samples of students. If patterns amongst the two individual forms of child neglect and the various dimensions of bullying victimization exist in this research, results could be used to provide valuable information for school psychologists to consider in planning and enacting prevention and intervention efforts for students who were known or suspected to be neglected at home.

It was the hope that this information would further enhance the existing literature base by identifying any predictable pathways from parental neglect to bullying victimization experiences at school. The stability results of the present research might provide further rationale that immediate support and intervention needs to be taken in an attempt to make this deleterious experience more transient in nature. If stable bullying victimization is not supported in neglected students, it could be that peer victimization is significantly more likely to occur in either primary or secondary school. On the contrary, if significantly stable bullying victimization is reported, it would strengthen the need for early intervention to prevent the continuation of victimization into higher grade levels. This should help school psychologists and counselors pinpoint the approximate time frame when students who have been neglected would be in need of extra support.

### **Predicted Composition of Recruited Sample**

When examining studies with similar purposes and variables as the current study, there were notable breakdowns in sample characteristics that helped to predict the make-up of the sample intended to be recruited. Wang et al. (2009) recruited a large, nationally representative sample of over 7,000 middle and high schoolers and recorded the breakdown prevalence of bullying experience type within the four groups: bullies only, victims only, bully-victims, and non-involved. All students were asked to recall if they had been involved in bullying in some way at least once in the past two months. Of all affected students, 20.8% were physically involved, 53.6% were verbally involved, 51.4% were relationally involved, and 13.6% were victimized via cyberbullying. When examining the victims only group exclusively, 12.8% were victimized physically, 36.5% verbally, 36.5% relationally, and 9.8% endorsed electronic victimization. It was reasonable to infer that a similar breakdown in bullying victimization experiences might be found in the present sample and potential increases in all types of bullying victimization could be endorsed within a neglected sample. It was noted that the occurrence of multiple bullying experiences by respondents within the previous two months was not considered

by Wang et al. and there was no mention of how they handled multi-victimized respondents. This was problematic as research suggested that victims of bullying could experience multiple forms simultaneously (Waasdorp & Bradshaw, 2015; Wang, Ionnotti, Luk, & Nansel, 2010).

Additionally, there was evidence that a significant amount of research failed to acknowledge that victims of child abuse and/or neglect often experienced more than one form of abuse or neglect (Higgins & McCabe, 2001) and that researchers should include within-group comparisons between single maltreatment and multiple-type maltreatment groups (Boxer & Terranova, 2008; Hahm et al., 2010). Evidence also suggested that physically neglected children are more likely to be physically abused by their parents (Chapple et al., 2005). The interaction between physical neglect and physical peer bullying victimization was examined further in the present research and aimed to provide school professionals with extremely valuable information in terms of how to best prevent further victimization in the school environment for neglected students.

The extant literature consistently reported a history of child maltreatment in college populations across the United States to be at approximately 30% or one in three college students (Bachrach & Read, 2012; Duncan, 2000; Elliott et al., 2009; Freyd et al., 2001; Gibb et al., 2009; Hussey et al., 2006; Jordan et al., 2014; Welsh et al., 2017). The Children's Bureau of the U.S. Department of HHS, ACF, ACYF, CB (2020) reported that in 2018, a large proportion of abused and/or neglected youth were classified under one maltreatment type (84.5%) while the remaining 15.5% were coded in the multiple maltreatment group (i.e., having experienced two or more maltreatment types). Of note, approximately 61% of victims were categorized by the Child Welfare System as experiencing neglect only (U.S. Department of HHS, ACF, ACYF, CB, 2020), and neglect remained the most frequent form of child maltreatment documented by child-

protection agencies in the United States (Gilbert et al., 2009). However, a breakdown of the prevalence of emotional and physical neglect is not typically recorded by national databases of child maltreatment. Studies found self-reported, retrospective accounts of childhood abuse to be underreported when compared to court-substantiated accounts (Widom & Morris, 1997; Widom & Shepard, 1996). It is likely the prevalence of self-reported accounts of childhood neglect differed from that of court-verified case records (Negriff et al., 2017).

A study by Moore et al. (2020) utilized the CTQ at the same mid-sized university as the current research and included an overall sample of 369 undergraduate college students for analysis. Of the group of students in Moore et al.'s study, a little less than half (158 students) self-reported moderate to severe child maltreatment in one or more areas of abuse or neglect, although the frequencies for each form of maltreatment were not provided. The large proportion of neglected youth nationwide, along with the stable report of childhood maltreatment histories in college populations, originally promoted confidence that recruitment of a large enough sample of college undergraduate students endorsing a moderate to severe history of child neglect (to be compared with those who have no history of neglect or abuse) was reasonable to acquire. Oversampling procedures were applied in efforts to recruit a large enough sample size to run proposed analyses (see Methodology section below).

#### Summary

The opening of this chapter encompassed an introduction to the definitions and incidence rates of various forms of childhood maltreatment, the sparsity of child neglect evidence in prior research, and adverse effects of childhood neglect on social, emotional, behavioral, cognitive, and academic development and future functioning. A shift in focus was then made toward that of bullying victimization and a discussion around its relevant definitions, general consequences, and the physical characteristics of bullying victims. Central to this chapter was a discussion of the gaps in literature addressed by the current study along with the existing evidence and fundamental rationale for further exploring these interactions. This chapter concluded with a prediction of the sample that would be recruited in the current study.

The present research explored the relationship between bullying victimization and childhood neglect by assessing whether there was a difference in peer victimization rates between those who were neglected and non-maltreated, whether neglect type (physical and emotional) predicted the frequency and severity of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, and indirect), and whether physical and emotional neglect predicted the stability of bullying victimization rates across primary and secondary school. By studying these specific questions, the current research aimed to expand the cycle of victimization knowledge base in order to better equip school psychologists, counselors, and other mental health professionals in the implementation of intervention and prevention efforts for those youths who have known or suspected childhood neglect.

## CHAPTER III

## METHODOLOGY

### Purpose

The purpose of the present study was to add to the knowledge base for the cycle of victimization by retrospectively investigating the association of physical and emotional neglect with various forms and dimensions of bullying victimization in primary and secondary school. The current research was characterized as an exploratory study that aimed to understand the unique relationships existing between each form of neglect in the home and each type of bullying victimization in the school.

### **Participants**

The target population for the given study was adults aged 18 to 30 years old within the United States. The sample for the current study comprised undergraduate college students from a mid-sized university in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States. The online delivery of surveys was intended to attract a more gender-balanced pool of respondents as was deemed effective in Batterham's (2014) study of the online recruitment strategies for a mental health survey. By employing an electronic delivery approach, the current research sought to address a well-documented limitation of childhood abuse and neglect research wherein most samples were made up of a larger portion of females than males (Aspelmeier et al., 2007; Elliott et al., 2009; Kendra et al., 2012; Welsh et al., 2017).

To be eligible to participate in the current study, participants must have been at least 18 years of age and under the age of 31 years upon the day they began the surveys. Age restrictions

were present to ensure that only adults were eligible for participation and to control for possible difficulties and inaccuracies in recalling childhood events that might occur past the age of 30. Evidence from a sample of healthy adults with a median age of 51 years (Majer et al., 2010) suggested those with a history of child physical neglect were more likely to display declines in long-term memory compared to non-neglected and/or abused controls. Furthermore, a recent study conducted by Wang et al. (2016) reported a significant relationship between childhood physical neglect and development of mild cognitive impairment with associated declines in episodic memory in participants over the age of 60 years old. The specific age range chosen for the current research reflected the age norms for the CTQ and RBQ and seemed to reasonably control for any difficulties in recall of events that might occur upon later adulthood. Eligible participants were also required to speak English as their first language and be born in the United States. These criteria were present to control for potential differences in perceptions of abuse and neglect and what was deemed to be 'normal' child-rearing practices across cultures (Welsh et al., 2017). Participants who did not meet these requirements were excluded from participation in the present study.

Participants were recruited from sections of a Principles of Psychology class through the School of Psychological Sciences research pool at a mid-sized university in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States. Participation was deemed voluntary and anonymous. Eligible university participants completed a sequence of online measures through Qualtrics and were compensated for participation with research credit. The demographic questionnaire was presented first for all participants followed by the RBQ-R and CTQ in that order.

### **Power Analyses**

A priori power analyses were conducted using G\*Power3.1 (Faul et al., 2007) for each of the statistical procedures carried out in Research Questions 1-4. In relation to the first research question, a two-tailed test was utilized to test the difference in means between two independent groups using a medium effect size estimate (d = .50) and an alpha of .05. To achieve a power of .80, a total sample of 156 participants with unequal group sizes of n = 45 (for group 1) and n = 111 (for group 2) were recommended. The remainder of the research questions used multiple linear regressions (MLR). For MLR research, power analyses using G\*Power suggested a total sample-size of 77 participants to achieve a statistical power of .80 with three predictors entered in the model, alpha level set at .05, and a medium effect size ( $f^2$ ) of .15. Green's (1991) formula was also utilized as another method for estimating sample size for the regression analyses and resulted in a total sample size of 74 participants. If testing individual predictors, a sample size of 107 total participants was recommended. Oversampling efforts were undergone in an attempt to recruit approximately 120-160 participants for the current study.

### Instrumentation

## **Demographics Questionnaire**

A brief demographic questionnaire was provided after consent was obtained and prior to the completion of the measures listed below. The demographics questionnaire asked participants to self-report the following: age (direct entry), birthdate (direct entry), gender identity (categories of male, female, non-binary/third gender/other, and prefer not to say), race/ethnicity (categories of White, Black or African American, American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, or Other with a direct entry), sexual orientation (categories of heterosexual [straight], homosexual [gay], bisexual, other, and prefer not to say), country of origin (United States of America or Other with direct entry), and mother's highest education level (as a proxy for SES; see Baum & Ruhm, 2009; Classen & Hokayem, 2005; Welsh et al., 2017; Zhang & Wang, 2004). The choice categories used for mother's highest education level were as follows: Less than high school degree, High school graduate (high school diploma or equivalent including GED), Some college but no degree, Associate degree in college (two-year),' Bachelor's degree in college (four-year), Master's degree, and Doctoral degree or professional degree (Ph.D., MD, JD).

# Childhood Trauma Questionnaire Short Form (CTQ)

The CTQ (Bernstein & Fink, 1998) is a retrospective self-report measure of childhood and adolescent abuse and neglect experiences. This measure was chosen for use in the current study as it is widely considered the preeminent measure of adult recall of prior abuse and neglect experiences in childhood (Baker & Maiorino, 2010). The CTQ consists of 28 items and yields five subscales: three scales assess different forms of abuse (emotional, physical, and sexual) and two assess forms of neglect (emotional and physical). There are five items per subscale. The remaining three items are encompassed in an additional subscale, referred to as the minimization/denial subscale, which is used to assess for recall and reporting biases (MacDonald et al., 2015). For each item, participants are asked to report the frequency of a behavioral occurrence on a 5-point Likert-type scale (1 = never true, 2 = rarely true, 3 = sometimes true, 4 =often true, 5 = very often true). Each scale yields scores that range from 5 (no history of abuse and/or neglect) to 25 (extreme history of abuse and/or neglect) and can be derived by summing the rating scores on each item within the subscale. The higher the raw score on each scale, the greater the severity of the self-reported abuse or neglect. Appendix A provides documentation of the CTQ in its entirety.

The CTQ has been used extensively in trauma literature (e.g., Aas et al., 2014;

Bennouna-Greene et al., 2011; MacDonald et al., 2015) and aided the current research in identifying a sample that specifically included adults with a history of traumatic interpersonal experiences. Scores on this measure demonstrated high internal consistency reliability for each subscale ranging from .79 to .94 and test-retest reliability was deemed adequate over a two- to six-month interval (intraclass correlation coefficient = .88; Bernstein et al., 1994). These reliability results were based upon a sample of 286 patients receiving treatment for drug and/or alcohol dependence. Additionally, evidence of convergent and discriminant validity of scores from the CTQ has been supported as this measure was compared with psychologists' reports of childhood abuse and neglect (of which also comprised Child Protective Services evidence and court records; Bernstein et al., 1997).

Although the area of neglect remained of primary interest in this study, it was important to also assess whether neglected participants reported a history of childhood abuse as well. Due to the high rates of comorbidity of child neglect and abuse (Higgins & McCabe, 2001; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013), it was predicted that many respondents might endorse histories of both. However, recent national reports by the U.S. Department of HHS, ACF, ACYF, CB (2020) indicated 60.8% of victims of child protective services-substantiated child maltreatment to be solely neglected so recruitment of a sample containing a significant number of neglected-only respondents originally appeared reasonable to achieve for the current research. Participants endorsing a significant history of neglect with or without a significant history of abuse were included in the primary research analyses. However, participants endorsing significant histories of 'pure' abuse (i.e., physical, emotional, and/or sexual abuse in the absence of significant emotional and physical neglect) had their data coded for possible post-hoc analyses. Only those

with significant missing data and/or a visually inspected suspicious response style (e.g., marking the same response option throughout) were removed from the analyses. Oversampling procedures were employed in an attempt to enlist an adequately sized sample of exclusively neglected (i.e., history of neglect with an absence of abuse) respondents, which only applied for Research Question 1. As is described in further detail later in the present study, recruitment of a large, exclusively neglected sample size was unrealized.

## Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire-Revised

The RBQ (Schäfer et al., 2004) is a 44-item, mostly multiple-choice measure that assesses self-reported histories of bullying experiences across primary and secondary levels of school as well as bullying experiences in the workplace and/or college environment. Scores from the RBQ have shown adequate test-retest reliability over a two-month time span across primary school items (r = .88) and secondary school items (r = .87) with a sample of 26 college students in a German university (Schäfer et al., 2004). Even though the RBQ has been utilized in many studies (Hunter et al., 2004; Kritsotakis et al., 2017; Schäfer et al., 2004; Sesar et al., 2012), the validity evidence (e.g., construct, content, internal, etc.) for the measure was severely lacking and these studies appeared hesitant to explicitly mention this as a major limitation.

On the outset, this seemed to be problematic for the current research. However, a lack of sound psychometric evidence (validity in particular) was found to be common in most bullying measures. In an extensive review and content analysis of 41 bullying behavior instruments (Vivolo-Kantor et al., 2014), it was reported that most measures yielded sufficient reliability estimates but that a majority of these studies did not also assess for validity of the bullying instrument. This was concerning as researchers cannot be certain the measures they are utilizing

are accurately assessing the bullying behaviors they were intending to assess. Inclusion of this critical validity evidence is urgently needed in future analyses of bullying surveys.

Despite this over-reaching limitation in bullying measurement methods across the field, the RBQ (Schäfer et al., 2004) was utilized in the current study as it is normed for ages 18 to 40 (the vast majority of other retrospective measures are intended to be completed by children/adolescents) and addresses the frequency, severity, and stability of different forms of bullying victimization. The RBQ was therefore the only available measure to assess for retrospective accounts of bullying victimization experiences in adults and included identification of the specific dimensions of peer victimization that could be helpful in answering the research questions in the present study.

The questionnaire is introduced by a definition of bullying and is broken into four separate sections: primary school (14 items), secondary school (14 items), general experiences at school (12 items), and bullying or harassment in the workplace (four items). Respondents could be placed into four different categorizations dependent upon their answers to the following items: (a) bully (perpetration of any type of bullying with no victimization), (b) bully-victim (perpetration and victimization of any type), (c) victim (victimization of any type and no perpetration), and (d) no bullying experience (no perpetration or victimization experience. Although those who fell in the bully or bully-victim groups are important to examine in future research when examining the association with childhood neglect, it was not the aim of the current study to do so. These data were still coded for possible post hoc analyses.

Since bullying victimization was of primary focus in the current study, prior research utilized three different victim types yielded by the RBQ: primary school victim, secondary school victim, and stable victim (victimized in both primary and secondary school). The response choices varied from item to item. However, it was in the way participants responded to items that addressed the frequency and severity of reported physical, verbal, and indirect bullying at both levels of schooling that placements into the three different victim types were founded. Response ranges for items addressing the frequency of bullying in both primary and secondary school ranged on a 5-point Likert-type scale from never (1) to constantly (5) and response ranges for items pertaining to the severity of bullying ranged from *I wasn't bullied* (1) to extremely serious (5). Adopted from Schäfer et al. (2004), a participant was considered a victim when they responded to an item that asked about the frequency of reported physical, verbal, and/or indirect bullying at the primary and/or secondary level with a *sometimes* (middle response item) or higher. Additionally, they needed to respond to items asking about the severity of physical, verbal, and/or indirect bullying at the primary and/or secondary level as quite serious or extremely serious. Higher raw scores on the RBQ reflected a higher frequency and greater severity of one's bullying experience. A participant was considered a non-victim if they answered in any other way on this measure, indicating they had minimal to no history of bullying victimization.

Upon examination of the bullying literature, there was evidence that it was not uncommon for researchers to revise or adapt retrospective bullying measures. For instance, Jantzer and Cashel (2017) utilized a revised version of the bullying and relationship scale for the purposes of their study. Similarly, Blood and Blood (2016) adapted the original RBQ (Schäfer et al., 2004) to add a cyber-bullying component to the questionnaire and Hunter et al. (2004) modified the RBQ by adding additional questions at the end pertaining to their specific research questions. Some researchers have been granted approval from the authors of the RBQ to translate it to a different language and omit items that did not pertain to what they were researching (Sesar et al., 2012). Given the purpose of the current research, the open-ended questions and items unrelated to the frequency and severity of bullying victimization experiences in primary or secondary school were omitted from the measure. Therefore, the current revision of the RBQ, the RBQ-Revised (RBQ-R; see Appendix B) included a total of 26 items (Likert-type and Yes/No questions) that covered the frequency, seriousness, and duration of physical, verbal, and indirect types of bullying victimization in primary and secondary school. The current research anticipated that participants might endorse more than one type of bullying victimization as bullied youth tended to experience more than one form across schooling (Sesar et al., 2012).

### Procedures

After obtaining Institutional Review Board approval in December of 2020 (see Appendix C), university undergraduate participants were recruited by way of convenience sampling in the following procedure.

## **Recruitment of College Students**

All participants who wished to participate in the study registered via the university's School of Psychological Sciences participant pool. Students were able to read a description of the study before signing up. Participants were asked to complete an online (Qualtrics) survey that included a set of three separate measures within one sitting and were informed that the instruments measured potentially stressful life experiences that occurred during their childhood and adolescence. The study's description also indicated the expected amount of time required to complete the survey (~20 minutes). Upon signing up for the survey study, participants were immediately presented with the link to the secure Qualtrics platform and survey. In other words,

as soon as they signed up, they were given access to the link connecting them to the Qualtrics platform to begin the survey at their earliest convenience. Participants were asked to find a quiet and private space to complete the survey within one sitting. They did not receive one research credit until the full survey was completed. Screening items were presented at the beginning of the Qualtrics survey (and before questionnaires were presented) asking for 'yes' or 'no' responses to the first three inclusionary criteria items. If a participant registered for the study but did *not* meet one or more of the three inclusion criteria (e.g., (a) I am 18-30 years old; (b) I was born in the United States; and (c) English is my first language), they were not presented with the questionnaires and were instead exited from the Qualtrics survey (without research credit granted).

Upon meeting the inclusionary criteria, participants were presented with a consent form that described the nature of the survey (see Appendix D), the participant's right to withdraw at any time without penalty, their right to skip questions, relevant risks and benefits of participation, and contact information for both on-campus and off-campus mental health services in case they felt upset or uncomfortable when working through the survey. They were also given a link to download the consent form for their own personal records. Participants were asked to either answer 'yes' or 'no' in terms of consent to participate in the study. If they denied consent (provided a 'no' response), they were exited from the surveys but they still received full research credit.

Participants who consented to participate in the survey study were taken to the demographics questionnaire page that asked for the aforementioned demographic information (see Appendix E). Following the brief demographic questionnaire, participants were able to access the RBQ-R and CTQ in that order. Upon completion of the last section of the survey,

participants were taken to a debriefing page and were presented once again with contact information for both on-campus and off-campus mental health services. This form also contained a link to download for personal records.

# **Protection and Confidentiality of Data**

The only piece of self-identifying information the participants were asked to provide was their birthdate. The purpose of the birthdate was simply to confirm that participants were at least 18 years old and younger than 31 years old. Participants were not asked to provide their name, university identifier number, or any other identifying information that accompanied their birthdate. Student information from the School of Psychological Sciences research pool system was not connected in any way to the Qualtrics survey. Once completed, each participant's data were coded under a single participant number. It was not possible to link the university student participants to their data in the file. In other words, each participant's name and any other selfidentifying information (including the birthdate) were not be included on any of the stored data. As a caveat, however, full confidentiality could not be guaranteed due to the electronic nature of the data collection process and the participant's ability to take the survey at any given time and in any given location. All data files will be deleted permanently from electronic storage upon completion and acceptance of the current scholarly manuscript.

#### **Research Design**

A cross-sectional, correlational research design was implemented as participants were asked to complete a survey at one point in time. Utilization of this specific research design was deemed appropriate because the aim was to examine the relationships among the variables presented in the research questions via multiple linear regressions (MLR) for Research Questions 2-4 and an independent samples *t*-test for Research Question 1. Moreover, those with non-bully victimization experiences, those with multiple forms of bullying victimization experiences (e.g., physical and verbal bullying), and those who were dually-neglected (reported a history of both emotional and physical neglect) were included in the analysis of each research question. Only data with significant patterns of missingness or validity concerns were excluded from analysis in the present research study.

### **Data Analyses**

Multiple linear regression was deemed an effective statistical procedure to analyze Research Questions 2-4. Multiple linear regression is especially useful in detecting the variable that accounted for the most variance and has the largest standardized regression coefficient along with determining what overall variance is being accounted for. It further allows researchers to investigate the individual and collective effects of one or more independent variables in relation to a dependent variable (Wampold & Freund, 1987). Furthermore, all dependent variables within each of the four research questions in the current study were continuous at the ratio level (either by a range of 6 to 30 or 2 to 10), which was a requirement for MLR conduction.

The assumptions of MLR included (a) Normality of the residuals (error is normally distributed), (b) Linearity (a linear relationship exists between the dependent and independent variables), (c) Homoscedasticity (homogeneous error variance across all values of the regression), and (d) Multicollinearity (independent variables are not highly correlated; Alexopoulos, 2010). All four assumptions were assessed via SPSS processes. Normality of the residuals was checked through examination of histograms or of a normal quantile-quantile plot (qq plot). Linearity was assessed through scatterplots and homoscedasticity from scatterplots of residuals versus predicted values. Finally, evidence of no multicollinearity was evaluated via correlation matrices (wanted to ensure the independent variables were not correlated higher

than .80) or variance inflation factor (VIF) values (Kelley & Maxwell, 2010). All MLR analyses were conducted at an alpha level of significance of .05.

Before conducting MLR analyses for Research Questions 2 through 4, important preliminary analyses were conducted. Frequencies were run on the data via SPSS (Version 25; IBM Corp., 2017) to examine the overall accuracy of the data. This included the identification of any patterns in the data such as patterns of missingness, out-of-range-values, skewness, kurtosis, and so forth. Descriptives were then run on the continuous variables (means, medians, standard deviations, and ranges) to make sure the values were reasonable. After running these preliminary analyses, assumptions of each procedure and methods of checking these assumptions were employed.

After assuring the assumptions for MLR were met, correlations were run to see how highly the demographic variables correlated with the dependent variable (s; bullying victimization) for each research question. It was possible that socioeconomic status (SES) would be significantly correlated with bullying victimization as it is a common substitute for poverty (e.g., Baum & Ruhm, 2009; Classen & Hokayem, 2005; Welsh et al., 2017; Zhang & Wang, 2004) and poverty is frequently confounded with childhood neglect (De Bellis, 2005). If significant relationships existed between the demographic variables (e.g., gender identity, SES, sexual orientation, etc.) and the dependent variable(s) in Research Questions 2-4, post-hoc analyses were conducted. The significantly correlated demographic variable(s) were entered as a block in step one of the SPSS procedure, removing all associated variance before running analyses to test each research question. From there, the dependent variable(s) were regressed onto the independent variables (emotional and physical neglect) within SPSS.

## **Analyses of Research Questions**

Q1 Is there a significant difference in childhood bullying victimization rates between people with a history of childhood neglect and people with a history of childhood non-maltreatment?

As is discussed at length in Chapter IV, limitations of the sample size collected in the present research commanded that the procedure for forming the groupings of independent variable groups in Research Question 1 be modified. The originally proposed method of addressing Research Question 1 (conceptualized in Figure 3) was as follows: the independent variable was to be measured by the raw scores within the emotional and physical neglect subscales of the CTQ and utilized to form two independent groupings of the independent variable. Both neglect subscales ranged from 5 to 25. The closer a raw score was to 25, the more severe the neglectful experience was for the respondent. For the purposes of the originally proposed research question, participants who reported positive histories of emotional and/or physical neglect and negative histories of physical, sexual, or emotional abuse were to be considered 'neglected.' Concurrently, those endorsing negative histories of both neglect and abuse were considered 'non-maltreated.' The non-maltreated group was intended to serve as a true control group, thereby strengthening the power of the study to determine how neglect specifically predicted the presence of bullying victimization. Data were not excluded from this study with the exception of data characterized by significant missingness and/or a significantly inconsistent response style (thus jeopardizing the reliability of the data). Therefore, respondents reporting positive histories of abuse and neglect (i.e., dually maltreated) and positive histories of abuse in and of itself (i.e., solely abused) had their data coded for potential post-hoc analyses.

## Figure 3

### Visual Representation of Research Question 1



The originally proposed analytical design of Research Question 1 was considered unique from Research Questions 2-4 as the purpose was to create two independent groupings of respondents: those who reported significant histories of childhood neglect (alongside a cooccurrence of non-significant abuse) versus those who reported an absence of significant childhood neglect (while also endorsing an absence of childhood abuse). This particular research question functioned to explore whether a sole history of neglect (absent of concurrent childhood abuse) was more likely to predict childhood bullying victimization than that of a nonmaltreatment history regardless of the influence of demographic variables. A range of neglectedness was not deemed to be an appropriate method of measuring the independent variable for the proposed research question (as it was in the remainder of the research questions) for it was feared the range would not adequately capture how 'true' child neglect interacted with bullying victimization. For this reason and to best meet the purpose of this research question as originally proposed, separate groupings of respondents who reported a sole history of neglect (in the absence of abuse) and those who reported zero history of neglect or abuse were formed for this research question only.

To form independent groups in the proposed design, moderate to severe cut scores provided by the CTQ were utilized to classify respondents as positive for a significant history of childhood maltreatment in that area. Moderate to severe thresholds within CTQ manual are defined as a score of 15-17 for the emotional neglect subscale and 10-12 for the physical neglect subscale. To control for a history of abuse, those who were to be classified as 'neglected' would have reported a score of 15 or higher on the emotional neglect subscale and/or a 10 or higher on the physical neglect subscale while also scoring below the moderate thresholds for each form of abuse. Scores of 10 and higher for physical abuse, 13 or higher for emotional abuse, and 8 or higher for sexual abuse were defined as the moderate to severe thresholds (Bernstein & Fink, 1998). For a detailed explanation of the creation of the modified groups that were formally utilized in Research Question 1 and the rationale for why they were used, please refer to Chapter IV.

Moreover, the dependent variable yielded by the RBQ-R was treated as continuous at the ratio level. Two 5-point Likert-type items addressed the frequency of each form of peer victimization (physical, verbal, indirect) within the RBQ-R. These two independent items (per bullying victimization type) were presented twice—once in the primary school section of the RBQ-R and again in the subsequent secondary school section. The primary and secondary school sections each contained one "Did this happen?" question per peer victimization type to assess for frequency estimates of each form of bullying. Each item was presented with five Likert-type response options: *never, rarely, sometimes, frequently,* and *constantly*. Each of these response options was coded with a value of 1 (*never*) to 5 (*constantly*). Given that there were six total frequency items with three per level of schooling (e.g., primary and secondary school), the RBQ-
R yielded a range of 6 to 30 with higher scores representing a greater frequency of bullying victimization in childhood and/or adolescence.

An independent samples *t*-test was conducted to test for any statistically significant differences that might have existed between two independent groups on the same dependent variable. The dependent variable (bullying victimization) was measured as a continuous variable as raw score sums ranged from 6 (not bullied) to 30 (constantly bullied) across primary and/or secondary levels of school. Along with this, the independent variable (presence of neglect) consisted of categorical and independent groupings (neglected and non-maltreated). The continuous nature of the dependent variable and the categorical nature of the independent variables suggested an independent samples *t*-test to be the most appropriate statistical procedure to conduct. Multiple linear regressions were conducted for Research Questions 2-4 but could not be utilized for this question as MLR required at least one independent variable to be continuous at the ratio or interval level.

Assumptions for an independent samples *t*-test included that of independence (no relationship between observations within or between groups should exist), outliers are not present (or are not significantly and negatively affecting results), normality (close to normal distribution of the dependent variable should exist upon each independent variable grouping), and homogeneity of variance (all groups have similar variance). Before running the analysis, assumptions were checked. The assumptions regarding outliers, normal distribution, and homogeneity of variances were all assessed via SPSS statistical software. Normality was analyzed with histograms, Q-Q plots, estimates of skewness/kurtosis, and the Shapiro-Wilk test of normality within SPSS, and homogeneity was measured with Levene's test.

61

To conduct an independent samples *t*-test, the continuous dependent variable was entered as a test variable and the categorical independent variable was selected as a grouping variable. Specified values of 1 and 2 were manually coded and utilized in step one of the SPSS procedure to define the groupings of the independent variable (neglect and non-maltreatment). For example, respondent scores at or above the moderate to severe threshold on the physical and/or emotional neglect subscale(s) of the CTQ and below the moderate to severe threshold in each form of abuse (physical, emotional, and sexual) were coded in group 1 ('neglected'; i.e., those who indicated a significant history of physical and/or emotional neglect). Furthermore, respondent scores below the moderate to severe threshold on the neglect and abuse subscales of the CTQ were coded in group 2 ('non-maltreated'; i.e., those who indicated a non-significant history of neglect and abuse). After running the analysis, *p*-values were analyzed to check for significant differences in bullying victimization between two groups (neglect and nonmaltreatment). It was noted that significant demographic variables were not controlled for in this specific research question as they were for Research Questions 2-4. However, if significant correlations were to exist amongst demographic variables and bullying victimization, potential post-hoc analyses were considered to better understanding these relationships.

Q2 To what extent does neglect type (physical and emotional) predict the *frequency* of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect)?

In addressing Research Question 2 (see Figure 4), each of the two independent variables (physical and emotional neglect) were measured by the sum of the raw scores within the emotional and physical neglect subscales of the CTQ. Both subscales ranged from 5 (indicative of an absence of childhood neglect) to 25 (indicative of extreme childhood neglect). The closer a raw score got to 25 on each scale, the more severe the neglectful experience was purported to be. Therefore, the independent variables were measured by the sum of each of the neglect subscale

scores indicated above with higher scores indicating more severe endorsement of childhood neglect (either physical or emotional). Descriptive analyses were conducted to see how a history of abuse correlated with each form of neglect. This particular question did not function to form groupings of those who were exclusively physically or emotionally neglected in childhood and, instead, used the full sample irrespective of other childhood maltreatment type(s) endorsed. The current research question was truly exploratory in nature as it aimed to investigate the associations between the retrospective endorsement of physical and emotional neglect (irrespective of a coinciding history of abuse) and the frequency of each form of bulling victimization in kindergarten through 12<sup>th</sup> grade.

#### Figure 4



Visual Representation of Research Question 2

In terms of measuring the dependent variable (frequency of different forms of bullying victimization), a similar system of recording total RBQ-R scores as seen in Research Question 1 was utilized. However, the specific effects of bullying victimization subtypes (physical, verbal, indirect) were analyzed for this particular question; therefore, the two frequency items related to each form of peer victimization within primary and secondary school were summed and analyzed. Since there were two 5-point Likert-type items pertaining to each form of school

victimization in the RBQ-R, a range of raw scores from 2 to 10 was yielded by each bullying victimization subtype. Each form of bullying victimization was effectively considered to be a 'subscale' of the RBQ-R with a range of 2-10 on each of the physical, verbal, and indirect bullying victimization subscales. The higher the score, the more frequent the specific type of bullying victimization was reported to occur. For instance, if a respondent answered the "Did this happen?" items pertaining to verbal bullying as *frequently* (4) during primary school and *constantly* (5) during secondary school, they reported a significant frequency of childhood verbal peer victimization (with a score of 9 out of 10). The sum of raw scores within each of the three bullying victimization subscales was collected to assess for significant relationships between variables.

Since Research Question 2 utilized two independent variables measured on a continuous scale (i.e., range of 5-25), and three dependent variables also measured on a continuous scale (i.e., range of 2-10), the conduction of three separate MLRs (one for each dependent variable) was utilized to examine how scores on each neglect subscale predicted scores on each bullying victimization subscale. After checking the assumptions of MLR, correlations were run to see how highly select demographic variables correlated with each dependent variable. Any significant relationships between demographic variables and dependent variables were entered into step one of the SPSS procedure and conducted within a post-hoc analysis, thereby removing all associated variance. From there, the independent variables (emotional and physical neglect) were regressed onto each level of the dependent variable within SPSS to differentiate which type of neglect predicted the frequency of each form of bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect). A *p* value of <.05 was used to determine statistical significance and *R*-squared ( $R^2$ ) values were analyzed to determine which variable(s) accounted for the most variance. Chapter

IV provides a more detailed account of the statistical procedures utilized for Research Question 2.

Q3 To what extent does neglect type (physical and emotional) predict the *severity* of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect)?

The purpose of this research question (see Figure 5) was to identify any unique associations that each form of neglect had on the perceived severity of each form of bullying victimization. Consistent with Research Question 2, the independent variables (physical and emotional neglect) were measured by the sum of the raw scores within the emotional and physical neglect subscales of the CTQ. Each subscale ranged from 5 (indicative of an absence of childhood neglect) to 25 (indicative of extreme childhood neglect). The closer a raw score was to 25 on each scale, the more severe the retrospectively reported neglectful experience. Again, those who experienced a concurrent history of abuse were included and descriptive analyses were conducted to better understand how these sources of trauma interacted. The difference between this research question and Research Question 2 related to the dimension of bullying experience being measured. Research Question 2 analyzed frequency estimates of bullying victimization, whereas Research Question 3 closely examined the severity of each form of bullying victimization in relation to each form of child neglect.

There were two "severity questions" for each of the three types of bullying victimization (physical, verbal, and indirect) on the RBQ-R. There was one severity question for each type in the primary school section and the same questions were repeated for the secondary school section. For example, to create a score for the severity of physical bullying, the severity of physical bullying rating (Likert-type from 1-5) under primary would be summed with the severity of physical bullying rating (Likert-type from 1-5) under secondary. The total severity of physical bullying subscale created by doing this should range from 2 to 10. Raw scores reaching

10 were indicative of extreme perceived severity of that particular form of childhood bullying victimization. Whereas, a raw score closer to the lower threshold of 2 was indicative of an absence of that particular form of bullying victimization or minimal perceived severity associated with the particular bullying victimization type being measured. As an example, if a participant endorsing a history of emotional neglect answered the severity item pertaining to physical peer victimization in primary school as *not at all* (2) and the same item in secondary school as *I wasn't bullied* (1), it would be suggested that the respondent's history of emotional neglect did not significantly predict a history of serious physical peer victimization.

#### Figure 5



Visual Representation of Research Question 3

Similar statistical procedures were employed as were for Research Question 2 as both questions utilized two independent variables measured on a continuous scale (i.e., range of 5-25) and three dependent variables were also measured on a continuous scale (i.e., range of 2-10). Three separate MLRs were conducted to address Research Question 3. As such, each independent variable (emotional and physical neglect) was regressed onto each of the three levels of the dependent variable to determine which type of neglect predicted the severity of each form of bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect). Post-hoc analyses were also run to control for significantly correlated demographic variables. Within the post-hoc, the independent variables were entered upon step two to examine how much variance they accounted for above and beyond the demographic variables. A *p* value of <.05 was used to determine statistical significance and  $R^2$  values were analyzed. For further information on the statistical procedure for Research Question 3, please refer to Chapter IV.

Q4 To what extent does physical and emotional neglect predict the *stability* (e.g., consistency over time) of bullying victimization across primary and secondary levels of school?

Research Question 4 provided another distinction between what analytical procedures were originally proposed and what was formally carried out in the current study. The modification to the statistical methodology as evidenced in Chapter IV was deemed appropriate due to limitations of the originally proposed statistical and conceptual design of Research Question 4. Further clarification and rationale can be found in Chapter IV.

The following information explains what was originally proposed and can be found as a post-hoc analysis in Chapter IV. The purpose of the originally proposed research question (see Figure 6) was to examine how a history of both physical and emotional neglect exclusively influenced the stability (e.g., chronicity or duration across levels of school) of peer victimization. Additionally, the level of school (primary versus secondary) where physically and emotionally neglected children were most likely to experience bullying victimization was to be explored. As seen in Research Questions 2 and 3, the independent variables of physical and emotional neglect were measured by the physical and emotional neglect subscales of the CTQ. Both subscales ranged from 5 (no history of neglect) to 25 (extreme history of neglect) and were analyzed irrespective of a concurrently reported history of childhood abuse. Additionally, a

categorical grouping variable measuring the level of school (primary school only and secondary school only) was included to examine relationships between physical and emotional neglect and bullying victimization rates across primary and secondary school.

## Figure 6

Visual Reproduction of Research Question 4



Stability of bullying victimization estimates was gathered via total raw scores for the frequency items of each form of peer victimization in both the primary and secondary school sections of the RBQ-R. As such, responses to the frequency items of physical, verbal, and indirect bullying victimization in primary and secondary school (a total of six 5-point Likert-type items) were measured at a continuous range of 6 to 30. A score at or close to 6 signified non-existent or non-stable peer victimization across school levels while a score closer to 30 indicated chronic bullying victimization across primary and secondary school.

As originally proposed, multiple linear regression was determined to be an appropriate statistical procedure to analyze Research Question 4 as it included two or more independent variables (with at least one being continuous), and one continuous dependent variable. At step one, all demographic variables that were significantly correlated with the dependent variable (bullying victimization measured on a scale of 6 to 30) were entered as a block, removing all associated variance before running the analysis. At step two, all independent variables would be entered into the analysis together. The independent variables in this research question were the physical and emotional neglect subscales of the CTQ (each ranging from 5 to 25) and the categorical grouping variable of school level (primary school only and secondary school only). Within step two, the dependent variable was regressed onto each of the independent variables. A *p* value of <.05 was used to determine statistical significance and  $R^2$  values were analyzed to determine which variable(s) accounted for the most variance. For further information regarding the updated procedures and post-hoc analyses for Research Question 4, please refer to Chapter IV.

#### CHAPTER IV

#### RESULTS

This chapter reports on the results of this study. The first section reviews the purpose of the current study and is followed by a section where the demographic characteristics of the sample are described. Next, the assumptions for the *t*-test statistic are tested and a *t*-test is conducted to answer Research Question 1. Then assumptions are tested for MLR and a series of MLRs are conducted to answer Research Questions 2-4. Finally, post-hoc analyses are described that further build upon the regression analyses by controlling for significant demographic variables.

#### **Review of Purpose**

The purpose of the present study was to add to the knowledge base for the cycle of victimization by retrospectively investigating the association of physical and emotional neglect with various forms and dimensions of bullying victimization in primary and secondary school. The current research was characterized as an exploratory study that aimed to understand the unique relationships existing between each form of neglect in the home and each type of bullying victimization in the school. The main goal of this research was to bring awareness to the potential influence of the cycle of victimization within the school setting. Through consideration of the current data and interpretations, it remains the ultimate intention of this research to promote preparedness in school-based support staff and other mental health providers when it comes to supporting neglected youths and the prevention of re-victimization by classmates. To

achieve this endeavor, participants completed several retrospective measures to investigate the main research questions of this study. The current sample is described in further detail below.

#### **Participants**

Data were collected over a six-month span from 01/20/2021 through 07/04/2021. The current study yielded a sample of 144 participants. Of the 144 participants, 24 were omitted (16.6%) from analysis for a variety of reasons. For example, participants who did not meet inclusion criteria, had similar response patterns throughout (e.g., the same response for each question), consented but did not answer any questions, or had missing data for the majority of either of the study's measures were omitted via listwise deletion. All other missing data were assessed as completely random via visual inspection; therefore, mean imputation was utilized for those who had 5% or less missing data (Parent, 2013). Only two participants' data required mean substitution and for only one item each.

Of the 120 participants included in the current analysis, 30 participants (25%) endorsed a history of moderate to severe neglect in childhood (emotional neglect, physical neglect, or a coexistence of both). Of the 30 participants who endorsed neglect, 26 of them concurrently endorsed at least one form of abuse, which accounted for 87% of neglected respondents and about 22% of the entire sample. Four of the 30 participants who reported histories of child neglect were 'purely neglected' (in the absence of moderate to severe abuse), making up roughly 13% of the neglected sample and 3% of the overall sample. This number was much lower than the present research hoped to collect. However, lower numbers of sole neglect in maltreatment research are not uncommon (Shields & Cicchetti, 2001; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019), especially when considering that self-reported estimates of childhood maltreatment tend

to be lower than that of court-substantiated cases (Negriff et al., 2017; Widom & Morris, 1997; Widom & Shepard, 1996).

When examining the 120 participants further, 22 participants endorsed experiencing only moderate to severe abuse during their childhoods (in the absence of moderate to severe neglect). Therefore, approximately 18% of the overall sample reported sole abuse prior to adulthood. These abuse and neglect estimates indicated that approximately 43% of the overall sample (52 out of 120 total participants) endorsed at least one form of childhood maltreatment (see Table 1). This percentage was considerably higher than the average childhood maltreatment base rate among college students (~30%) reported in the literature (Bachrach & Read, 2012; Duncan, 2000; Elliott et al., 2009; Freyd et al., 2001; Gibb et al., 2009; Hussey et al., 2006; Jordan et al., 2014; Welsh et al., 2017). A detailed description of the procedures used to determine moderate to severe childhood maltreatment and bullying victimization can be found in Chapter III: Methodology.

## Table 1

Maltreatment and Bullying Victimization Rates	n	%
Childhood Maltreatment		
Maltreated Total	52	43.3
Neglected Only	4	3.3
Abused Only	22	18.3
Dually Maltreated (Neglect & Abuse)	26	21.7
Not Maltreated Total	68	56.7
Bullying Victimization		
Bullied Total	62	51.6
Primary School Only	14	11.6
Secondary School Only	11	9.2
Dually Bullied (Primary & Secondary)	37	30.8
Not Bullied Total	58	48.3

Maltreatment and Victimization History of the Total Sample

#### **Demographics**

The demographic questionnaire collected information related to gender identity, age, race, mother's highest educational degree, and sexual orientation (see Table 2). Consistent with prior research utilizing undergraduate college populations (Barlow & Cromer, 2006; McCray et al., 2005), the majority of participants identified as female. Age was positively skewed as more participants reported being on the younger end of the 18–30-year-old age range for this study (M = 20, SD = 2.70). When answering the question regarding race, the demographic questionnaire originally included a "check all that apply" item. These responses were coded into five total response categories as seen in Table 2 with the majority of participants reporting to be predominantly White. Thirteen total participants endorsed two or more races and were coded within the "Multiple" category. This group was combined with the "Other" category, which encapsulated those who identified with a race that was not presented as an option. Only three participants responded with this option—one of them indicating they were predominantly Indian and two who did not type their response as to which race they identified.

# Table 2

Sample Characteristics	n	%
Gender Identity		
Female	80	66.7
Male	35	29.2
Non-binary/third gender/other	5	4.2
A go rongo		
	95	70.8
18-20	63 25	70.8
21-25	25	20.8
24-20	4	5.5
27-30	6	5
Race		
White	90	75
Black	5	4.2
Asian	3	2.5
Hispanic	6	5
Multiple & other <sup>a</sup>	16	13.3
Mother's Highest Educational Degree		
Less than high school degree	7	5.8
High school graduate to some college	,	
(but no college degree)	49	40.8
Associates degree to Bachelor's degree	10	20.5
(2–4-year college degree)	42	30.5
Masters to Doctoral degree	22	18.3
Sexual Orientation		
Heterosexual (straight)	87	72 5
Homosexual (gay)	7	5 8
Bisevual	21	17 5
Other	5	17.5

Demographic Characteristics for the Total Sample

<sup>a</sup> Multiple & other includes one participant who endorsed "Indian," 13 participants who endorsed more than one race, and 3 participants who endorsed "other."

The demographic variable of mother's highest degree originally included seven different response categories. The response options were 1 - *Less than high school degree*, 2 - *High school graduate (high school diploma or equivalent including GED)*, 3 - *Some college but no degree*, 4

- Associate degree in college (2-year), 5 - Bachelor's degree in college, 6 - Masters degree, and 7 - Doctoral degree or professional degree (PhD, MD, JD). This variable was recoded into four collapsed variables in order to maximize the size of each category as few participants reported their mother had less than a high school degree (n = 7) or a doctoral degree (n = 3). The demographic question regarding sexual orientation originally included five different response options. The last response option of *prefer not to say* was deleted as no participants responded with this option.

#### **Reliability of Measures**

Reliability estimates were calculated for instruments used to measure independent and dependent variables. The survey was completed by 120 participants. For the neglect subscales of the CTQ, the emotional neglect subscale consisted of five items ( $\alpha = .90$ ) and the physical neglect subscale consisted of five items ( $\alpha = .74$ ). For the bullying victimization subscales of the RBQ-R, each of the frequency and severity metrics consisted of two items per subscale. The frequency of bullying victimization was physical ( $\alpha = .80$ ), verbal ( $\alpha = .78$ ), and indirect ( $\alpha = .80$ ). The severity of bullying victimization was physical ( $\alpha = .80$ ), verbal ( $\alpha = .68$ ), and indirect  $\alpha = (.75)$ . Internal consistency estimates between .70 and .80 are considered to be acceptable while estimates between .60 and .70 are considered to be questionable" (Knapp & Mueller, 2010). However, given some of the scales included only two items, lower reliability estimates were to be expected. For the total frequency/stability of bullying victimization (dependent variable used in Research Questions 1 and 4), the scale consisted of six items and internal consistency was reported at  $\alpha = .88$ .

#### **Demographic and Dependent Variable Correlations**

To control for significantly correlated demographic variables as post-hoc analyses in Research Questions 2-4, all demographic variables and dependent variables were entered into the bivariate correlation procedure via SPSS. Pearson correlation values were computed across variables and can be referenced in Table 3. While the demographic variables of age, gender, and sexual orientation were statistically significant, multicollinearity was not considered to be problematic in the data unless variables correlated ".90 or higher" (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007, p. 90). For this reason, demographic variables were not controlled for in the present research. Posthoc analyses were conducted to investigate how much variance age, gender identify, and sexual orientation accounted for in bullying victimization.

#### Table 3

Variables Gender ID Sex Orient Mom Deg Age Race .257\*\* -.024 .333\*\* -.046 Freq of Phys BV .074 Freq of Ver BV .327\*\* .384\*\* -.007 .102 .105 Freq of Ind BV .216\* .270\*\* .067 .349\*\* .027 Sev of Phys BV .263\*\* .242\*\* -.013 -.018 -.160 Sev of Ver BV .234\* .208\* .082 .358\*\* -.153 .331\*\* .368\*\* Sev of Ind BV .184\* .115 -.082 .305\*\* .094 .411\*\* -.005 Tot Stab BV .151 Tot Prim BV .284\*\* .129\* .068 .392\*\* .049 Tot Sec BV .288\*\* .092 .108 .378\*\* -.057

Pearson Correlation Values of Demographic Variables and Dependent Variables Entered Into Research Questions 2-4

\*\* p < 0.01 (2-tailed); \* p < .05 (2-tailed); N = 120

*Note.* Freq = Frequency, Sev = Severity, Phys = Physical, Ver = Verbal, Ind = Indirect, BV = Bullying Victimization, Tot = Total, Stab = Stability, Prim = Primary, Sec = Secondary

#### Results

Q1 Is there a significant difference in childhood bullying victimization rates between people with a history of childhood neglect and people with a history of childhood non-maltreatment?

The initial goal of this study was to over-sample in hopes of collecting a sufficiently large-sized 'purely neglected' sample. However, the current research yielded only a 3% prevalence rate of pure neglect in the entire sample of 120 participants. Due to this low percentage, the study included participants with self-reported histories of moderate to severe neglect (emotional and/or physical) in the neglected group even if they also endorsed a history of moderate to severe abuse. Only participants who endorsed scores below the moderate threshold on the neglect and abuse subscales of the CTQ were included in the non-maltreated group. This revised grouping resulted in 30 participants in the neglect group and 68 in the non-maltreatment group. For Research Question 1, the 'neglect' group consisted of those who were solely neglected (n = 4) combined with those who endorsed neglect with concurrent abuse (n = 26).

Prior to running the two tailed *t*-test to determine if these two groups were significantly different, the data were examined to exclude participants who were solely abused (n = 22). Therefore, the neglect group (n = 30) and non-maltreatment group (n = 68) were included for analysis of Research Question 1. Due to exclusion of the 22 solely abused participants and complete omission of 24 participants' data prior to analysis, the total sample size for the present *t*-test analysis was reported to be 98 participants, which fell below the recommended power analysis sample size. This posed a potential limitation as smaller than recommended sample sizes could result in lower statistical power and a reduced ability to detect a true difference between groups (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Results of this *t*-test should be considered within the context of this limitation.

Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were tested through IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 27). Screenings for the presence of significant outliers also occurred. The skewness and kurtosis values of frequency of bullying victimization (dependent variable) was reported to be .76 and .014, respectively. These values were satisfactory and indicated an absence of evidence for prominent non-normality, which was supported by an observation of reasonable symmetry within the normal Q-Q and histogram plots. Potential outliers were screened via boxplots and none were determined to be extreme. A two-tailed independent samples *t*-test was conducted to determine whether a difference in overall bullying victimization rates existed between neglected and non-maltreated participant groups. The Levene's test for equality of variances reflected differences between the neglect group (M = 16.233, SD = 6.339) and the non-maltreated group (M = 11.235, SD = 3.841), indicating the variance between the two groups was not homogenous (F = 12.077, p = <.001). This difference was further supported by a T-test comparing the mean scores of the non-maltreatment group with the neglect group, t(96) =4.998, p = <.001, 95% CI [2.474, 7.522], Cohen's d = 4.736. Consequently, the null hypothesis stating the means for the two groups were equal was rejected, suggesting those with histories of child neglect were significantly more likely to report bullying victimization than those who reported to be non-maltreated.

# Q2 To what extent does neglect type (physical and emotional) predict the frequency of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect)?

To test the assumptions of MLR in Research Question 2, the full sample of data was first screened for any potential collinearity by analyzing squared multiple correlations between each variable and the others included in the analysis for values larger than .80 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Skew and kurtosis values greater than the absolute values of 2 and 7, respectively, were considered potential indicators of deviations from the assumption of multivariate normality

(Hoyle, 1995). The independent variables entered into the correlational analysis were the emotional and physical neglect scales of the CTQ and the dependent variables entered were the frequency of the physical, verbal, and indirect bullying victimization subscales of the RBQ-R. Values reported by the correlation matrix for Research Question 2 are provided in Table 4.

# Table 4

Variable M SD 1 2 3 4 3   1. CTQ Emotional Neglect 9.93 4.51 — — — — — — — 3. CTQ Physical Neglect 7.10 2.98 .528** — — — — 3. RBQ-R Freq of Physical BV 3.08 1.65 .188* .363** — … — … <	5
1. CTQ Emotional Neglect 9.93 4.51 —   2. CTQ Physical Neglect 7.10 2.98 .528** —   3. RBQ-R Freq of Physical BV 3.08 1.65 .188* .363** —	
2. CTQ Physical Neglect 7.10 2.98 .528** —   3. RBQ-R Freq of Physical BV 3.08 1.65 .188* .363** —	
3. RBQ-R Freq of Physical BV 3.08 1.65 .188* .363** —	
4. RBQ-R Freq of Verbal BV 4.74 2.24 .273** .212* .610** —	
5. RBQ-R Freq of Indirect BV 5.38 2.34 .307** .239** .500** .761** -	

Correlation Coefficients for Study Variables in Research Question 2

*Note*. \*\* p < 0.01 (2-tailed); \* p < .05 (2-tailed); *N* = 120

Correlation coefficients presented in Table 4 reflected an absence of multicollinearity across independent variables in the regression model. To corroborate these results, variance inflation factors (VIFs) were calculated to assess the strength of the correlation and whether corrective measures needed to be implemented. Per Tabachnick and Fidell (2007), a VIF value of 1 indicated no correlation between the particular independent variable and any other variables while a VIF value between 1 and 5 implied a moderate correlation, although not severe enough to demand corrective measures. Once a VIF value reached greater than 5, critical levels of multicollinearity were present, suggesting the coefficients were poorly estimated and the *p*-values could not be trusted (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). The VIF values for Research Question 2 were each reported at 1.39, suggesting moderate correlations. Henceforth, multicollinearity

was not significantly affecting these variables, rendering the coefficient and *p*-value reliable. Normality of the residuals was assessed through examination of the histograms and normal probability plots. Linearity was assessed through scatterplot inspection and homoscedasticity from scatterplots of residuals versus predicted values. Analysis of residuals and scatterplots suggested an absence of significant deviation from the assumptions of normality, linearity, independence of residuals, or homoscedasticity in the current data. Standardized residuals for this analysis ranged from -2.665 to 5.346 for the frequency of physical bullying victimization, -4.526 to 5.953 for frequency of verbal bullying victimization, and -5.478 to 5.181 for frequency of indirect bullying victimization.

Three separate multiple linear regressions were computed as part of the analysis for Research Question 2—one for each of the three forms of bullying victimization. In the first regression, emotional neglect and physical neglect were regressed onto frequency of physical bullying victimization,  $R^2 = .132$ , F(2, 117) = 8.90, p = < .001. Results reflected a significant relationship between different types of neglect and the frequency of physical bullying victimization. The effect size ( $R^2$ ) value of .132 indicated that emotional and physical neglect explained 13.2% of the variance in the frequency of physical bullying victimization. The individual predictors were further examined and suggested that physical neglect (B = .203, t =3.612, p = < .001) was a significant predictor in the model, uniquely accounting for 9.67% of the variance while emotional neglect (B = -.002, t = -.058, p = .954) was not and accounted for 0% percent of the variance.

Results of the second MLR among emotional neglect, physical neglect, and the frequency of verbal bullying victimization indicated a significant effect as well,  $R^2 = .081$ , F(2, 117) = 5.15, p = .007. Per the effect size, it was reported that emotional and physical neglect explained 8.1%

of the variance in the frequency of verbal bullying victimization. Examination of the individual predictors indicated that emotional neglect (B = .111, t = 2.145, p = .034) was a significant predictor in the model, uniquely accounting for 3.61% of the variance but physical neglect (B = .070, t = .894, p = .373) was not and accounted for only 0.62% of the variance.

The final multiple linear regression conducted within Research Question 2 yielded a significant effect ( $R^2 = .103$ , F(2,117) = 6.69, p = .002) among emotional neglect, physical neglect, and the frequency of indirect bullying victimization. The reported effect size suggested that emotional and physical neglect explained 10.3% of the variance in the frequency of indirect bullying victimization. It was found that only emotional neglect significantly predicted frequency of indirect bullying victimization (B = .130, t = 2.433, p = .016) as it accounted uniquely for 4.54% of the variance. Physical neglect was not a significant predictor (B = .084, t = 1.032, p = .304) and accounted for only 0.81% of the variance.

Q3 To what extent does neglect type (physical and emotional) predict the severity of each form of school bullying victimization (physical, verbal, indirect)?

Similar analyses were used to test assumptions of MLR for Research Question 3 as were used for Research Question 2. Potential collinearity was assessed via analysis of squared multiple correlations among each variable in the model. The independent variables entered into the correlational analysis were the emotional and physical neglect scales of the CTQ and the dependent variables entered were the severity of the physical, verbal, and indirect bullying victimization subscales of the RBQ-R. Table 5 provides values reported by the correlation matrix for Research Question 3. Correlation coefficients reflected an absence of significant multicollinearity across variables in the regression model as evidenced by correlation values less than .80 and VIF values of 1.39 (indicative of moderate correlations) across both independent variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Examination of the histograms and normal probability

plots indicated an absence of significant deviations from normality, linearity, independence of residuals, or homoscedasticity in the current data. The lone exception was in examination of the histogram for the severity of physical bullying victimization (i.e., the first MLR procedure referenced below) as it reflected some kurtosis, a notable spike, and positively skewed data.

# Table 5

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5
1. CTQ Emotional Neglect	9.93	4.51					
2. CTQ Physical Neglect	7.10	2.98	.528**				
3. RBQ-R Sev of Physical BV	3.68	2.13	.163	.242**			
4. RBQ-R Sev of Verbal BV	4.79	1.99	.241**	.158	.685**		
5. RBQ-R Sev of Indirect BV	5.08	2.02	.289**	.157	.543**	.768**	

Correlation Coefficients for Study Variables in Research Question 3

\*\* p < 0.01 (2-tailed); N = 120

One potential outlier was flagged as part of the SPSS Case-Wise Diagnostics when running the first MLR utilizing the dependent variable of severity of physical bullying victimization. However, the standardized residual value remained at an acceptable level of 3.25 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007), indicating it was not significantly skewing the results. Standardized residuals for Research Question 3 analysis ranged from -2.617 to 6.717 for severity of physical bullying victimization, -3.708 to 4.599 for severity of verbal bullying victimization, and -4.133 to 4.422 for severity of indirect bullying victimization.

Three separate MLRs were computed as part of the research analysis for Research Question 3. In the first regression, emotional neglect and physical neglect were regressed onto the severity of physical bullying victimization,  $R^2 = .060$ , F(2, 117) = 3.75, p = .026. Results were indicative of a significant relationship between emotional and physical neglect and the severity of physical bullying victimization. The effect size value of .060 indicated that both forms of neglect explained 6% of the variance in the severity of physical bullying victimization. Upon examination of the individual predictors, it was suggested that physical neglect (B = .155, t= 2.052, p = .042) was a significant predictor in the model, accounting uniquely for 3.39% of the variance while emotional neglect (B = .023, t = .456, p = .650) was not and accounted for only 0.17% of the variance.

As part of the second MLR conducted within Research Question 3, emotional and physical neglect were regressed onto the severity of verbal bullying victimization,  $R^2 = .059$ , F(2, 117) = 3.69, p = .028. A significant relationship was present between emotional and physical neglect and the severity of verbal bullying victimization. Per the effect size value ( $R^2 = .059$ ), it was reported that both emotional and physical neglect explained approximately 6% of the variance in the dependent variable (i.e., the severity of verbal bullying victimization). In considering the individual predictors, it was determined that emotional neglect was the only significant predictor in the model (B = .096, t = 2.067, p = .041), uniquely accounting for 3.42% of the variance. Physical neglect was not deemed to be a significant predictor (B = .029, t = .406, p = .685) as it accounted for only 0.13% of the variance.

The final MLR conducted within Research Question 3 regressed emotional and physical neglect onto the severity of indirect bullying victimization,  $R^2 = .084$ , F(2, 117) = 5.332, p = .006. Results reflected an even stronger relationship between both forms of neglect and the severity of indirect bullying victimization than was reported between both forms of neglect and the severity of physical, verbal, or indirect bullying victimization. It was reported that emotional

and physical neglect accounted for roughly 8% of the variance ( $R^2 = .084$ ) in the model with emotional neglect being the only independent variable to uniquely contribute to the outcome of the variance by 5.90% (B = .128, t = 2.744, p = .007). Moreover, physical neglect was not determined to be a significant predictor in the model (B = .004, t = .054, p = .957) as it accounted for 0% of the variance.

Q4 To what extent does physical and emotional neglect predict the *stability* (e.g., consistency over time) of bullying victimization across primary and secondary levels of school?

During the proposal meeting, a statistical procedure was offered to answer the above research question that was recognized as confounding the independent variable, 'Level of School,' and the dependent variable, 'Chronicity of BV' (see Figure 6). In essence, the same construct (i.e., the frequency of bullying victimization metric) was being measured in both variables. First, findings are reported from a statistical lens that was more conceptually appropriate to answer Research Question 4 (see Figure 7) and then as a post-hoc analysis, results of the initially proposed regression analysis are reported. Conceptually, the proposed analysis did not provide meaningful information to the overall study and the current, restructured analysis was conducted to explore aspects that might be deemed more applicable to the intended purpose of Research Question 4, which was to explore aspects of neglect that were more directly related to a stable history of bullying victimization.

#### Figure 7





The present analysis employed two newly created bullying victimization scales used as dependent variables in separate MLR procedures. The first dependent variable was the Total Primary Bullying Victimization scale, which was created by summing the scores of all frequency and severity items of each form of bullying victimization in primary school (six total items on the RBQ) that resulted in a range of scores from 6 to 30, with higher scores suggesting greater bullying victimization. The second dependent variable was termed the Total Secondary Bullying Victimization scale that summed all frequency and severity estimates across each form of bullying victimization in secondary school (six total items on the RBQ; ranging from 6 to 30). The higher the number in each scale, the greater the impact of bullying victimization during one or both levels of school. All VIF, standardized residual statistics, correlational values between variables, histograms, and scatterplots looked normal, suggesting an absence of significant deviations from the assumptions of MLR.

In the first regression, the predictor variables of emotional and physical neglect were regressed onto the first outcome variable (i.e., Total Primary BV), F(2, 117) = 8.759, p = <.001. A significant relationship between both the various forms of neglect and bullying victimization in primary school was identified with 13% of the variance in the outcome explained by both

forms of neglect ( $R^2 = .130$ ). Examination of the individual predictors suggested that emotional neglect (B = .260, t = 2.107, p = .037) was a significant contributor to the model, uniquely accounting for 3.3% of the variance while physical neglect approached but did not reach significance at the alpha level of .05 (B = .365, t = 1.957, p = .053) and accounted for 2.9% of the variance in the model.

Within the second regression, emotional and physical neglect were regressed onto the Total Secondary Bullying Victimization variable and yielded a significant relationship, F(2, 117) = 3.675, p = .028. The effect size ( $R^2$ ) value of .059 indicated that both forms of neglect explained roughly 6% of the variance in total bullying victimization in secondary school. It was reported that neither emotional neglect (B = .222, t = 1.698, p = .092) nor physical neglect (B = .178, t = .897, p = .371) were significant predictors in the model, uniquely accounting for 2.3% and 0.64% of the variance, respectively. Assumptions for MLR were checked and did not flag any significant deviations.

#### **Post-Hoc Analyses**

As post-hoc analyses, significantly correlated demographic variables were controlled in each statistical process through a hierarchical multiple regression (HMR) analysis. The demographic variables of age and sexual orientation were significantly correlated with each outcome variable while the demographic variable of gender identity was significantly correlated with only a few outcome variables (i.e., frequency of indirect BV, severity of verbal BV, severity of indirect BV, and total primary BV). Therefore, HMR analyses were conducted within Research Questions 2-4 to control for each of the significantly correlated demographic variables. The statistical procedure and assumptions for HMR were consistent with MLR with the main distinction being that the demographic variables of note (covariates that were to be controlled for) were loaded into the first blocks of the procedure. The predictor variables (emotional and physical neglect) were then loaded into the final block of the procedure. Recoding of the following demographic variables took place to transform them from multi-categorical to categorical variables: gender (male = 0, female = 1) and sexual orientation (heterosexual = 0, bisexual/gay/other = 1). Five participants identified as non-binary/third gender/other. Given the low number, these participants were excluded from analysis in the HMR procedures, given a total sample size (N) of 115 for the HMR designs described below.

#### **Post-Hoc for Research Question 2**

The first hierarchical design was employed using four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted Frequency of Physical BV from the demographic variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the demographic variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the demographic variable of age, and (d) Step 4 added the independent variables of emotional and physical neglect scales. For each of the three HMR procedures conducted for this post-hoc analyses, all demographic variables were entered individually into separate blocks of the HMR design as opposed to entering all demographic variables into block 1 simultaneously in order to explore how much variance in the Frequency of BV was uniquely accounted for by the individual predictors. Step 1 did not account for a significant amount of variance, F(1,113) = .155, p = .694,  $R^2 = .001$ . The addition of sexual orientation significantly increased the variance accounted for in Frequency of Physical BV, F(1,112) = 12.429, p = <.001 and accounted for 10% of the total variance ( $R^2$ = .100). The addition of age significantly increased the variance accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 5.845, p = .017 and accounted for additional variation of roughly 5% ( $R^2 = .045$ ). The final step added emotional and physical neglect to the model and significantly increased the variance in the Frequency of Physical BV, F(2,109) = 6.568, p = .002. The overall model explained an additional 9% of the variance in the outcome ( $R^2 = .092$ ).

The second hierarchical design was conducted using four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted the Frequency of Verbal BV from the variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the variable of Sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the variable of age, and (d) Step 4 added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect. Step 1 did not account for a significant amount of variance, F(1,113) = 1.549, p = .216,  $R^2 = .014$ . The addition of sexual orientation significantly increased the variance accounted for in Frequency of Verbal BV, F(1,112) = 13.686, p = <.001 as it accounted for roughly 11% of the variation ( $R^2 = .107$ ). The addition of age in Step 3 significantly increased the variance the variance ( $R^2 = .097$ , ~ 10%) and accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 13.714, p = <.001. The final step did not account for a significant amount of additional variance in the Frequency of Verbal BV when entering all predictors into the design, F(2,109) = 1.797, p = .171,  $R^2 = .025$ .

The third hierarchical analysis consisted of four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted the Frequency of Indirect BV from the demographic variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the demographic variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the demographic variable of age, and (d) Step 4 added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect. Step 1 accounted for a significant amount of variance, F(1,113) = 5.871, p = .017, explaining approximately 5% of the variation in the outcome ( $R^2 = .049$ ). The addition of sexual orientation also produced a significant result, F(1,112) = 7.025, p = .009, and added another 6% of variance explained ( $R^2$ = .056) in the Frequency of Indirect BV. The addition of age significantly increased the variation accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 5.828, p = .017, by approximately 5% more than was accounted for in Step 2 ( $R^2 = .045$ ). The final step added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect and accounted for a non-significant amount of increased variance explained, F(2,109) = 2.400, p = .096,  $R^2 = .036$ .

The assumptions of the HMR analysis were tested as they would be in a typical MLR analysis. Multicollinearity was screened via examination of correlations between variables entered into the model and VIF statistics. There were no concerns with multicollinearity as all values were within the expected ranges. Standardized residuals for the current analyses ranged from -1.833 to 2.849 in HMR 1, -2.002 to 2.783 in HMR 2, and -2.097 to 2.889 in HMR 3. The maximum Cook's Distance values for HMR 1 (.126), HMR 2 (.107), and HMR 3 (.133) were not flagged as surpassing a value of 1.0. Examination of the histograms, scatterplots, and normal P-P plot reflected acceptable patterns in HMR 2 and 3. In HMR 1, a notable spike was observed in the data and the normal P-P plot denoted greater deviations from the line of fit in HMR 1 than was observed in HMRs 2 and 3.

#### **Post-Hoc for Research Question 3**

The first hierarchical design was employed using four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted Severity of Physical BV from the demographic variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the demographic variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the demographic variable of age, and (d) Step 4 added the independent variables of emotional and physical neglect scales. For each of the three HMR procedures conducted for this post-hoc, all demographic variables were entered individually into separate blocks of the HMR design as opposed to entering all demographic variables into block 1 simultaneously in order to explore how much variance in the Severity of BV was uniquely accounted for by the individual predictors. All VIF, standardized residual statistics, correlational values between variables, histograms, and scatterplots looked normal, suggesting an absence of significant deviations from the assumptions of HMR. Step 1, including gender, did not account for a significant amount of variance in the outcome, F(1,113) = .016, p = .900,  $R^2 = .000$ . The addition of sexual orientation significantly increased the variance accounted for in the Severity of Physical BV, F(1,112) = 5.897, p = .017, and accounted for 5% of the total variance ( $R^2 = .050$ ). The addition of age significantly increased the variance accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 7.278, p = .008, and accounted for additional variation of roughly 6% ( $R^2 = .058$ ). The final step added emotional and physical neglect to the model and did not result in a statistically significant, incremental amount of variance to the outcome, F(2,109) = 2.476, p = .089,  $R^2 = .039$ .

The second HMR was conducted using four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted the Severity of Verbal BV from the variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the variable of age, and 4) Step 4 added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect. Step 1 accounted for a significant amount of variance, F(1,113) = .5.671, p = .019, explaining approximately 5% of the variation in the outcome ( $R^2 = .048$ ). The addition of sexual orientation significantly increased the variance accounted for in Severity of Verbal BV, F(1,112) = 9.268, p = .003, as it accounted for over 7% of the variance ( $R^2 = .073$ ). The addition of age in Step 3 significantly increased the variance ( $R^2 = .058$ , ~ 6%) and was accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 7.904, p = .006. The final step did not account for a statistically significant amount of additional variance in the Severity of Verbal BV when entering all predictors into the design, F(2, 109) = .630, p = .535,  $R^2 = .009$ .

The third hierarchical analysis consisted of four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted the Severity of Indirect BV from the demographic variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the demographic variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the demographic variable of age, and 4) Step 4 added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect. Block 1 accounted for a significant amount of variance, F(1,113) = 14.845, p = <.001, explaining approximately 11% of the variation in the outcome ( $R^2 = .049$ ). The addition of sexual orientation also yielded a significant result, F(1,112) = 10.936, p = .001, and added another 8% of variance explained ( $R^2 = .079$ ) in the Severity of Indirect BV. The addition of age significantly increased the variation accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 6.951, p = .010, by approximately 5% more than was accounted for in Step 2 ( $R^2 = .047$ ). The final step added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect and accounted for a non-significant amount of incremental variance explained, F(2,109) = 1.760, p = .177,  $R^2 = .024$ .

## **Post-Hoc for Research Question 4**

To answer Research Question 4 as proposed, an HMR was conducted whereby a dummy coded 'level of education' variable (i.e., 1 for BV in only primary school, 0 for BV in only secondary school) was introduced as an independent variable in block one with bullying victimization across primary and secondary levels considered to be the reference group. Those who were initially coded as not-bullied were excluded from analysis in the current procedure, leaving 48 participants to be included for this analysis. This sample size was much smaller than power analyses recommended for the MLR procedure, which was a notable limitation of the present post-hoc analysis. The independent variables of emotional and physical neglect derived from the CTQ were then entered into Block 2 of the HMR procedure. The Chronicity of BV variable was entered as the dependent variable in the analysis and was formed by summing the frequency scores of each form of bullying victimization across primary and secondary school levels (for a range of 6-30). The way in which the Chronicity of BV was calculated led to another unintentional limitation as it was not possible to ascertain true stability across school levels. For example, a higher score might imply bullying victimization across both levels (i.e.,

chronic) but it was also possible that someone might have a comparable score when reporting severe BV at only the primary or secondary level (i.e., not chronic).

The assumptions of the HMR analysis were tested as they would be in a typical MLR analysis. Multicollinearity was screened via examination of correlations between variables entered into the model and VIF statistics. There were no concerns with multicollinearity as all values were within the expected ranges. Standardized residuals for the current analysis ranged from -1.438 to 2.388 and the maximum Cook's Distance value (.098) was not flagged as surpassing a value of 1.0. Examination of the histogram and normal P-P plot reflected acceptable patterns while the scatterplot denoted a bimodal distribution.

Results of the analysis reflected that level of school accounted for 44% of the variance in the outcome ( $R^2 = .440$ ) within model 1. It was reported that the forms of neglect explained very little variance in the outcome ( $R^2 = .026$ ) via model 2. Both primary (B = -5.736, t = -4.122, p = < .001) and secondary (B = -5.786, t = -4.689, p = < .001) levels of school in which bullying victimization occurred contributed unique variance to the overall model while emotional neglect (B = 0.15, t = .124, p = .902) and physical neglect (B = .194, t = 1.217, p = .230) did not.

# **Controlling for Demographic Variables in Updated Research Question 4**

In the updated statistical procedure to answer Research Question 4, significantly correlated demographic variables were controlled for in the analysis of each dependent variable through separate HMR analysis. Assumptions of HMR were evaluated in the same manner as previously described and were found to be reasonably met. The first HMR was conducted using four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted the Total Primary School BV from the demographic variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the demographic variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the demographic variable of age, and (d) Step 4 added the predictor variables of emotional and

physical neglect scales. For both of the HMR procedures employed in this post-hoc, all demographic variables were entered individually into separate blocks of the HMR design instead of entering all demographics collectively into Block 1. The inclusion of gender in Step 1 did not account for a significant amount of variance in the outcome, F(1,113) = 3.216, p = .076,  $R^2 = .028$ . The addition of sexual orientation significantly increased the variance accounted for in the Total Primary School BV, F(1,112) = 9.140, p = .003, and accounted for 10% of the total variance ( $R^2 = .101$ ). The addition of age significantly increased the variance accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 8.030, p = .005, and accounted for additional variation of roughly 16% ( $R^2 = .162$ ). The final step added the predictor variables of emotional and physical neglect to the model and resulted in a significant, incremental amount of variance of almost 23% to the outcome, F(2,109) = 4.624, p = .012,  $R^2 = .227$ .

The last HMR consisted of four blocks: (a) Step 1 predicted the Total Secondary School BV from the demographic variable of gender, (b) Step 2 added the demographic variable of sexual orientation, (c) Step 3 added the demographic variable of age, and (d) Step 4 added the independent variables of emotional and physical neglect. Block 1 accounted for a non-significant amount of variance explained at 2.9%, F(1,113) = 3.327, p = .071,  $R^2 = .029$ . The addition of sexual orientation yielded a significant result, F(1,112) = 14.996, p = <.001, and added another 14% of variance explained ( $R^2 = .143$ ) in Total Secondary School BV. The addition of age significantly increased the variation accounted for in the outcome, F(1,111) = 12.067, p = <.001, by approximately 23% more than was accounted for in Step 2 ( $R^2 = .227$ ). The final step added the predictors of emotional and physical neglect and accounted for a non-significant amount of incremental variance explained, F(2,109) = .894, p = .412,  $R^2 = .240$ .

# Further Examination of Post-Hoc Analyses

Interpretation of the post-hoc analyses reflected that the demographic variables of sexual orientation and age accounted for a significant amount of variance in (a) the Frequency and Severity of Physical, Verbal, and Indirect BV and (b) the Total Primary and Secondary School BV. The possible range of values for the frequency and severity of each form of BV was from 2-10 and the possible range of values of Total and Secondary School BV was from 6-30. Gender accounted for a significant amount of variance in the frequency and severity of Indirect BV and the Severity of Verbal BV only. Females (M = 5.64, SD = 2.26) reported more frequent indirect BV than males (M = 4.51, SD = 2.34). Although only five participants identified as non-binary, third gender, or other gender identity, these participants reported even greater frequencies (M =7.20, SD = 1.79) of indirect BV than did males and females while severity estimates (M =5.80, SD = 0.45) of indirect BV were consistent with female ratings. Similarly, females (M =5.51, SD = 1.99) endorsed greater severity of indirect BV incidents than did male counterparts (M = 4.00, SD = 1.81). In terms of verbal BV, females (M = 5.06, SD = 2.02) and those who identified as non-binary/third gender/other (M = 5.20, SD = 1.643) indicated greater severity of BV incidents than did males (M = 4.11, SD = 1.83).

The demographic variable of sexual orientation was also analyzed in relation to the various forms and dimensions of bullying victimization. When examining the Frequency of Physical BV, those who identified as gay, bisexual, or other orientation (M = 3.85, SD = 2.21), reported greater average rates of victimization in comparison to those who identified as straight or heterosexual (M = 2.79, SD = 1.29). When breaking down sexual orientation in relation to the Frequency of Physical BV, the seven participants who reported to be gay (M = 3.14, SD = 1.95), 21 participants who reported to be bi-sexual (M = 3.76, SD = 2.12), and the five participants

who reported other (M = 5.20, SD = 2.78) endorsed higher rates of physical victimization on average. In relation to the Severity of Physical BV, those who identified as gay, bisexual, or other (M = 4.33, SD = 2.33) reported greater average rates of physical victimization than did those who identified as straight (M = 3.43, SD = 2.01). Participants who identified as gay actually reported lower severity rates (M = 3.14, SD = 1.95) in comparison to those who identified as straight while those who identified as bi-sexual (M = 4.43, SD = 2.36) and other (M = 5.60, SD = 2.30) reported higher average severity rates.

In terms of verbal bullying victimization, those who identified as gay/bisexual/other (M = 5.91, SD = 2.40) reported more frequent rates of verbal victimization than did those who identified as straight (M = 4.30, SD = 2.02). More specifically, those who identified as gay (M = 4.14, SD = 2.27) reported consistent frequency of BV experiences as those who identified as straight; however, those who identified as bisexual (M = 6.10, SD = 2.14) and other (M = 7.60, SD = 2.51) reported much more frequent verbal BV experiences. A similar pattern was observed in relation to the severity of verbal BV as those who identified as gay/bisexual/other (M = 5.76, SD = 2.00) reported greater severity of verbal victimization experiences than those who identified as straight (M = 4.43, SD = 1.87). Consistent with the frequency of verbal BV, those who identified as bi-sexual (M = 6.14, SD = 1.88) and other (M = 6.60, SD = 1.67) reported much more severe verbal BV experiences than those who identified as gay (M = 4.00, SD = 1.73) and straight.

When examining the frequency and severity of indirect BV, those who endorsed a sexual orientation of gay/bisexual/other (M = 6.55, SD = 2.37) reported more frequent indirect BV on average when compared to those who identified as straight (M = 4.93, SD = 2.18). Those who endorsed 'other' sexual orientation (M = 8.40, SD = 2.07) were more likely to report frequent

indirect BV over those who identified as gay (M = 5.71, SD = 1.89) or bisexual (M = 6.38, SD = 2.44). Furthermore, similar patterns were observed in relation to the severity of indirect BV as those who identified as gay/bisexual/other (M = 6.21, SD = 1.92) reported more severe indirect BV experiences than those who identified as straight (M = 4.66, SD = 1.89). Greater severity of indirect BV was reported by those who identified with a sexual orientation of 'other (M = 7.00, SD = 1.00) as compared to those who identified as gay (M = 5.43, SD = 1.81) or bisexual (M = 6.21, SD = 1.96).

The outcome variables of primary and secondary school BV were also examined within this study. An investigation into the role of sexual orientation and BV in Primary School yielded greater, overall BV scores for those who reported to be gay/bisexual/other (M = 16.64, SD =6.22) in comparison with those who identified as straight (M = 12.79, SD = 4.80). More specifically, those who endorsed a sexual orientation of 'other (M = 21.40, SD = 4.77) were much more likely to report higher average BV in primary school than those who identified as gay (M = 13.29, SD = 4.57) or bisexual (M = 16.62, SD = 6.45). Conversely, overall BV rates in Secondary School were also reported to be higher in those who identified as gay/bisexual/other (M = 15.97, SD = 6.01) in comparison to those who identified as straight (M = 11.76, SD =5.00). As was seen in primary school, those who endorsed 'other' under sexual orientation (M =19.00, SD = 7.21) were far more likely to report overall BV in secondary school over those who identified as gay (M = 12.29, SD = 5.38) or bisexual (M = 16.48, SD = 5.38).
# CHAPTER V

#### DISCUSSION

This chapter begins with a discussion of the results and their relationship with prior research in this area. Next, limitations of this study, particularly in relation to the sample, are also discussed. Then suggested directions for future research are offered as well as a discussion of practice implications for school psychologists.

## **Contribution to the Literature and Key Findings**

As a result of prior researchers' general omission of the role of childhood neglect in bullying victimization investigations (Dubowitz, 1999; Polonko, 2006; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019; Widom et al., 2008) and the broad abdication of studying the association of various forms of neglect with the distinct types of bullying victimization experiences (Benedini et al., 2016; Hong et al., 2012), the current study offered a necessary contribution to the literature by providing evidence crucial to the development of a greater understanding of these relationships. Results of this study yielded several significant findings. These relationships offered justification for the importance of the development and implementation of early prevention and intervention programs, at both the primary and secondary school levels, so those who have a history of childhood neglect could be supported and ill-effects of peer victimization could be rectified.

There was an established link between neglect at home and problematic peer interactions and rejection at school (Bolger & Patterson, 2001a; Bolger et al., 1998; Chapple et al., 2005; De Paul & Arruabarrena, 1995). Within the school setting, neglected students might be more likely to exhibit behaviors that result in heightened peer exclusion, targeted bullying, and overall difficulty in establishing healthy peer connections (Contreras & Kerns, 2000; Contreras et al., 2000; Finkelhor et al., 2009; Kerns et al., 2007; Kim & Cicchetti, 2010; Shields & Cicchetti, 2001; Shields et al., 2001; Trickett et al., 2011).

Consistent with prior child maltreatment research (Lereya et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019), the current study found those with a history of neglect were significantly more likely to report general peer bullying victimization experiences than those who reported childhood nonmaltreatment. In the context of the present study, neglect was conceptualized alongside the concurrent role of abuse as most participants reported comorbid forms of childhood maltreatment. Of the 30 participants who endorsed histories of moderate to severe childhood neglect, 20 of them reported moderate to severe bullying victimization experiences in at least one phase of school, making up 67% of the total neglected sample. In comparison, of the 68 participants who reported non-significant childhood maltreatment histories, just 15 of them reported moderate to severe peer victimization in at least one phase of school. This accounted for only 22% of the non-maltreated sample, which was notably lower than the recent estimates of average, worldwide bullying victimization rates (32%; WHO, 2012). Given that the presence of neglect in the current study resulted in a three-fold increase in subsequent school bullying victimization, there was well grounded rationale that childhood neglect be a key variable to consider in predicting the experience of peer bullying from elementary to high school. This evidence was consistent with findings of a large meta-analysis conducted by Lereya et al. (2013) where childhood abuse and neglect were of the most significant predictors of peer victimization.

When exploring the frequency and severity of each form of bullying victimization in the current study, physical neglect was consistently significant in predicting physical bullying

victimization only, while emotional neglect was significant in predicting verbal and indirect bullying victimization only. Although Chapple et al. (2005) established a significant association between childhood physical neglect and peer rejection in school, the present study is the first known study to report a significant link between physical neglect and the physical form of peer victimization. Bernstein and Watson (1997) examined various characteristics of bully victims including that of the home environment. They reported that victims of peer maltreatment generally held insecure attachments with their parents or guardians, a relationship that also existed in parent to child abuse/neglect research (Egeland & Sroufe, 1981; Toth et al., 2000; Wilson et al., 2008). Neglected children are likely to experience varying levels of rejection throughout their childhood and, therefore, they are more likely to take on the 'victim' role and display vulnerable, behavioral tendencies in their interactions with fellow peers (Bernstein & Watson, 1997). Victims reacted more passively (i.e., taking the bullying attacks and making continual attempts to initiate friendships with their bullies) or aggressively (i.e., actively interacting with bullying and even provoking fights).

# Implications

# For Gender

Of the sample in the present research, 23% of males reported significant physical BV, in primary and/or secondary school, while 17% of females reported significant physical BV. This was consistent with relevant bullying research indicating that male students tended to be physically victimized more often than female students (Scheithauer et al., 2006; Wang, Ionnotti, & Luk, 2010) even if the increased chance was minimal (Perry et al., 1988). Body weight was also a factor in BV as underweight males tended to be more likely victims of physical bullying (Olweus, 1978; Puhl et al., 2011; Wang, Ionnotti, & Luk, 2010). Although body weight and other

physical characteristics of participants were not considered in the present research, prior research of such variables offered potential insight into why physically neglected males were more likely to be physically victimized by their peers. Despite the unknown workings behind this association, Bernstein and Watson (1997)'s research justified the possibility that physically neglected children might display emotional and behavioral tendencies that naturally made them susceptible to physical bullying attacks. Further examination of the mechanisms behind these specific relationships is highly encouraged for future research endeavors.

The relationship between emotional neglect and verbal and indirect bullying victimization has not been widely reported in the literature as the current study appeared to be one of the first to observe these unique interactions and report significant findings. Consistent with gender trends in prior research (Scheithauer et al., 2006), female respondents were almost twice as likely to report verbal and/or indirect BV than males in the present sample. In fact, 32% of females recalled experiencing two significant forms of BV throughout their schooling, while the majority of bullied males (23%) reported to experience only one form of significant bullying during this time. Therefore, it is probable that the majority of bullied females experienced moderate to severe verbal and indirect victimization together or at different stages of their academic years. However, gender trends in bullying victimization research were not always clear-cut. Some researchers found males and females to experience comparable rates of verbal BV (Davidson-Arad & Golan, 2007; Owens et al., 2000; Wang, Ionnotti, & Luk, 2010) as physical victimization in primary school for male students was often replaced with verbal victimization by secondary school (Björkqvist, 1994). Similarly, a meta-analysis conducted by Archer (2004) reported that females tended to engage in more frequent indirect aggression of

other females in middle and/or high school. It would be useful for future research to study the underlying causes for the emotional neglect to verbal and indirect types of BV pathway.

# For the Stability of Bullying Victimization Across School Levels

The current study indicated that the presence of significant, self-reported physical and/or emotional neglect predicted stable, self-reported bullying victimization rates across primary and secondary school. These relationships were novel to the childhood maltreatment literature but were more broadly consistent with Scholte et al.'s (2007) prevalent evidence of bullying victimization stability across primary and secondary school. More specifically, the present research results indicated an endorsed history of emotional neglect was a significant predicter of self-reported bullying victimization in primary school but not secondary school. This evidence directly contributed to understanding gaps in the literature as many researchers examined various community, family, and school variables in relation to bullying behaviors across primary and/or secondary school levels (e.g., Cook et al., 2010; Guerra et al., 2011; Khoury-Kassabri et al., 2004); however, childhood neglect was not one of the factors commonly studied. It seems likely there were confounding variables at play in the present research that might have more heavily influenced the relationship between those who reported childhood neglect and stable BV in school.

Evidence related to peer victimization stability across both primary and secondary school in the current study was further corroborated by the finding that 60% of participants who reported moderate to severe bullying experiences were bullied in both primary and secondary school (i.e., stable victimization). An additional 16% of bullied respondents in the present study reported peer victimization in primary school only and 23% of bullied respondents reported peer victimization in secondary school only (i.e., non-stable victimization). The rates of stable BV from primary to secondary school reported by the current study exceeded stability percentages in prior research as various studies reported average BV stability estimates to be approximately 40-45% (Beran, 2008; Scholte et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2004).

Bullying and aggression generally evolve across different developmental periods as physical aggression tends to develop early on and decreases over time (Björkqvist, 1994). Consistent with Björkqvist's (1994) evidence, approximately 8% of participants in the current study reported physical peer victimization in primary school only, while less than 1% of participants reported physical peer victimization in secondary school only. Inversely, relational aggression has shown to develop in early adolescence as it overlaps with verbal development and increased social skills (Björkqvist et al., 1992; Vaillancourt & Farrell, 2021; Wang et al., 2009). A substantial difference between indirect BV within separate phases of school was not observed in the present research as roughly 8% of participants reported indirect BV in primary school only, whereas 11% reported indirect BV at the secondary level only. While prior research declared overall bullying behavior to be most prevalent in middle school, and therefore a stage of education that youths when most likely to be bullied (Bradshaw et al., 2007; Goldbaum et al., 2003), patterns of BV in the current study were discrepant. Upon collectively examining all forms of BV in the present data, participants were slightly more likely to report overall BV in primary school only (~12%) than they were to report overall BV in secondary school only  $(\sim 9\%)$ . Although the percentage of those victimized solely in primary and secondary levels of school remained relatively low, the proportion of participants simultaneously bullied across both phases of school was drastically higher ( $\sim$ 31%). The present research added to the existing literature by exploring which types of bullying victimization were often predicated by individual

forms of neglect and explored bullying victimization experiences across primary and secondary school levels.

#### **Discussion of Post-Hoc Analyses**

Overall, those who endorsed a sexual orientation other than heterosexuality were more likely to disclose more frequent and severe BV within the present study across both primary and secondary school levels. These results were consistent with the literature as adolescents who fell into the sexual minority category (i.e., gay/lesbian, bisexual, queer, etc.) were reported to experience higher rates of BV over those of heterosexual peers (Fedewa & Ahn, 2011; Kosciw et al., 2014). While the rate of general BV in high school centered at around 20% (Eaton et al., 2012), adolescents who reported to be LGBTQ+ were more likely to experience physical (~30%), verbal (~87%), and relational (~81%) BV at higher rates (Birkett et al., 2009; Kosciw et al., 2014; Rivers & Noret, 2008; Sterzing et al., 2014). In comparison to the current study, rates of BV reported by LGBTQ+ respondents were ~21% for physical, ~48% for verbal, and ~64% for relational forms of bullying. Participants identifying as LGBTQ+ were 1.5 times as likely to report physical BV, 1.7 times more likely to report verbal BV, and two times more likely to report indirect BV opposed to those who reported to be straight.

With respect to gender and sexual orientation, the present research found that after controlling for said variables, there was little to no contribution of emotional and physical neglect to the frequency, severity, and stability of bullying victimization. This emphasized the idea that there were likely to be many contributing factors to the experience of peer victimization at school. The demographic variable of age was statistically significant in many of the results; however, this variable was not scrutinized within the context of the present study as it simply stated how old each participant was upon completing the questionnaires. The age of completion of the questionnaires was not considered to be important to consider in the present research as it did not offer anything substantial to the understanding of the pathway between childhood neglect and bullying victimization.

# **Limitations of Study**

While the current study intended to gather a large enough sample of only neglected participants in order to further understand the role of pure neglect on bullying victimization outcomes, this was not achieved as only 3% of participants endorsed histories of childhood neglect absent of significant abuse. This was consistent with prior research utilizing self-report data (Shields & Cicchetti, 2001; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019) as large sample sizes of solely neglected participants were difficult to locate. This study further explained why the majority of the extant literature resorted to examining the role of child neglect in conjunction with child abuse (Chapple et al., 2005; Shields & Cicchetti, 2001; Stoltenborgh et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019).

Furthermore, there are inherent limitations of self-report, online survey research. Factors such as selection bias, lack of control over survey-taking environment, and uncertainty of truthfulness of responses are present in studies utilizing online survey-based methods. The present study called for respondents to utilize retrospective accounts of potentially traumatic events to complete the online survey. Research regarding the reliability and validity of self-reported, retrospective accounts of childhood experiences is largely unsettled by researchers (Brewin et al., 1993; Miller et al., 2002; Schäfer et al., 2004). In addition, the RBQ, one of the main measures used in the present study, reported a lack of sound validity evidence in prior research. Fortunately, internal consistency evidence in the present sample was adequate. While

internal consistency is a reliability metric, it spoke to the validity of the RBQ as it analyzed the degree to which the items were measuring what they were intended to measure.

# **Implications for Future Research**

Future research should prioritize replication of the present study with a more extensive, far-reaching net in order to recruit a larger sample size. Although prior research on self-reported neglect versus court-substantiated cases hinted at the probability of an underrepresented sample of solely neglected participants (Negriff et al., 2017), the limited sample size remained of the most consequential hinderances to the current research. The smaller number of participants made it more difficult to gather conclusive evidence in relation to childhood neglect, bullying victimization, and how the presence of neglect influenced the trajectory of peer victimization in the school setting. Recruitment of a large enough sample size of solely neglected participants would be quintessential to drawing even more meaningful conclusions from the data. While a large-scale study of a solely neglected sample would surely garner fascinating findings, it is likely this group would not be reflective of the reality of children in schools. Furthermore, the present research was able to examine the broad relationships between the various forms of neglect and bullying victimization; however, it did not explicitly study the underlying rationale for why these relationships existed. Recommendations concerning the study of the specific associations between emotional neglect and verbal/indirect types of BV, physical neglect, and the physical type of BV are also stressed in the present manuscript.

#### **Implications for School Psychology Practice**

Most school staff, and mental health professionals specifically, are legally mandated to report any suspected child abuse and neglect to a reputable child welfare agency. In some cases, teachers might not consistently report suspected child maltreatment (Kesner & Robinson, 2002)

and might rely on consultation with mental health professionals in the school to guide them in making these calls. Reporting such suspicions of maltreatment, no matter how ambiguous or equivocal, is a key duty of school psychologists in order to advocate for the welfare of children outside of the bounds of the school building. Early identification of child maltreatment is essential to interrupting the trauma and preventing it from continuing in the future, especially in relation to peer victimization. Protection and assurance of safety for maltreated children should be the priority of all school-based mental health professionals (Zinsmeister, 1990), while ongoing treatment of trauma associated with abuse and neglect should remain another prominent responsibility to reduce lasting psychological and physical sequelae.

Many of the empirically supported treatments of child abuse and neglect involve systemic, trauma-informed interventions (e.g., parent-child interaction therapy, attachment-based intervention, child-parent psychotherapy, etc.) that are likely to be most effectively served in conjunction with community resources. The advent of trauma-informed care has a decades-long history, although it started to take precedence in mental health over the past 20 years. Traumainformed practices were spearheaded by women's rights studies published by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (Wilson et al., 2013). As discussed at the outset of this manuscript, Karl Zinsmeister (1990) succinctly communicated the indispensable role of physical and psychological safety when working with children. Physical and psychological safety was one of the five core values associated with trauma-informed care presented by Fallot and Harris (2009) and followed by the values of trustworthiness, choice, collaboration, and empowerment. Trustworthiness alluded to the transparency behind expectations, the maintenance of boundaries, and the consistency of services delivered across a system. Often, those who experienced trauma lost their sense of control through the traumatic event, making the provision of choice all-the-more powerful in the therapeutic environment (Wilson et al., 2013). The role of collaboration and empowerment is effective in enhancing client involvement, creating an equal power balance and strengthening the clients' skills in working through the trauma and other distressing events.

As school psychologists, aspects of trauma-informed care should be integrated into key areas of practice such as in assessment, consultation, and intervention implementation. During initial and reevaluation processes, psychologists should pay close attention to details of a student's early childhood experiences and note any information about past trauma histories. When conducting assessments, Marsac et al. (2015) talked about investigating a child's levels of psychological distress, emotional support, and family factors. Firstly, in determining a child's level of distress, school psychologists are learning about a child's worries related to the assessment process and addressing them through provision of choice and the allowance for frequent child input. This could be as simple as permitting the student to select which measure or subtest they would like to complete first when conditions allow. When a child voices misconceptions or fears about the assessment process, it is important that the psychologist provide clarity behind what is expected and give frequent reassurances. If trauma has occurred or is suspected, it is also recommended that the psychologist consider how the traumatic event(s) might have impacted the student's academic, behavioral, and social/emotional functioning across settings (Marsac et al., 2015).

Moreover, consultation and community outreach efforts are essential in assessing the final aspects of trauma-informed service delivery outlined by Marsac et al. (2015): emotional support and family factors. Effective partnership with parents, guardians, and families of traumatized students is often key to accessing trauma-informed care (Conradi & Wilson, 2010).

By consulting with supportive members of the child's circle, school psychologists could better understand the dynamics of the home, what coping strategies were being used and if there were ones that might be more beneficial to try, and what barriers were in place to prevent access to supports commensurate to what the child needs. When conducting evaluations, psychologists could also take the time to answer any questions that parents have about the assessment process, clarify the reasons behind the assessments, and encourage parents to contribute by providing input and background information for the evaluation report. Through consultative efforts, school psychologists could determine what stressors are at play and what resources might be of use to families. The mental health professional could work to help families access relevant resources in the community (e.g., outside mental health therapies, housing and rent assistance, etc.), which would conceivably facilitate a more stable home environment for the student (National Association of School Psychologists, 2015). In concert with family consultation efforts, the school psychologist should consider consulting with other outside professionals such as social workers, psychiatrists, primary care providers, or others to create a blanketed network of support for the child (Conradi & Wilson, 2010).

Multitier service delivery is another main component of a school psychologist's position in the school setting. A trauma-informed approach could be integrated into the service delivery system through use of evidence-based, trauma-focused interventions and curricula for those who have an identified or suspected history of childhood maltreatment or for those who might be at increased risk of being victimized (Conradi & Wilson, 2010; Keesler, 2014; Walkley & Cox, 2013). Cognitive Behavioral Intervention for Trauma in Schools (Jaycox, 2004) is such an intervention that could be used in group settings within Tier 2. Students who could use more targeted intervention and support could access individualized, trauma-informed care at the Tier 3 level. Interventions that center around the promotion of self-regulation skills and founding of secure attachments with others are often provided by school psychologists or social workers. The use of active and rhythmic activities to help students to refine self-regulation skills, along with practice in identifying feelings, how feelings link to behaviors, and training around effective coping strategies to emotionally regulate are common practices in the school realm (Brunzell et al., 2015). In cases of childhood neglect, students might be predisposed to stress responses characterized by hostility or withdrawal as they often lacked a stable and nurturing home environment. School psychologists are in a unique position to assist neglected students in building healthy and trusting relationships with staff and peers, thereby fostering a sense of safety and ideally reducing the chances of becoming revictimized via bullies. In order to achieve this goal, it is imperative that school psychologists and other school-based mental health professionals operate with empathy, respect, and warmth despite student behavior (Brunzell et al., 2015).

#### Conclusion

The overarching goal of the present study was to further the investigation of the 'cycle of victimization' and to shed light on an often-underemphasized area of childhood maltreatment that of neglect. Results of the current research stand to expand the breadth of knowledge as it relates to the childhood neglect to bullying victimization pathway. Historically, little has been gleaned about the relationship between emotional and physical neglect and the various forms of bullying victimization from prior research efforts. Commensurate with what the literature has provided thus far (Lereya et al., 2013), those with a history of moderate to severe childhood neglect were three times more likely to report general experiences of peer bullying victimization in the present study when compared to those with non-significant histories of neglect. More specifically, participants with a history of physical neglect were more likely to report frequent and severe physical BV while those with a history of emotional neglect were more likely to report frequent and severe verbal and indirect forms of BV in school. Furthermore, the presence of significant physical and emotional neglect predicted stable bullying victimization rates across primary and secondary schools. An endorsed history of emotional neglect was particularly associated with self-reported BV in primary school but not secondary school. Consistent with prior research (Fedewa & Ahn, 2011; Kosciw et al., 2014), participants in the current study who identified as LGBTQ+ were 1.5 to two times more likely to report more frequent and severe BV in school. When controlling for the demographic variables of gender and sexual orientation in the present study, there was little to no contribution of emotional and physical neglect to the frequency, severity, and stability of bullying victimization.

One of the most prominent limitations and sources of inspiration for future research endeavors rests in the relatively small sample size garnered for the current study. By recruiting a larger sample size for related studies to come, the opportunity to study a sample of solely neglected participants is more plausible. By achieving a larger sample size, it becomes more feasible to study the underlying mechanisms of the physical neglect to physical BV and emotional neglect to verbal/indirect BV pathways. Implications for mental health professionals working in the schools largely cue the roles of preventative and remedial service delivery, consultation, and community resource outreach. Trauma-informed practices are at the center of service delivery for students who report current or prior childhood neglect. School psychologists are in a unique position to assist students with suspected or unknown histories of childhood neglect in building healthy relationships with others, regulating their emotions, and bolstering their sense of self-worth. By doing so, school psychologists and other school-based mental health professionals could foster a safe environment at school and ideally reduce the chances of maltreated students becoming revictimized by their peers.

## REFERENCES

- Aas, M., Aminoff, S. R., Vik Lagerberg, T., Etain, B., Agartz, I., Andreassen, O. A., & Melle, I. (2014). Affective lability in patients with bipolar disorders is associated with high levels of childhood trauma. *Psychiatry Research*, 218(1), 252-255. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.03.046
- Alexopoulos, E. C. (2010). Introduction to multivariate regression analysis. *Hippokratia*, 14 (Suppl 1), 23-28.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Archer, J. (2004). Sex differences in aggression in real-world settings: A meta-analytic review. *Review of General Psychology*, 8(4), 291-322. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.8.4.291
- Arseneault, L., Bowes, L., & Shakoor, S. (2010). Bullying victimization in youths and mental health problems: 'Much ado about nothing'? *Psychological Medicine*, 40(5), 717-729. doi:10.1017/S0033291709991383
- Aspelmeier, J. E., Elliott, A. N., & Smith, C. H. (2007). Childhood sexual abuse, attachment, and trauma symptoms in college females: The moderating role of attachment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(5), 549-566. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.12.002
- Augsburger, M., Basler, K., & Maercker, A. (2019). Is there a female cycle of violence after exposure to childhood maltreatment? A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 49(11), 1776-1786. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291719000680

- Bachrach, R. L., & Read, J. P. (2012). The role of posttraumatic stress and problem alcohol involvement in university academic performance. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 68(7), 843-859. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21874
- Baker, A. J. L., & Maiorino, E. (2010). Assessments of emotional abuse and neglect with the CTQ: Issues and estimates. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(5), 740-748. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.01.011
- Barker, E. D., Arseneault, L., Brendgen, M., Fontaine, N., & Maughan, B. (2008). Joint development of bullying and victimization in adolescence: Relations to delinquency and self-harm. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(9), 1030-1038. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e31817eec98
- Barlow, M. R., & Cromer, L. D. (2006). Trauma-relevant characteristics in a university human subjects pool population: Gender, major, betrayal and latency of participation. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation*, 7(2), 59–75. https://doi.org/10.1300/J229v07n02\_05
- Batterham, P. J. (2014). Recruitment of mental health survey participants using internet advertising: Content, characteristics and cost effectiveness. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 23(2), 184-191. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.1421
- Baum, C. L., & Ruhm, C. J. (2009). Age, socioeconomic status and obesity growth. *Journal of Health Economics*, 28(3), 635-648. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009.01.004
- Bellmore, A. D., & Cillessen, A. H. N. (2006). Reciprocal influences of victimization, perceived social preference, and self-concept in adolescence. *Self and Identity*, 5(3), 209-229. doi:10.1080/15298860600636647

- Benedini, K. M., Fagan, A. A., & Gibson, C. L. (2016). The cycle of victimization: The relationship between childhood maltreatment and adolescent peer victimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 59, 111-121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.08.003
- Bennouna-Greene, M., Bennouna-Greene, V., Berna, F., & Defranoux, L. (2011). History of abuse and neglect in patients with schizophrenia who have a history of violence. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 35(5), 329-332. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.01.008
- Beran, T. (2008). Stability of harassment in children: Analysis of the Canadian national longitudinal survey of children and youth data. *The Journal of Psychology*, *142*(2), 131-146. doi:10.3200/JRLP.142.2.131-146
- Bernstein, D. P., Ahluvalia, T., Pogge, D., & Handelsman, L. (1997). Validity of the childhood trauma questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36(3), 340-348. doi:10.1097/00004583-199703000-00012
- Bernstein, D. P., & Fink, L. (1998). Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: A retrospective selfreport (Manual). The Psychological Corporation.
- Bernstein, D. P., Fink, L., Handelsman, L., Foote, J., Lovejoy, M., Wenzel, K., & Ruggiero, J. (1994). Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 151(8), 1132-1136. doi:10.1176/ajp.151.8.1132
- Bernstein, J. Y., & Watson, M. W. (1997). Children who are targets of bullying: A victim pattern. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 12(4), 483-498. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626097012004001

Birkett, M., Espelage, D. L., & Koenig, B. (2009). LGB and questioning students in schools: The moderating effects of homophobic bullying and school climate on negative outcomes. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 38(7), 989-

1000. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-008-9389-1

- Björkqvist, K. (1994). Sex differences in physical, verbal, and indirect aggression: A review of recent research. Sex Roles, 30, 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01420988
- Björkqvist, K., Lagerspetz, K. M., & Kaukiainen, A. (1992). Do girls manipulate and boys fight?
  Developmental trends in regard to direct and indirect aggression. *Aggressive Behavior*, 18(2), 117–127.
- Blitz, L. V., & Lee, Y. (2015). Trauma-informed methods to enhance school-based bullying prevention initiatives: An emerging model. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 24*(1), 20-40. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2015.982238
- Blood, G. W., & Blood, I. M. (2016). Long-term consequences of childhood bullying in adults who stutter: Social anxiety, fear of negative evaluation, self-esteem, and satisfaction with life. *Journal of Fluency Disorders*, 50, 72-84.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfludis.2016.10.002

- Bolger, K. E., & Patterson, C. J. (2001a). Developmental pathways from child maltreatment to peer rejection. *Child Development*, 72(2), 549-568. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00296
- Bolger, K. E., & Patterson, C. J. (2001b). Pathways from child maltreatment to internalizing problems: Perceptions of control as mediators and moderators. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(4), 913-940. doi:10.1017/S0954579401004096

- Bolger, K. E., Patterson, C. J., & Kupersmidt, J. B. (1998). Peer relationships and self-esteem among children who have been maltreated. *Child Development*, 69(4), 1171-1197. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1998.tb06166.x
- Bowes, L., Arseneault, L., Maughan, B., Taylor, A., Caspi, A., & Moffitt, T. E. (2009). School, neighborhood, and family factors are associated with children's bullying involvement: A nationally representative longitudinal study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(5), 545-

553. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e31819cb017

- Boxer, P., & Terranova, A. M. (2008). Effects of multiple maltreatment experiences among psychiatrically hospitalized youth. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *32*(6), 637-647.
  doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.02.003
- Bradshaw, C. P., Sawyer, A. L., & O'Brennan, L. M. (2007). Bullying and peer victimization at school: Perceptual differences between students and school staff. *School Psychology Review*, 36(3), 361. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2007.12087929
- Brank, E. M., Hoetger, L. A., & Hazen, K. P. (2012). Bullying. *Annual Review of Law and Social Science*, 8(1), 213-230. doi:10.1146/annurev-lawsocsci-102811-173820
- Brewin, C. R., Andrews, B., & Gotlib, I. H. (1993). Psychopathology and early experience: A reappraisal of retrospective reports. *Psychological Bulletin*, *113*(1), 82-98. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.113.1.82
- Brunzell, T., Waters, L., & Stokes, H. (2015). Teaching with strengths in trauma-affected students: A new approach to healing and growth in the classroom. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 85(1), 3-9. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000048

- Buhs, E. S., Ladd, G. W., & Herald, S. L. (2006). Peer exclusion and victimization: Processes that mediate the relation between peer group rejection and children's classroom engagement and achievement? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1), 1-13. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.1
- Cassady, J., & Shaver, P. R. (Eds.). (2008). *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications* (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2008). *Child maltreatment surveillance: Uniform definitions for public health and recommended data elements*. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/cm\_surveillancea.pdf
- Chaffin, M., Kelleher, K., & Hollenberg, J. (1996). Onset of physical abuse and neglect:
  Psychiatric, substance abuse, and social risk factors from prospective community
  data. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 20(3), 191-203. DOI: 10.1016/s0145-2134(95)00144-1
- Chapell, M. S., Hasselman, S. L., Kitchin, T., Lomon, S. N., MacIver, K. W., & Sarullo, P. L.
  (2006). Bullying in elementary school, high school, and college. *Adolescence*, 41(164), 633-648.
- Chapple, C. L., Tyler, K. A., & Bersani, B. E. (2005). Child neglect and adolescent violence:
  Examining the effects of self-control and peer rejection. *Violence and Victims*, 20(1), 39-53. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.2005.20.1.39
- Chen, Y., & Huang, J. (2015). Precollege and in-college bullying experiences and health-related quality of life among college students. *Pediatrics*, 135(1), 18-25. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-1798

Cicchetti, D. (1993). Developmental psychopathology: Reactions, reflections, projections. *Developmental Review*, *13*(4), 471-502. doi:10.1006/drev.1993.1021

- Cicchetti, D., & Valentino, K. (2006). An ecological transactional perspective on child maltreatment: Failure of the average expectable environment and its influence upon child development. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology. Risk, disorder, and adaptation* (2nd ed., Vol. 3, pp. 129–201). Wiley.
- Classen, T., & Hokayem, C. (2005). Childhood influences on youth obesity. *Economics and Human Biology*, *3*(2), 165-187. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2005.05.008
- Cohen, J. R., Menon, S. V., Shorey, R. C., Le, V. D., & Temple, J. R. (2017). The distal consequences of physical and emotional neglect in emerging adults: A person-centered, multi-wave, longitudinal study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 63, 151-161. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.11.030
- Conradi, L., & Wilson, C. (2010). Managing traumatized children: A trauma systems perspective. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 22(5), 621. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e32833e0766
- Contreras, J. M., & Kerns, K. A. (2000). Emotional regulation processes: Explaining links between parent-child attachment and peer relationships. In K. A. Kerns, J. M., Contreras, & A. M. Neal Barnett (Eds.), *Family and peers: Linking two social worlds* (pp. 137-168). Praeger.
- Contreras, J. M., Kerns, K. A., Weimer, B. L., Gentzler, A. L., & Tomich, P. L. (2000). Emotion regulation as a mediator of associations between mother-child attachment and peer relationships in middle childhood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *14*(1), 111-124. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.14.1.111

- Cook, C. R., Williams, K. R., Guerra, N. G., Kim, T. E., & Sadek, S. (2010). Predictors of bullying and victimization in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic investigation. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 25(2), 65-83. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020149
- Copeland, W. E., Wolke, D., Angold, A., & Costello, E. J. (2013). Adult psychiatric outcomes of bullying and being bullied by peers in childhood and adolescence. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70(4), 1-8. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504

Crittenden, P. M. (1985). Maltreated infants: Vulnerability and resilience. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 26(1), 85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1985.tb01630.x

- Davidson-Arad, B., & Golan, M. (2007). Victimization of juveniles in out-of-home placement: Juvenile correctional facilities. *British Journal of Social Work*, 37(6), 1007-1025. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcl056
- Day, D. M., Hart, T. A., Wanklyn, S. G., McCay, E., Macpherson, A., & Burnier, N. (2013).
   Potential mediators between child abuse and both violence and victimization in juvenile offenders. *Psychological Services*, *10*(1), 1-11. doi:10.1037/a0028057
- De Bellis, M. D. (2005). The psychobiology of neglect. *Child Maltreatment*, *10*(2), 150-172. doi:10.1177/1077559505275116

De Bellis, M. D., Hooper, S., Crowson, M., Beers, S. R., Buist, C., & Tupler, L. (2003).
 *Neuropsychological findings in neglected versus typically developing children*. Paper presented at the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology: Scientific Abstracts, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

- De Paúl, J., & Arruabarrena, M. I. (1995). Behavior problems in school-aged physically abused and neglected children in Spain. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 19(4), 409-418. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(95)00009-W
- Donegan, R. (2012). Bullying and cyberbullying: History, statistics, law prevention and analysis. *The Elon Journal of Undergraduate Research in Communications*, *3*(1), 33-42
- Dubowitz, H. (Ed.). (1999). Neglected children: Research, practice, and policy. Sage Publications.
- Duke, N. N., Pettingell, S. L., McMorris, B. J., & Borowsky, I. W. (2010). Adolescent violence perpetration: Associations with multiple types of adverse childhood experiences. *Pediatrics*, 125(4), e778.
- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Maltreatment by parents and peers: The relationship between child abuse, bully victimization, and psychological distress. *Child Maltreatment*, 4(1), 45-55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559599004001005
- Duncan, R. D. (2000). Childhood maltreatment and college drop-out rates: Implications for child abuse researchers. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 15(9), 987-995. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626000015009005
- Dussich, J. P. J., & Maekoya, C. (2007). Physical child harm and bullying-related behaviors: A comparative study in Japan, South Africa, and the United States. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *51*(5), 495-509.
  doi:10.1177/0306624X06298463

- Eaton, D. K., Kann, L., Kinchen, S., Shanklin, S., Flint, K. H., Hawkins, J., Harris, W. A.,
  Lowry, R., McManus, T., Chyen, D., Whittle, L., Lim, C., Wechsler, H., & Centers for
  Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). Youth risk behavior surveillance United
  States, 2011. MMWR. Surveillance Summaries, 61(4), 1-162.
- Egeland, B., & Sroufe, L. A. (1981). Attachment and early maltreatment. *Child Development*, 52(1), 44-52. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.1981.tb03015.x
- Egeland, B., Sroufe, L. A., & Erickson, M. (1983). The developmental consequence of different patterns of maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *7*(4), 459-469. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(83)90053-4
- Elliott, A. N., Alexander, A. A., Pierce, T. W., Aspelmeier, J. E., & Richmond, J. M. (2009).
  Childhood victimization, poly-victimization, and adjustment to college in women. *Child Maltreatment*, *14*(4), 330-343. doi:10.1177/1077559509332262
- Englund, M. M., Luckner, A. E., Whaley, G. J. L., & Egeland, B. (2004). Children's achievement in early elementary school: Longitudinal effects of parental involvement, expectations, and quality of assistance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *96*(4), 723-730. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.96.4.723
- Eslea, M., & Rees, J. (2001). At what age are children most likely to be bullied at school? *Aggressive Behavior*, 27(6), 419-429. doi:10.1002/ab.1027
- Espelage, D. L., Hong, J. S., & Mebane, S. (2016). Recollections of childhood bullying and multiple forms of victimization: Correlates with psychological functioning among college students. *Social Psychology of Education*, *19*(4), 715-728. doi:10.1007/s11218-016-9352-z

Espelage, D. L., Low, S., & De La Rue, L. (2012). Relations between peer victimization subtypes, family violence, and psychological outcomes during early adolescence. *Psychology of Violence*, 2(4), 313-324. doi:10.1037/a0027386

- Espelage, D. L., & Swearer, S. M. (2003). Research on school bullying and victimization: What have we learned and where do we go from here? *School Psychology Review*, 32(3), 365-383. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2003.12086206
- Fallot, R., & Harris, M. (2009). Creating cultures of trauma-informed care: A self-assessment and planning protocol. Jossey-Bass.
- Farmer, E., & Lutman, E. (2012). *Effective working with neglected children and their families: Linking interventions with long-term outcomes.* Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Fedewa, A. L., & Ahn, S. (2011). The effects of bullying and peer victimization on sexualminority and heterosexual youths: A quantitative meta-analysis of the literature. *Journal* of GLBT Family Studies, 7(4), 398-418. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2011.592968
- Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R. K., & Turner, H. A. (2007). Re-victimization patterns in a national longitudinal sample of children and youth. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 31(5), 479-502. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.03.012
- Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R., Turner, H., & Holt, M. (2009). Pathways to poly-victimization. *Child Maltreatment*, 14(4), 316-329. doi:10.1177/1077559509347012

- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H. A., Shattuck, A., & Hamby, S. L. (2013). Violence, crime, and abuse exposure in a national sample of children and youth: An update. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 167(7), 614-621. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.42
- Finzi-Dottan, R., & Harel, G. (2014). Parents' potential for child abuse: An intergenerational perspective. *Journal of Family Violence*, 29(4), 397-408. doi:10.1007/s10896-014-9592-7
- Finzi, R., Har-Even, D., & Weizman, A. (2003). Comparison of ego defenses among physically abused children, neglected, and non-maltreated children. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 44(5), 388-395. doi:10.1016/S0010-440X(03)00106-8
- Finzi, R., Har-Even, D., Shnit, D., & Weizman, A. (2002). Psychosocial characterization of physically abused children from low socioeconomic households in comparison to neglected and nonmaltreated children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 11(4), 441-453. doi:10.1023/A:1020983308496
- Finzi, R., Ram, A., Har-Even, D., Shnit, D., & Weizman, A. (2001). Attachment styles and aggression in physically abused and neglected children. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 30*(6), 769-786. doi:10.1023/A:1012237813771
- Fishbein, D., Warner, T., Krebs, C., Trevarthen, N., Flannery, B., & Hammond, J. (2009).
  Differential relationships between personal and community stressors and children's neurocognitive functioning. *Child Maltreatment*, 14(4), 299-315.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559508326355
- Fisher, H. L., Moffitt, T. E., Houts, R. M., Belsky, D. W., Arseneault, L., & Caspi, A. (2012).
  Bullying victimisation and risk of self harm in early adolescence: Longitudinal cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 344(7855), 17-17. doi:10.1136/bmj.e2683

- Freyd, J. J., DePrince, A. P., & Zurbriggen, E. L. (2001). Self-reported memory for abuse depends upon victim-perpetrator relationship. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 2(3), 5-15. https://doi.org/10.1300/J229v02n03\_02
- Giardino, A. P., Lyn, M. A., & Giardino, E. R. (Eds.). (2009). A practical guide to the evaluation of child physical abuse and neglect (2nd ed.). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0702-8
- Gibb, B. E., Schofield, C. A., & Coles, M. E. (2009). Reported history of childhood abuse and young adults' information-processing biases for facial displays of emotion. *Child Maltreatment*, *14*(2), 148-156. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559508326358
- Gilbert, R., Widom, C. S., Browne, K., Fergusson, D., Webb, E., & Janson, S. (2009). Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *The Lancet*, 373(9657), 68-81. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7
- Gini, G., & Pozzoli, T. (2009). Association between bullying and psychosomatic problems: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 123(3), 1059. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-1215
- Glaser, D. (2000). Child abuse and neglect and the brain-A review. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 41(1), 97-116. doi:10.1017/S0021963099004990
- Goldbaum, S., Craig, W. M., Pepler, D., & Connolly, J. (2003). Developmental trajectories of victimization: Identifying risk and protective factors. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, *19*(2), 139-156. doi:10.1300/J008v19n02\_09
- Goodman, M. R., Stormshak, E. A., & Dishion, T. J. (2001). The significance of peer victimization at two points in development. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 22(5), 507-526. doi:10.1016/S0193-3973(01)00091-0

- Gratz, K., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 26*(1), 41-54. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis? *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 26(3), 499–510. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr2603\_7
- Guerra, N. G., Williams, K. R., & Sadek, S. (2011). Understanding bullying and victimization during childhood and adolescence: A mixed methods study. *Child Development*, 82(1), 295-310. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01556.x
- Hahm, H. C., Lee, Y., Ozonoff, A., & Van Wert, M. J. (2010). The impact of multiple types of child maltreatment on subsequent risk behaviors among women during the transition from adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 39*(5), 528-540. doi:10.1007/s10964-009-9490-0
- Hameed, M. A. (2018). Challenges and opportunities for innovation in child abuse and neglect research within the child welfare system in Australia. *Children Australia*, 43(1), 57-66. doi:10.1017/cha.2017.49
- Haynie, D. L., Nansel, T., Eitel, P., Crump, A. D., Saylor, K., Yu, K., & Simons-Morton, B.
  (2001). Bullies, victims, and bully/victims: Distinct groups of at-risk youth. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *21*(1), 29-49. doi:10.1177/0272431601021001002
- Herrenkohl, R. C., & Herrenkohl, T. I. (2009). Assessing a child's experience of multiple maltreatment types: Some unfinished business. *Journal of Family Violence*, 24(7), 485-496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-009-9247-2

- Higgins, D. J., & McCabe, M. P. (2001). Multiple forms of child abuse and neglect: Adult retrospective reports. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 6(6), 547-578.doi:10.1016/s1359-1789(00)00030-6
- Hildyard, K. L., & Wolfe, D. A. (2002). Child neglect: Developmental issues and outcomes.*Child Abuse & Neglect*, 26(6), 679–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00341-1

Hodges, J., & Tizard, B. (1989). IQ and behavioural adjustment of ex-institutional adolescents. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *30*(1), 53-75.
doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.1989.tb00769.x

- Holt, M. K., Greif Green, J., Reid, G., DiMeo, A., Espelage, D. L., Felix, E. D., Furlong, M. J.,
  Poteat, V. P., & Sharkey, J. D. (2014). Associations between past bullying experiences
  and psychosocial and academic functioning among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 62(8), 552-560. doi:10.1080/07448481.2014.947990
- Hong, J. S., Espelage, D. L., Grogan-Kaylor, A., & Allen-Meares, P. (2012). Identifying potential mediators and moderators of the association between child maltreatment and bullying perpetration and victimization in school. *Educational Psychology Review*, 24(2), 167-186. doi:10.1007/s10648-011-9185-4
- Horner, T., Liberthson, R., & Jellinek, M. S. (2000). Psychosocial profile of adults with complex congenital heart disease. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 75(1), 31-36. doi:10.4065/75.1.31
- Hoyle, R. H. (1995). *Structural equation modeling: Concepts, issues, and applications*. Sage Publications.
- Hunter, S. C., Mora-Merchan, J., & Ortega, R. (2004). The long-term effects of coping strategy use in victims of bullying. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 7(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600004704

Hussey, J. M., Chang, J. J., & Kotch, J. B. (2006). Child maltreatment in the United States:
Prevalence, risk factors, and adolescent health consequences. *Pediatrics*, *118*(3), 933-942. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-2452

IBM Corp. (2017). IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac OS X, Version 25.0. IBM Corp.

Jackson, Y., Gabrielli, J., Tunno, A. M., & Hambrick, E. P. (2012). Strategies for longitudinal research with youth in foster care: A demonstration of methods, barriers, and innovations. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 34(7), 1208-1213. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.02.007

- Jantzer, A. M., & Cashel, M. L. (2017). Bullying victimization, college adjustment, and the role of coping. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(2), 283-289. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2017.0020
- Jantzer, A. M., Hoover, J. H., & Narloch, R. (2006). The relationship between school-aged bullying and trust, shyness and quality of friendships in young adulthood: A preliminary research note. *School Psychology International*, 27(2), 146-156. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034306064546
- Jaycox, L. (2004). *CBITS: Cognitive behavioral intervention for trauma in schools*. Sopris West Educational Services.
- Jimerson, S. R., Oakland, T. D., & Farrell, P. (2007). *The handbook of international school psychology*. Sage Publications.
- Jordan, C. E., Combs, J. L., & Smith, G. T. (2014). An exploration of sexual victimization and academic performance among college women. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 15*(3), 191-200. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014520637

- Jose, P. E., Kljakovic, M., Scheib, E., & Notter, O. (2012). The joint development of traditional bullying and victimization with cyber bullying and victimization in adolescence. *Journal* of Research on Adolescence, 22(2), 301-309. doi:10.1111/j.1532-7795.2011.00764.x
- Juvonen, J., & Graham, S. (2014). Bullying in schools: The power of bullies and the plight of victims. In S. Fiske (Ed.), *Annual review of psychology* (pp. 159-185). Annual Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115030
- Juvonen, J., Nishina, A., & Graham, S. (2000). Peer harassment, psychological adjustment, and school functioning in early adolescence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(2), 349-359. doi:10.1037//0022-0663.92.2.349
- Keesler, J. M. (2014). A call for the integration of trauma-informed care among intellectual and developmental disability organizations. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 11(1), 34-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12071
- Kelleher, K., Chaffin, M., Hollenberg, J., & Fischer, E. (1994). Alcohol and drug disorders among physically abusive and neglectful parents in a community-based sample. *American Journal of Public Health*, 84(10), 1586-1590. doi:10.2105/AJPH.84.10.1586
- Kelley, K., & Maxwell, S. E. (2010). Sample size planning. In I. B. Weiner & W. E. Craighead (Eds.), *The Corsini encyclopedia of psychology* (pp. 181-202). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Kendall-Tackett, K. A., & Eckenrode, J. (1996). The effects of neglect on academic achievement and disciplinary problems: A developmental perspective. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 20(3), 161-169. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(95)00139-5

- Kendra, R., Bell, K. M., & Guimond, J. M. (2012). The impact of child abuse history, PTSD symptoms, and anger arousal on dating violence perpetration among college women. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27(3), 165-175. doi:10.1007/s10896-012-9415-7
- Kerns, K. A., Abraham, M. M., Schlegelmilch, A., & Morgan, T. A. (2007). Mother child attachment in later middle childhood: Assessment approaches and associations with mood and emotion regulation. *Attachment & Human Development*, 9(1), 33-53. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730601151441
- Kesner, J. E., & Robinson, M. (2002). Teachers as mandated reporters of child maltreatment: Comparison with legal, medical, and social services reporters. *Children & Schools*, 24(4), 222-231. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/24.4.222
- Khoury-Kassabri, M., Benbenishty, R., Avi Astor, R., & Zeira, A. (2004). The contributions of community, family, and school variables to student victimization. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 34(3-4), 187-204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-004-7414-4
- Kim, J., & Cicchetti, D. (2006). Longitudinal trajectories of self-system processes and depressive symptoms among maltreated and nonmaltreated children. *Child Development*, 77(3), 624-639. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00894.x
- Kim, J., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Longitudinal pathways linking child maltreatment, emotion regulation, peer relations, and psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(6), 706-716. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02202.x
- Kim, M. J., Tajima, E. A., & Herrenkohl, T. I. (2009). Early child maltreatment, runaway youths, and risk of delinquency and victimization in adolescence: A mediational model. Deutsches Zentralinstitut f
  ür soziale Fragen/DZI. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/33.1.19

- King, C. B., & Scott, K. L. (2014). Why are suspected cases of child maltreatment referred by educators so often unsubstantiated? *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38(1), 1-10. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.06.002
- Klein, B., Gorter, J. W., & Rosenbaum, P. (2013). Diagnostic shortfalls in early childhood chronic stress: A review of the issues. *Child: Care, Health & Development, 39*(6), 765-771. doi:10.1111/cch.12009
- Klomek, A. B., Sourander, A., Niemelä, S., Kumpulainen, K., Piha, J., Tamminen, T., Almqvist,
  F., & Gould, M. S. (2009). Childhood bullying behaviors as a risk for suicide attempts and completed suicides: A population-based birth cohort study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(3), 254-261.
- Knapp, R. R., & Mueller, R. O. (2010). Reliability and validity of instruments. In G. R. Hancock
  & R. O. Mueller (Eds.), *The reviewer's guide to quantitative methods in the social* sciences (pp. 337-342). Routledge.
- Knutson, J. F., DeGarmo, D. S., & Reid, J. B. (2004). Social disadvantage and neglectful parenting as precursors to the development of antisocial and aggressive child behavior:
  Testing a theoretical model. *Aggressive Behavior*, *30*(3), 187-205. doi:10.1002/ab.20016
- Koo, H. (2007). A time line of the evolution of school bullying in differing social contexts. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 8(1), 107-116.
- Kosciw, J. G., Greytak, E. A., Palmer, N. A., & Boesen, M. J. (2014). *The 2013 National School Climate Survey: The experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender youth in our nation's schools.* GLSEN.

- Kritsotakis, G., Papanikolaou, M., Androulakis, E., & Philalithis, A. E. (2017). Associations of bullying and cyberbullying with substance use and sexual risk taking in young adults:
  Bullying, cyberbullying, and health risk behaviors. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 49(4), 360-370. doi:10.1111/jnu.12299
- Kumpulainen, K., Räsänen, E., & Henttonen, I. (1999). Children involved in bullying:
  Psychological disturbance and the persistence of the involvement. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(12), 1253-1262. doi:10.1016/s0145-2134(99)00098-8
- Ladd, G. W., & Kochenderfer-Ladd, B. (2002). Identifying victims of peer aggression from early to middle childhood: Analysis of cross-informant data for concordance, estimation of relational adjustment, prevalence of victimization, and characteristics of identified victims. *Psychological Assessment, 14*(1), 74-96. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.14.1.74
- Lähteenmäki, P. M., Huostila, J., Hinkka, S., & Salmi, T. T. (2002). Childhood cancer patients at school. *European Journal of Cancer (1990), 38*(9), 1227-1240. doi:10.1016/S0959-8049(02)00066-7
- Lereya, S. T., Samara, M., & Wolke, D. (2013). Parenting behavior and the risk of becoming a victim and a bully/victim: A meta-analysis study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(12), 1091-1108. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.001
- Lewis, M. L., & Schaeffer, S. (1981). Peer behavior and mother-infant interaction. In *The uncommon child* (pp. 193–223). Plenum.
- Lynch, M., & Cicchetti, D. (1998). An ecological-transactional analysis of children and contexts: The longitudinal interplay among child maltreatment, community violence, and children's symptomatology. *Development and Psychopathology*, *10*(2), 235-257. doi:10.1017/S095457949800159X

- MacDonald, K., Thomas, M. L., MacDonald, T. M., & Sciolla, A. F. (2015). A perfect childhood? Clinical correlates of minimization and denial on the childhood trauma questionnaire. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *30*(6), 988-1009. doi:10.1177/0886260514539761
- Macovei, O. (1986). *The medical and social problems of the handicapped in children's institutions in Iasi Bucharest, Romania*. Institutl de Igiena si Sanatate Publica.
- Magin, P. (2013). Appearance-related bullying and skin disorders. *Clinics in Dermatology*, *31*(1), 66-71. doi:10.1016/j.clindermatol.2011.11.009
- Maguire, S. A., Williams, B., Naughton, A. M., Cowley, L. E., Tempest, V., Mann, M. K., Teague, M., & Kemp, A. M. (2015). A systematic review of the emotional, behavioural and cognitive features exhibited by school-aged children experiencing neglect or emotional abuse. *Child: Care, Health & Development, 41*(5), 641-653. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12227
- Majer, M., Nater, U. M., Lin, J. S., Capuron, L., & Reeves, W. C. (2010). Association of childhood trauma with cognitive function in healthy adults: A pilot study. *BMC Neurology*, 10(1), 61-61. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-10-61
- Manly, J. T., Cicchetti, D., & Barnett, D. (1994). The impact of subtype, frequency, chronicity, and severity of child maltreatment on social competence and behavior problems.
   *Development and Psychopathology*, 6(1), 121-143. doi:10.1017/S0954579400005915
- Manly, J. T., Kim, J. E., Rogosch, F. A., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Dimensions of child maltreatment and children's adjustment: Contributions of developmental timing and subtype. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(4), 759-782.
  doi:10.1017/S0954579401004023
- Maples, L. A., Park, S. S., Nolen, J. P., & Rosén, L. A. (2014). Resilience to childhood abuse and neglect in college students. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 23*(10), 1001-1019. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2014.964435
- Marsac, M. L., Kassam-Adams, N., Hildenbrand, A. K., Nicholls, E., Winston, F. K., Leff, S. S., & Fein, J. (2015). Implementing a trauma-informed approach in pediatric health care networks. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *170*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2206
- McCray, J. A., King, A. R., & Bailly, M. D. (2005). General and gender-specific attributes of the psychology major. *Journal of General Psychology*, 132, 139–150. https://doi.org/10.3200/GENP.132.2.139-150
- McGarry, K., & Buckley, H. (2013). Lessons on child protection: A survey of newly qualified primary-level teachers in Ireland. *Child Abuse Review*, 22(2), 80-92.
  doi:10.1002/car.2216
- McGuire, A., & Jackson, Y. (2018). A multilevel meta-analysis on academic achievement among maltreated youth. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 21(4), 450-465.
   doi:10.1007/s10567-018-0265-6
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Pereg, D. (2003). Attachment theory and affect regulation: The dynamics, development, and cognitive consequences of attachment-related strategies. *Motivation and Emotion*, 27(2), 77. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024515519160
- Miller, E. T., Neal, D. J., Roberts, L. J., Baer, J. S., Cressler, S. O., Metrik, J., & Marlatt, G. A. (2002). Test-retest reliability of alcohol measures: Is there a difference between Internet-based assessment and traditional methods? *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, *16*(1), 56–63. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.16.1.56

- Montes, G., & Halterman, J. S. (2007). Bullying among children with autism and the influence of comorbidity with ADHD: A population-based study. *Ambulatory Pediatrics: The Official Journal of the Ambulatory Pediatric Association*, 7(3), 253-257.
  doi:10.1016/j.ambp.2007.02.003
- Moore, S. M., Welsh, M. C., & Peterson, E. (2020). History of childhood maltreatment:
  Associations with aggression and college outcomes. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment*& *Trauma, 29*(1), 111-128. doi:10.1080/10926771.2019.1637989
- Mrug, S., Loosier, P. S., & Windle, M. (2008). Violence exposure across multiple contexts:
  Individual and joint effects on adjustment. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 78(1), 70-84. doi:10.1037/0002-9432.78.1.70
- Mueller, E., & Silverman, N. (1989). Peer relations in maltreated children. In D. Cicchetti & V.
   Carlson (Eds.), *Child maltreatment: Theory and research on the causes and consequences of child abuse and neglect* (pp. 529-578). Cambridge University Press.
- Murphy, J. M., Jellinek, M., Quinn, D., Smith, G., Poitrast, F. G., & Goshko, M. (1991).
  Substance abuse and serious child mistreatment: Prevalence, risk, and outcome in a court sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *15*(3), 197-211. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(91)90065-L
- Nakamoto, J., & Schwartz, D. (2010). Is peer victimization associated with academic achievement? A meta-analytic review. *Social Development*, *19*(2), 221-242. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00539.x
- National Association of School Psychologists. (2010). *Principles for professional ethics*. *School Psychology Review*, *39*(2), 302-319. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2010.12087782

- National Association of School Psychologists. (2015, October). Trauma-informed care in schools: A social justice imperative [Press release]. https://www.nasponline.org/publications/periodicals/communique/issues/volume-44issue-2/trauma-informed-care-in-schools-a-social-justice-imperative
- Negriff, S., Schneiderman, J. U., & Trickett, P. K. (2017). Concordance between self-reported childhood maltreatment versus case record reviews for child welfare–affiliated adolescents: Prevalence rates and associations with outcomes. *Child Maltreatment*, 22(1), 34-44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559516674596
- Nishina, A., Juvonen, J., & Witkow, M. R. (2005). Sticks and stones may break my bones, but names will make me feel sick: The psychosocial, somatic, and scholastic consequences of peer harassment. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *34*(1), 37-48. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp3401\_4
- Norman, R. E., Byambaa, M., De, R., Butchart, A., Scott, J., & Vos, T. (2012). The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect : A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLOS Medicine*, 9(11), e1001349-e1001349. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349
- Ohene, S., Ireland, M., McNeely, C., & Borowsky, I. W. (2006). Parental expectations, physical punishment, and violence among adolescents who score positive on a psychosocial screening test in primary care. *Pediatrics*, 117(2), 441-447. doi:10.1542/peds.2005-0421

Olweus, D. (1978). Aggression in the schools: Bullying and whipping boys. Hemisphere.

Olweus, D. (1993). Bullying at school: What we know and what we can do. Blackwell.

Oshri, A., Sutton, T. E., Clay-Warner, J., & Miller, J. D. (2015). Child maltreatment types and risk behaviors: Associations with attachment style and emotion regulation dimensions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 73, 127-133. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2014.09.015

- Ostrov, J. M. (2008). Forms of aggression and peer victimization during early childhood: A short-term longitudinal study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *36*(3), 311-322. doi:10.1007/s10802-007-9179-3
- Owens, L., Shute, R., & Slee, P. (2000). "Guess what I just heard!": Indirect aggression among teenage girls in Australia. *Aggressive Behavior*, 26(1), 6783. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2337(2000)26:1<67::AID-AB6>3.0.CO;2-C
- Pandis, N. (2014). Cross-sectional studies. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 146(1), 127-129. doi:10.1016/j.ajodo.2014.05.005
- Parent, M. C. (2013). Handling item-level missing data: Simpler is just as good. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *41*(4), 568-600. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000012445176
- Parke, R. D., & Ladd, G. W. (Eds.). (1992). *Family-peer relationships: Modes of linkage*. Erlbaum.
- Perez, C. M., & Widom, C. S. (1994). Childhood victimization and long-term intellectual and academic outcomes. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 18(8), 617-633. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(94)90012-4
- Perry, D. G., Hodges, E. V., & Egan, S. K. (2001). Determinants of chronic victimization by peers: A review and a new model of family influence. In J. Juvonen & S. Graham (Eds.), *Peer harassment in school: The plight of the vulnerable and victimized* (pp. 73–104). The Guildford Press.

- Perry, D. G., Kusel, S. J., & Perry, L. C. (1988). Victims of peer aggression. *Developmental Psychology*, 24(6), 807-814. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.24.6.807
- Petrenko, C. L., Friend, A., Garrido, E. F., Taussig, H. N., & Culhane, S. E. (2012). Does subtype matter? Assessing the effects of maltreatment on functioning in preadolescent youth in out-of-home care. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *36*, 633–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.07.001
- Pittet, I., Berchtold, A., Akré, C., Michaud, P., & Surís, J. (2010). Are adolescents with chronic conditions particularly at risk for bullying? *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 95(9), 711-716. doi:10.1136/adc.2008.146571
- Pollak, S. D. (2008). Mechanisms linking early experience and the emergence of emotions:
  Illustrations from the study of maltreated children. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(6), 370-375. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00608.x
- Polonko, K. A. (2006). Exploring assumptions about child neglect in relation to the broader field of child maltreatment. *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, 29(3), 260-284.
- Prinstein, M. J., Boergers, J., & Vernberg, E. M. (2001). Overt and relational aggression in adolescents: Social-psychological adjustment of aggressors and victims. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 30(4), 479-491.

https://doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3004\_05

Puhl, R. M., Luedicke, J., & Heuer, C. (2011). Weight-based victimization toward overweight adolescents: Observations and reactions of peers. *The Journal of School Health*, 81(11), 696-703. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00646.x

- Rickert, V. I., Hassed, S. J., Hendon, A. E., & Cunniff, C. (1996). The effects of peer ridicule on depression and self-image among adolescent females with turner syndrome. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 19(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1016/1054-139X(95)00225-H
- Rivers, I. (2001). Retrospective reports of school bullying: Stability of recall and its implications for research. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 19(1), 129-141. doi:10.1348/026151001166001
- Rivers, I., & Noret, N. (2008). Well-being among same-sex- and opposite-sex-attracted youth at school. *School Psychology Review*, 37(2), 174-187. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2008.12087892
- Romano, E., Babchishin, L., Marquis, R., & Fréchette, S. (2015). Childhood maltreatment and educational outcomes. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 16(4), 418-437. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014537908
- Rouse, H. L., & Fantuzzo, J. W. (2009). Multiple risks and educational well being: A populationbased investigation of threats to early school success. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 24(1), 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2008.12.001
- Rueger, S. Y., & Jenkins, L. N. (2014). Effects of peer victimization on psychological and academic adjustment in early adolescence. *School Psychology Quarterly: The Official Journal of the Division of School Psychology, American Psychological Association, 29*(1), 77-88. doi:10.1037/spq0000036

Salmivalli, C., Lappalainen, M., & Lagerspetz, K. M. J. (1998). Stability and change of behavior in connection with bullying in schools: A two-year follow-up. *Aggressive Behavior*, 24(3), 205-218. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2337(1998)24:3<205::AID-AB5>3.0.CO;2-J

- Sandberg, D. E. (1999). Experiences of being short: Should we expect problems of psychosocial adjustment. In *Growth, stature, and psychosocial well-being* (pp. 15-26). Hogrefe & Huber Publishers.
- Schäfer, M., Korn, S., Brodbeck, F., Wolke, D., & Schulz, H. (2005). Bullying roles in changing contexts: The stability of victim and bully roles from primary to secondary school. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29(4), 323-335. doi:10.1080/01650250544000107
- Schäfer, M., Korn, S., Smith, P. K., Hunter, S. C., Mora-Merchán, J. A., Singer, M. M., & Meulen, K. (2004). Lonely in the crowd: Recollections of bullying. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 22(3), 379-394. doi:10.1348/0261510041552756
- Scheithauer, H., Hayer, T., Petermann, F., & Jugert, G. (2006). Physical, verbal, and relational forms of bullying among german students: Age trends, gender differences, and correlates. *Aggressive Behavior*, 32(3), 261-275. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20128
- Scholte, R. H. J., Engels, R. C. M. E., Overbeek, G. J., Kemp, R. A. T. D., & Haselager, G. J. T. (2007). Stability in bullying and victimization and its association with social adjustment in childhood and adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(2), 217-228. doi:10.1007/s10802-006-9074-3
- Sesar, K., Barišić, M., Pandža, M., & Dodaj, A. (2012). The relationship between difficulties in psychological adjustment in young adulthood and exposure to bullying behaviour in childhood and adolescence. *Acta Medica Academica*, 41(2), 131-144. https://doi.org/10.5644/ama2006-124.46

Shapiro, D. N., Chandler, J., & Mueller, P. A. (2013). Using mechanical turk to study clinical populations. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 1(2), 213-220. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702612469015

- Shields, A., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Parental maltreatment and emotion dysregulation as risk factors for bullying and victimization in middle childhood. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 30(3), 349-363. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3003\_7
- Shields, A., Ryan, R. M., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Narrative representations of caregivers and emotion dysregulation as predictors of maltreated children's rejection by peers. *Developmental Psychology*, 37(3), 321-337. doi:10.1037//0012-1649.37.3.321
- Shipman, K., Edwards, A., Brown, A., Swisher, L., & Jennings, E. (2005). Managing emotion in a maltreating context: A pilot study examining child neglect. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 29*(9), 1015-1029. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.01.006
- Skinner, H. A., & Pakula, A. (1986). Challenge of computers in psychological assessment. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 17(1), 44-50. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7028.17.1.44
- Smith, C., & Thornberry, T. P. (1995). The relationship between childhood maltreatment and adolescent involvement in delinquency. *Criminology*, 33(4), 451-481. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9125.1995.tb01186.x
- Smith, P. K., Talamelli, L., Cowie, H., Naylor, P., & Chauhan, P. (2004). Profiles of nonvictims, escaped victims, continuing victims and new victims of school bullying. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 74(4), 565-581. doi:10.1348/0007099042376427

- Smokowski, P. R., Evans, C. B., & Cotter, K. L. (2014). The differential impacts of episodic, chronic, and cumulative physical bullying and cyberbullying: The effects of victimization on the school experiences, social support, and mental health of rural adolescents. *Violence and Victims*, 29(6), 1029-1046. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-13-00076
- Spitz, R. A. (1945). Hospitalism; An inquiry into the genesis of psychiatric conditions in early childhood. *The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child*, 1(1), 53-74. doi:10.1080/00797308.1945.11823126
- Sterzing, P. R., Auslander, W. F., & Goldbach, J. T. (2014). An exploratory study of bullying involvement for sexual minority youth: Bully-only, victim-only, and bully-victim roles. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 5(3), 321-337. https://doi.org/10.1086/677903
- Stoltenborgh, M., van IJzendoorn, M. H., Euser, E. M., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2011). A global perspective on child sexual abuse: Meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child Maltreatment*, 16(2), 79-101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559511403920
- Stoltenborgh, M., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Alink, L. R. (2013). Cultural–geographical differences in the occurrence of child physical abuse? A metaanalysis of global prevalence. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48(2), 81-94. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207594.2012.697165
- Storch, E. A., Heidgerken, A. D., Geffken, G. R., Lewin, A. B., Ohleyer, V., Freddo, M., & Silverstein, J. H. (2006a). Bullying, regimen self-management, and metabolic control in youth with type I diabetes. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *148*(6), 784-787. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.01.007

- Storch, E. A., Ledley, D. R., Lewin, A. B., Murphy, T. K., Johns, N. B., Goodman, W. K., & Geffken, G. R. (2006b). Peer victimization in children with obsessive-compulsive disorder: Relations with symptoms of psychopathology. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 35(3), 446-455. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp3503\_10
- Storch, E. A., Lewin, A., Silverstein, J. H., Heidgerken, A. D., Strawser, M. S., Baumeister, A., & Geffken, G. R. (2004). Peer victimization and psychosocial adjustment in children with type 1 diabetes. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 43(5), 467-471. doi:10.1177/000992280404300508
- Strathearn, L., Gray, P. H., & Wood, D. O. (2001). Childhood neglect and cognitive development in extremely low birth weight infants: A prospective study. *Pediatrics*, 108(1), 142-151. doi:10.1542/peds.108.1.142
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Cleaning up your act, Screening data prior to analysis.
  In S. Hartman & T. Felser (Eds.), *Using multivariate statistics* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.; pp. 60-116). Allyn & Bacon/Pearson Education.
- Thomas, H. J., Chan, G. C., Scott, J. G., Connor, J. P., Kelly, A. B., & Williams, J. (2016).
   Association of different forms of bullying victimisation with adolescents' psychological distress and reduced emotional wellbeing. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *50*(4), 371-379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867415600076
- Tonmyr, L., Draca, J., Crain, J., & MacMillan, H. L. (2011). Measurement of emotional/psychological child maltreatment: A review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 35(10), 767-782. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.04.011
- Toth, S. L., Cicchetti, D., MacFie, J., Maughan, A., & Vanmeenen, K. (2000). Narrative representations of caregivers and self in maltreated pre-schoolers. *Attachment & Human Development*, 2(3), 271-305. doi:10.1080/14616730010000849

Trickett, P. K., Negriff, S., Ji, J., & Peckins, M. (2011). Child maltreatment and adolescent development. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21(1), 3-20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00711.x

- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., & Lösel, F. (2012). School bullying as a predictor of violence later in life: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective longitudinal studies. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 17(5), 405-418. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2012.05.002
- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., Lösel, F., & Loeber, R. (2011). Do the victims of school bullies tend to become depressed later in life? A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research, 3*(2), 63-73. doi:10.1108/17596591111132873
- Twyman, K. A., Saylor, C. F., Saia, D., Macias, M. M., Taylor, L. A., & Spratt, E. (2010). Bullying and ostracism experiences in children with special health care needs. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 31(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e3181c828c8
- Tyler, K. A., & Johnson, K. A. (2006). A longitudinal study of the effects of early abuse on later victimization among high-risk adolescents. *Violence and Victims*, 21(3), 287-306. https://doi.org/10.1891/vivi.21.3.287
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2020). *Child Maltreatment 2018*.

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/cm2018.pdf

Vaillancourt, T., & Farrell, A. H. (2021). Mean kids become mean adults: Trajectories of indirect aggression from age 10 to 22. *Aggressive Behavior*, 47(4), 394-404. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21950

- Valentino, K., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Toth, S. L. (2008). Memory, maternal representations, and internalizing symptomatology among abused, neglected, and nonmaltreated children. *Child Development*, 79(3), 705-719. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01152.x
- Vaughn, M. G., Fu, Q., Beaver, K. M., DeLisi, M., Perron, B. E., & Howard, M. O. (2011).
  Effects of childhood adversity on bullying and cruelty to animals in the United States:
  Findings from a national sample. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(17), 3509-3525.
  doi:10.1177/0886260511403763
- Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Martell, B. N., Holland, K. M., & Westby, R. (2014). A systematic review and content analysis of bullying and cyber-bullying measurement strategies. *Aggression* and Violent Behavior, 19(4), 423-434. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2014.06.008
- Waasdorp, T. E., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2015). The overlap between cyberbullying and traditional bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56(5), 483-488.
  doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.12.002
- Walkley, M., & Cox, T. L. (2013). Building trauma-informed schools and communities. *Children & Schools*, 35(2), 123-126. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdt007
- Wampold, B. E., & Freund, R. D. (1987). Use of multiple regression in counseling psychology research: A flexible data-analytic strategy. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *34*(4), 372-382. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.34.4.372

- Wang, G. F., Jiang, L., Wang, L. H., Hu, G. Y., Fang, Y., Yuan, S. S., Wang, X.-X., & Su, P. Y. (2019). Examining childhood maltreatment and school bullying among adolescents: A cross-sectional study from Anhui Province in China. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *34*(5), 980-999. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516647000
- Wang, J., Iannotti, R. J., & Luk, J. W. (2010). Bullying victimization among underweight and overweight U.S. youth: Differential associations for boys and girls. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 47(1), 99-101. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.12.007
- Wang, J., Iannotti, R. J., & Nansel, T. R. (2009). School bullying among adolescents in the United States: Physical, verbal, relational, and cyber. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 45(4), 368-375. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.03.021
- Wang, J., Iannotti, R. J., Luk, J. W., & Nansel, T. R. (2010). Co-occurrence of victimization from five subtypes of bullying: Physical, verbal, social exclusion, spreading rumors, and cyber. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 35(10), 1103-1112. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsq048
- Wang, L., Yang, L., Yu, L., Song, M., Zhao, X., Gao, Y., Xu, S., & Wang, X. (2016). Childhood physical neglect promotes development of mild cognitive impairment in old age – A case-control study. *Psychiatry Research*, 242, 13-18. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2016.04.090
- Welsh, M. C., Peterson, E., & Jameson, M. M. (2017). History of childhood maltreatment and college academic outcomes: Indirect effects of hot execution function. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01091
- Widom, C. S. (1989). The cycle of violence. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science), 244(4901), 160-166. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2704995
- Widom, C. S. (2014). Long-term consequences of child maltreatment. In J. E. Korbin, & R. D. Krugman (Eds.), *Handbook of child maltreatment* (pp. 225-247). Springer.

Widom, C. S., Czaja, S. J., & Dutton, M. A. (2008). Childhood victimization and lifetime revictimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 32(8), 785-796.
doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.12.006

- Widom, C. S., & Morris, S. (1997). Accuracy of adult recollections of childhood victimization:
  Part 2. childhood sexual abuse. *Psychological Assessment*, 9(1), 3446. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.9.1.34
- Widom, C. S., & Shepard, R. L. (1996). Accuracy of adult recollections of childhood victimization: Part 1. childhood physical abuse. *Psychological Assessment*, 8(4), 412-421. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.8.4.412
- Williamson, H., Harcourt, D., Halliwell, E., Frith, H., & Wallace, M. (2010). Adolescents' and parents' experiences of managing the psychosocial impact of appearance change during cancer treatment. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 27(3), 168-175. doi:10.1177/1043454209357923
- Wilson, C., Pence, D. M., & Conradi, L. (2013). Trauma-informed care. In *Encyclopedia of social work*. National Association of Social Workers and Oxford University Press.
- Wilson, S. R., Rack, J. J., Shi, X., & Norris, A. M. (2008). Comparing physically abusive, neglectful, and non-maltreating parents during interactions with their children: A meta-analysis of observational studies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 32(9), 897-911. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.01.003
- Winsper, C., Lereya, T., Zanarini, M., & Wolke, D. (2012). Involvement in bullying and suiciderelated behavior at 11 years: A prospective birth cohort study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(3), 271-282.e3. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.01.001

- Wolke, D., Schreier, A., Zanarini, M. C., & Winsper, C. (2012). Bullied by peers in childhood and borderline personality symptoms at 11years of age: A prospective study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(8), 846-855. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02542.x
- Wolke, D., Woods, S., Bloomfield, L., & Karstadt, L. (2001). Bullying involvement in primary school and common health problems. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 85(3), 197-201. doi:10.1136/adc.85.3.197
- Woods, K., Bond, C., Tyldesley, K., Farrell, P., & Humphrey, N. (2011). The role of school psychologists in child protection and safeguarding. *School Psychology International*, 32(4), 361-376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034311406812
- Woods, S., & White, E. (2005). The association between bullying behaviour, arousal levels and behaviour problems. *Journal of Adolescence*, 28(3), 381-395.
  doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2004.09.002
- World Health Organization. (2012). Risk behaviours: Being bullied and bullying others. In C.
  Currie, C. Zanaotti, A. Morgan, D. Currie, M. de Looze, C. Roberts, O. Samdal, O. R. F.
  Smith, & V. Barnekow (Eds.), *Social determinants of health and well-being among young people* (pp. 191–200). WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- Yates, T. M., Dodds, M. F., Sroufe, L. A., & Egeland, B. (2003). Exposure to partner violence and child behavior problems: A prospective study controlling for child physical abuse and neglect, child cognitive ability, socioeconomic status, and life stress. *Development* and Psychopathology, 15(1), 199-218. doi:10.1017/S0954579403000117

- Yeung, R., & Leadbeater, B. (2010). Adults make a difference: The protective effects of parent and teacher emotional support on emotional and behavioral problems of peer-victimized adolescents. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 38(1), 80-98. doi:10.1002/jcop.20353
- Young-Jones, A., Fursa, S., Byrket, J. S., & Sly, J. S. (2015). Bullying affects more than feelings: The long-term implications of victimization on academic motivation in higher education. *Social Psychology of Education*, 18(1), 185-200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-014-9287-1
- Zhang, Q., & Wang, Y. (2004). Trends in the association between obesity and socioeconomic status in U.S. adults: 1971 to 2000. *Obesity Research*, *12*(10), 1622-1632. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.202
- Zimmerman, P., Maier, M. A., Winter, M., & Grossmann, K. E. (2001). Attachment and adolescents' emotion regulation during a joint problem-solving task with a friend. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 25(4), 331-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650250143000157
- Zinsmeister, K. (1990). Growing up scared: Spurred on by family instability, violent crime now touches millions of young lives. *The Atlantic*, *265*(6), 49.
- Zwierzynska, K., Wolke, D., & Lereya, T. S. (2013). Peer victimization in childhood and internalizing problems in adolescence: A prospective longitudinal study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 41(2), 309-323. doi:10.1007/s10802-012-9678-8

## APPENDIX A

## CHILDHOOD TRAUMA QUESTIONNAIRE (CTQ)

This survey asks about some of your experiences **growing up as a child and a teenager**, **anything before you turned 18**. Although these questions are of a personal nature, please try to answer as honestly as you can.

	Never True (1)	Rarely True (2)	Sometimes True (3)	Often True (4)	Very Often True (5)
1. I didn't have enough to eat. (1)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
2. I knew that there was someone to take care of me and protect me. (2 - <b>R</b> )	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
3. People in my family called me things like "stupid," "lazy," or "ugly." (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
4. My parents were too drunk or high to take care of the family. (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
5. There was someone in my family who helped me feel that I was important or special. (5 - <b>R</b> )	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
6. I had to wear dirty clothes. (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

	Never True (1)	Rarely True (2)	Sometimes True (3)	Often True (4)	Very Often True (5)
7. I felt loved. (7 - <b>R</b> )	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
8. I thought that my parents wished I had never been born. (8)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
9. I got hit so hard by someone in my family that I had to see a doctor or go to the hospital. (9)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
10. There was nothing I wanted to change about my family. (10)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
11. People in my family hit me so hard that it left me with bruises or marks. (11)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
12. I was punished with a belt, a board, a cord, or some other hard object. (12)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

	Never True (1)	Rarely True (2)	Sometimes True (3)	Often True (4)	Very Often True (5)
13. People in my family looked out for each other. (13 - <b>R</b> )	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
14. People in my family said hurtful or insulting things to me. (14)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
15. I believe that I was physically abused. (15)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
16. I had the perfect childhood. (16)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
17. I got hit or beaten so badly that it was noticed by someone like a teacher, neighbor, or doctor. (17)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0
18. I felt that someone in my family hated me. (18)	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
19. People in my family felt close to each other. (19 - <b>R</b> )	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

	Never True (1)	Rarely True (2)	Sometimes True (3)	Often True (4)	Very Often True (5)
20. Someone tried to touch me in a sexual way, or tried to make me touch them. (20)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
21. Someone threatened to hurt me or tell lies about me unless I did something sexual with them. (21)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
22. I had the best family in the world. (22)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
23. Someone tried to make me do sexual things or watch sexual things. (23)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
24. Someone molested me. (24)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
25. I believe that I was emotionally abused. (25)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
26. There was someone to take me to the doctor if I needed it. (26 - <b>R</b> )	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

	Never True (1)	Rarely True (2)	Sometimes True (3)	Often True (4)	Very Often True (5)
27. I believe that I was sexually abused. (27)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
28. My family was a source of strength and support. (28 - <b>R</b> )	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
End of Block: CTQ					

Note:  $\mathbf{R}$  represents an item that is to be reverse-coded. This will be omitted from version of CTQ that participants see.

## APPENDIX B

## RETROSPECTIVE BULLYING QUESTIONNAIRE-REVISED

## **Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire**

The following questions are about bullying. **Bullying is intentional hurtful behavior. It can be physical or psychological. It is often repeated and characterized by an inequality of power so that it is difficult for the victim to defend him/herself.** 

Please think back to your school days. You may have seen some bullying at school, and you may have been involved in some way. (Tick the choice which best describes your own experiences at school)

I was not involved at all, and I never saw it happen	
I was not involved at all, but I saw it happen sometimes	
I would sometimes join in bullying others	
I would sometimes get bullied by others	
At various times, I was both a bully and a victim	

## PART I: PRIMARY SCHOOL

### This part deals with your experiences at primary school (4-11 years).

Tick the boxes that are right for you.

1. Did you have a happy time at primary school?

Detested	Disliked	Neutral	Liked a	Liked a lot

2. Did you have a happy time at home with your family while in primary school?

Detested	Disliked	Neutral	Liked a	Liked a lot

# The next questions are about physical forms of bullying – hitting and kicking, and having things stolen from you.

3. Were you physically bullied at primary school?

hit/punchedyesnostolen fromyesno

4. Did this happen?

Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Constantly

5. How serious did you consider these bullying-attacks to be?

I wasn't	Not at all	Only a	Quite	Extremely
bullied		bit	serious	Serious

The next questions are about verbal forms of bullying – being called nasty names, and being threatened.

6. Were you verbally bullied at primary school?

called names	yes 🗆	no 🗌
threatened	yes 🗆	no 🗆

7. Did this happen?

Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Constantly

8. How serious did you consider these bullying-attacks to be?

I wasn't bullied	Not at all	Only a bit	Quite serious	Extremely Serious

The next questions are about indirect forms of bullying – having lies or nasty rumors told about you behind your back, or being deliberately excluded from social groups.

9. Were you indirectly bullied at primary school? had lies told about you yes 🗆 no 🗆 excluded yes 🗆 no 🗆 10. Did this happen?  $\square$ Never Rarely Sometimes Frequently Constantly 11. How serious did you consider these bullying-attacks to be? I wasn't Not at all Only a Quite Extremely bullied bit serious Serious The next questions are about bullying in general. 12. How long did the bullying attacks usually last? I wasn't

I wasn't Just a Weeks Months A year or bullied few days more

#### 13. How many pupils bullied you in primary school?

I wasn't bullied	
Mainly by one boy	
By several boys	
Mainly by one girl	
By several girls	
By both boys and girls	

### PART II: SECONDARY SCHOOL

#### This part deals with your experiences at secondary school (11–18 years).

14. Did you have a happy time at secondary school? Liked a Detested Disliked Neutral Liked a lot 15. Did you have a happy time at home with your family while in secondary school?  $\square$ Detested Disliked Neutral Liked a Liked a lot

# The next questions are about physical forms of bullying – hitting and kicking, and having things stolen from you.

16. Were you physically bullied at secondary school?

Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Constantly
17. Did this happe	en?			
stolen from	n	yes 🗆 no 🗆		
hit/punche	d	yes 🗌 no 🗌		

18. How serious did you consider these bullying-attacks to be?

I wasn't bullied	Not at all	Only a bit	Quite serious	Extremely Serious

The next questions are about verbal forms of bullying – being called nasty names and being threatened.

19. Were you verbally bullied at secondary school?

Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Constantly
20. Did this happ	en?			
threateneo	d	yes 🗆 no 🗆		
called nar	mes	yes 🗌 no 🗌		

21. How serious did you consider these bullying-attacks to be?

I wasn't	Not at all	Only a	Quite	Extremely
bullied		bit	serious	Serious

# The next questions are about indirect forms of bullying – having lies or nasty rumors told about you behind your back, or being deliberately excluded from social groups.

22. Were you indirectly bullied at secondary school?

had lies told about you	yes 🗆	no 🗌
excluded	yes 🗆	no 🗆

#### 23. Did this happen?

Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Constantly

24. How serious did you consider these bullying-attacks to be?

I wasn't	Not at all	Only a	Quite	Extremely
bullied		bit	serious	Serious

## The next questions are about bullying in general.

25. How long did the bullying-attacks usually last?

I wasn't bullied	Just a few days	Weeks	Months	A year or more

## 26. How many pupils bullied you in secondary school?

I wasn't bullied	
Mainly by one boy	
By several boys	
Mainly by one girl	
By several girls	
By both boys and girls	

## APPENDIX C

## INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



Institutional Review Board

Date:	12/02/2020
Principal Investigator:	Natalie Johnson
Committee Action: Action Date:	IRB EXEMPT DETERMINATION – New Protocol 12/02/2020
Protocol Number:	2011014265
Protocol Title:	The Interaction of Potentially Stressful Childhood Experiences
Expiration Date:	5

The University of Northern Colorado Institutional Review Board has reviewed your protocol and determined your project to be exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(702) for research involving

Category 2 (2018): EDUCATIONAL TESTS, SURVEYS, INTERVIEWS, OR OBSERVATIONS OF PUBLIC BEHAVIOR. Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met: (i) The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects; (ii) Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation; or (iii) The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by 45 CFR 46.111(a)(7).

You may begin conducting your research as outlined in your protocol. Your study does not require further review from the IRB, unless changes need to be made to your approved protocol.

As the Principal Investigator (PI), you are still responsible for contacting the UNC IRB office if and when:

Carter Hall 3002 | Campus Box 143 | Greeley, CO 80639 | Office 970-351-1910 | Fax 970-351-1934



- You wish to deviate from the described protocol and would like to formally submit a modification
  request. Prior IRB approval must be obtained before any changes can be implemented (except to
  eliminate an immediate hazard to research participants).
- You make changes to the research personnel working on this study (add or drop research staff on this
  protocol).
- At the end of the study or before you leave The University of Northern Colorado and are no longer a student or employee, to request your protocol be closed. \*You cannot continue to reference UNC on any documents (including the informed consent form) or conduct the study under the auspices of UNC if you are no longer a student/employee of this university.
- You have received or have been made aware of any complaints, problems, or adverse events that are
  related or possibly related to participation in the research.

If you have any questions, please contact the Research Compliance Manager, Nicole Morse, at 970-351-1910 or via e-mail at <u>nicole.morse@unco.edu</u>. Additional information concerning the requirements for the protection of human subjects may be found at the Office of Human Research Protection website - <u>http://hhs.gov/ohrp/</u> and <u>https://www.unco.edu/research/research-integrity-and-compliance/institutional-review-board/</u>.

Sincerely,

Nicole Morse Research Compliance Manager

University of Northern Colorado: FWA00000784

Carter Hall 3002 | Campus Box 143 | Greeley, CO 80639 | Office 970-351-1910 | Fax 970-351-1934

## APPENDIX D

## CONSENT FORM



#### INFORMED CONSENT FOR PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH

Project Title: The Interaction of Potentially Stressful Childhood Experiences Study Researcher: Natalie Johnson, Dept. of School Psychology, Doctoral Candidate Study Research Advisor: David Hulac, Ph.D., Dept. of School Psychology, Associate Professor Contact Information: john8008@bears.unco.edu

**Project Description**. This project will explore the influence of potentially stressful life experiences in college students. The purpose of the study is to provide a better understanding of how potentially stressful experiences in pre-adult life interact with one another.

Procedure for Participation. This study will involve a single 25-minute online session during which you will take a self-report survey on the following topics: (1) a brief demographics questionnaire that asks for your age, birth date, gender identity, race/ethnicity, country of origin, sexual orientation, mother's highest level of education, and (2) two separate measures that ask about potentially stressful and/or traumatic events that occurred during your childhood and/or adolescence. Research credit (1) will be received for completion of the survey and will be applied towards your academic progress in your PSY 120 class. **Confidentiality.** In order to maintain confidentiality and anonymity, names and other self-identifying information will not be collected or included in any of the stored data. It is noted that you will be asked to provide your birthdate, but this is simply to confirm that you are at least 18 years old and younger than 31 years old. You will never be asked to provide your name, bear number, or any other identifying information to accompany your birthdate. Upon signing up for this survey study, you will immediately be presented with a link to the Qualtrics survey through the SONA system. Student information from the SONA system will not be connected in any way to the Qualtrics survey. Once completed, the data will be coded under a unique participant number. There will be no way to link UNC student participants to their data in the file. In other words, your name and any other self-identifying information will not be included on any of the stored data. It is noted, however, that the researcher is not able to guarantee full confidentiality due to the electronic nature of the data collection process and the participant's ability to take the survey at any given time and in any given location.

**Risks and Benefits.** Some people find answering potentially sensitive questions about themselves to be somewhat stressful. If you become upset or uncomfortable at any time and wish to discontinue (or not answer a particular question(s)), you are free to do so without penalty. Your participation in this study will not result in any direct benefit to you as an individual. However, your participation will certainly make a contribution to a research question that is believed to be important. You will receive the appropriate research credit upon completion of the survey.

#### By consenting to this study, you are acknowledging that:

Your involvement in this study is completely voluntary. You may decide not to participate in this study, and if you do begin participation, you may still decide to stop and withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Further, you may choose to skip over and not answer any particular question(s) if you wish. Your decision will be respected and will not result in loss of research credit to which you are

otherwise entitled. Having read the above, click on the "Yes, I consent" option on the next page if you would like to participate in this research. If you have any concerns about your selection or treatment as a research participant, please contact the Office of Research, Kepner Hall, University of Northern Colorado, Greeley, CO 80639, (970) 351-1910.

Please respond to the following consent question: **Would you like to complete the following online survey as detailed in the consent form?** By clicking "Yes, I consent", you are electronically signing your name and will be immediately directed to the survey. If you decide you do not want to participate, you will be directed out of this survey.

Yes, I consent to participate in this study's online survey. No, I do not consent to participate in this study's online survey.

Below is a list of on- and off-campus mental health services that can be sought out by UNC students: If you are in crisis, please call 911.

#### **On-campus services:**

- Counseling Center Cassidy Hall, Second Floor Phone: 970-351-2496
- Psychological Services Clinic McKee Hall, Second Floor, Room 247 Phone: 970-351-1645
- Assault Survivors Advocacy Program Temporary Office: Wiebking 095 Phone: 970-351-1490

#### **Off-campus services:**

- North Range Behavioral Health
   1300 N 17<sup>th</sup> Ave, Greeley, CO 80631
   Phone: 970-347-2120
- Mountain Crest Behavioral Health 710 11<sup>th</sup> Ave, Greeley, CO 80631 Phone: 970-346-9800

## APPENDIX E

## DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE
Please find a quiet and private space to complete this survey within one sitting. Research credit will not be granted until the survey is completed.

## The following questions will ask you for some demographic information.

It is noted that any self-identifying information (e.g. birthdate) will NOT be included in any of the stored data. Data will be treated as fully confidential.

Q1: What is your **age**?

Please accurately type in your response.

(Open text box)

## Q2: What is your **Date of Birth?**

Month

(Drop down from Jan – Dec)

Day

(Drop down from 1 - 31)

Year

(Drop down from 1900 – 2019)

## Q3: What is your **Gender Identity**?

- o Male
- o Female
- o Non-Binary / Third Gender / Other
- Prefer not to say

Q4: Choose one or more **races** that you consider yourself to be:

- o White
- Black or African American
- o American Indian or Alaska Native
- o Asian
- Native <u>Hawaiian or Pacific Islander</u>
- Other (Open text box)

## Q5: What country were you born in?

- United States of America
- Other (Open text box)

Q6: Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation?

- Heterosexual (straight)
- o Homosexual (gay)
- o Bisexual
- Other
- Prefer not to say

Q7: What is the <u>highest level of school/highest degree</u> that your <u>mother</u> has completed?

- o Less than high school degree
- High school graduate (high school diploma or equivalent including GED)
- Some college but no degree
- Associate degree in college (2-year)
- Bachelor's degree in college (4-year)
- Master's degree
- Doctoral degree or professional degree (PhD, MD, JD)